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Dear Shareholders, 

 

2023 was a year of transition, which has presented us with unexpected challenges while offering us new 

beginnings and opportunities. 

Challenges have emerged from the complex global economic situation, particularly in the Heating sector. 

In this business we have suffered some unpredictable phenomena that have slowed down demand. 

Among these there were the uncertain regulation on the EPBD legislation - also known as "green homes" 

legislation -, the cancellation of incentives and the impacts of inflation and interest rates which have 

slowed down family investments. These elements caused a saturation of warehouses which made 

destocking for all manufacturers longer than expected, both in Europe and, to an even greater extent, in 

the United States. In this area, market trend was also affected by the contraction in the purchase of new 

homes, which affected the demand for fireplaces, a product for which SIT is a leader in the United States. 

To face this scenario of discontinuity compared to previous years, we have implemented various actions. 

First of all, the group has equipped itself with a new, now more focused organization. Since March 2023, 

the group's structure has shifted to three Business Units: Heating & Ventilation, Smart Gas Metering, 

Water Metering. Ventilation joins the core business "Heating", in order to develop solutions capable of 

improving the efficiency of gas, hybrid, biomethane and hydrogen heating appliances, as well as solutions 

for ventilation and air quality in indoor spaces, integrated into the domestic ecosystem, which guarantee 

the control and monitoring of the comfort of the environments, maximizing energy efficiency. An 
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evolution aimed at positioning SIT into new market segments and proactively responding to new customer 

needs, while ensuring greater speed of response to the market. 

For the Metering Division, 2023 was a year of satisfaction with a performance that exceeded expectations 

and met important product goals, in line with the timeline we had set ourselves. I am referring in 

particular to the launch of the SmartIO ultrasonic residential water meter developed in joint venture with 

GWF, our Swiss technological partner. The meter was presented at Enlit Europe and is represents our 

contribution to the global problem of managing efficiently water resources with the aim of reducing 

network losses, optimizing water consumption and digitizing infrastructures. 

In terms of development and new business initiatives, during the year the SIT group entered into strategic 

partnerships which accelerated its entry into business segments complementary to the traditional ones. 

These partnerships have allowed us greater speed of execution in bringing our excellence in measurement 

technologies and R&D to markets that are, for us, still in the start-up phase, while in other cases they have 

allowed us to seize opportunities linked to changes in the competitive and regulatory scenario. Below a 

list of the main initiatives implemented in 2023: 

Á A partnership was concluded with Panasonic Industry for the launch of a new fan for residential 

heat pumps, which marked SIT's entry into this new market. The ventilator was jointly presented 

at MCE ExpoComfort in March 2024. 

Á We started the company "SIT MBT" in the cooker hoods market with the aim of promptly seizing 

the opportunities that will emerge, starting from the beginning of 2025, from the new European 

legislation on energy labels for extractor hoods and extraction surfaces for kitchens. 

Á We have signed a partnership the Optoi group and its subsidiary Upsens to create business 

synergies in the field of air quality solutions, in particular in the CMV (Controlled Mechanical 

Ventilation) segment, in which we plan to expand the range in next years.  

Á We participated in the "Hybitat" joint venture for the development of an unprecedented green 

hydrogen generation and storage system for residential use, a system which is expected to 

become the most efficient way to provide homes with the clean energy necessary for heating, 

ventilation and air conditioning. 

Alongside these development initiatives, in order to meet the challenges of 2023 mentioned above 

various cost containment and reduction operations, including structural ones, have been launched, with 

the aim of redeveloping where necessary the base of our technical skills and making the organization even 
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more flexible to respond promptly to the new context. The reorganization of the electronics production 

footprint that we announced in November and which is progressing on schedule will allow us to make the 

most of the new Tunisian plant; a shift that must be read in this context. 

We started 2024 aware that some of the challenges that arose in 2023 will continue into this financial 

year. We know we can count on the strength of the group which has already demonstrated that it can 

activate strategic development levers and has highly valuable know-how. With the aim of growing, we 

are determined to build, one brick at a time, our role as sustainable partners in the present and future 

energy transition. 

I therefore strongly confirm the commitment made by the entire group and in particular by the top 

management to generate satisfaction, during 2024 and for future years, for all stakeholders. 

 

The Chairman 

Federico de' Stefani 
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Mission  

άOur commitment is to create smart solutions for climate control and consumption measurement for a 

more sustainable worldέΦ 

Vision 

ά¢ƻ ōŜ ǊŜŎƻƎƴƛǎŜŘ ŀǎ ǘƘŜ ƭŜŀŘƛƴƎ ǎǳǎǘŀƛƴŀōƭŜ ǇŀǊǘƴŜǊ ŦƻǊ ŜƴŜǊƎȅ ŀƴŘ ŎƭƛƳŀǘŜ ŎƻƴǘǊƻƭ ǎƻƭǳǘƛƻƴǎ όŀƴŘ ǘƻ 

ŜƴƧƻȅ ǘƘŜ ƧƻǳǊƴŜȅΗύέ 

 

Values 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CUSTOMER ORIENTATION 

Everyone at SIT aims to fulfil and exceed 

customer expectations. Whether external or 

internal, the customer is our compass 

SUSTAINABILITY 

A sustainable company for the stakeholders. 

Sustainable products for the environment. A 

sustainable work-life balance for the 

employees 

LEAD BY EXAMPLE 

SIT is a leader in the markets where it operates. 

Our people are courageous and confident and 

lead by example in every aspect of their day-

to-day work 

TECHNOLOGY 

We master technology and look ahead, 

supporting our customers with state-of-the-

art solutions and stimulating innovation 

through collaboration 

LEAN 

No frills. We act quickly and do not miss 

ŘŜŀŘƭƛƴŜǎΦ ²Ŝ ŘŜƭƛǾŜǊ Ϧƻƴ ǘƛƳŜ ŀƴŘ ƛƴ Ŧǳƭƭέ 

PASSION 

Passionate commitment is part of daily life at 

every organisational level. Accountability and 

engagement are rewarded, well aware that 

mistakes provide opportunities for growth 
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COMPOSITION OF THE CORPORATE BOARDS  

Board of Directors* 

Federico de Stefani Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, Director in charge of the Internal Control and Risk 
Management System (ICRMS) 

 
Chiara de Stefani                Director and ά/ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘŜ {ǳǎǘŀƛƴŀōƛƭƛǘȅ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊέ 
Franco Stevanato**            Independent Director 
Bettina Campedelli **                 Independent Director and ά[ŜŀŘ LƴŘŜǇŜƴŘŜƴǘ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊέ 
Carlo Malacarne **                Independent Director 
Lorenza Morandini **                Independent Director 
Giorgio Martorelli **                 Independent Director 

 
 

Board of Statutory Auditors* 

Matteo Tiezzi   Chairperson 
Saverio Bozzolan  Statutory Auditor 
Loredana Anna Conidi  Statutory Auditor 
    
Barbara Russo   Alternate Auditor 
Alessandra Pederzoli  Alternate Auditor 

Independent Audit FirmDeloitte & Touche S.p.A. 

Internal Control, Risks and Sustainability Committee 
 
Bettina Campedelli **  Chairperson 
Lorenza Morandini **  Member 
Giorgio Martorelli **  Member 

 

Related Parties Committee 

Bettina Campedelli **  Chairperson 
Carlo Malacarne **  Member 
Lorenza Morandini **  Member 

 

Remuneration Committee 
 
Carlo Malacarne **  Chairperson 
Bettina Campedelli **  Member 
Lorenza Morandini **  Member 
 
 
 
 
* ¢ƘŜ .ƻŀǊŘ ƻŦ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ .ƻŀǊŘ ƻŦ {ǘŀǘǳǘƻǊȅ !ǳŘƛǘƻǊǎ ǿŜǊŜ ŀǇǇƻƛƴǘŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ {ƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎΩ aŜŜǘƛƴƎ ƻŦ aŀȅ 3, 2023 and remain in office until the approval of the 2025 Annual Accounts 
** Independent directors. 
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GROUP STRUCTURE  
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The SIT Group  

The SIT Group develops and manufactures high-precision instruments for the measurement of 

consumption and the safety, comfort and performance of domestic gas appliances.  

The Group comprises two divisions: 

Á Heating: produces and distributes components and systems for the control, regulation and safety 

of gas-based domestic heating and cooking and catering equipment and home appliances.  

Á Metering: manufactures and distributes smart gas meters which more accurately measure gas 

and water consumption and feature control and safety (including remote) functionality. 

The Group operates in the Heating sector through the following companies: 

Á SIT S.p.A is the parent company of the SIT Group and undertakes R&D and commercial and 

sales operations, while also providing a range of industrial and support services to the 

manufacturing and distribution companies. SIT has a number of production units involved in 

precise machining, fitting and assembly for the manufacturing of mechanical controls, 

integrated systems, electric fans and smoke exhaust kits; 

Á SIT Controls B.V. (Netherlands) produces electronic safety and control boards for heating 

appliances for the European market and, in particular, condensing boilers for the Central 

Heating market. It distributes the products of other Group companies to local customers; 

Á SIT Controls Deutschland GmbH (Germany) is a sales agent for a number of Group companies; 

Á SIT Controls CR s.r.o. (Czech Republic) is a sales agent for a number of Group companies; 

Á SIT Romania S.r.l. (Romania), based in Brasov in Romania, is engaged in the assembly and 

testing of mechanical controls, electric fans and integrated domestic gas equipment control 

systems. 

Á SIT Manufacturing N.A.S.A. de C.V. (Mexico) is a specialised Direct Heating and Storage Water 

Heating systems manufacturing facility, principally for the American and local markets. The 

company mainly works with end-customers, using, for the American market, the agency 

services provided by SIT Controls U.S.A. Inc., while on the Australian and Asian markets using 

local Group companies/distribution entities;   
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Á SIT Controls U.S.A. Inc. (USA) is a sales agent for Group products on the US market; 

Á SIT Controls Canada Inc. (Canada) is a sub-agent of SIT Controls USA on the Canadian market; 

Á SIT Gas Controls Pty Ltd, based in Melbourne (Australia), oversees the distribution of SIT 

products on the local market and some countries in the region; 

Á SIT Manufacturing Suzhou Co. Ltd (China) is a manufacturer of mechanical controls, satisfying 

local market demand - both in terms of local customers and the local branches of European 

manufacturers. The company distributes its own products and those of other Group 

companies on the local market; 

Á SIT (Argentina) S.r.l. manages the import of SIT products into the region. 

Á Plast Alfin S.a.r.l. (Tunisia), acquired during 2020, operates in the manufacturing of plastics 

for components used in the production of exhaust kits; 

Á Sit Controls Tunisia S.u.a.r.l (Tunisia), set up in late 2020 and currently in the start-up phase, 

will become a new production site for components and finished products. 

The Group operates in the Metering division through the following companies: 

Á Sit Metering S.r.l., a holding company for the Metering division; 

Á Metersit S.r.l., located in Padua, is involved in the design, manufacturing and sale of new 

generation remote gas meters; 

Á Metersit UK Ltd, a trading company with the goal of developing the UK smart gas metering 

market; 

Á JANZ - Contagem e Gestão de Fluídos, SA (Lisbon), a company that operates in the residential 

water meter sector through development, production and distribution activities, mainly on 

the European market; 

Á Conthidra S.L. (Gines), Spain, distributes water meters produced by JANZ ς Contagem e 

Gestão de Fluídos, SA.  

SIT exercises management and co-ordination activities over the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held. 
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS  

The following tables include adjusted data and performance indicators not expressly defined for by 

IFRS; the definition and calculation of which are described in the following paragraph.  

Euro.000       

Financials 2023 % 2022 % change change % 

Revenues from contracts with customers 326,261 100.0% 393,305 100.0% (67,044) (17.0%) 

EBITDA 21,677 6.6% 38,209 9.7% (16,532) (43.3%) 

EBIT (25,219) -7.7% 10,557 2.7% (35,776) (338.9%) 

 Net profit/(loss) for the period (23,388) -7.2% 11,213 2.9% (34,601) (308.6%) 

Cash flow from operations after investing activities (14,923)  (13,145)    

 

 

(Euro,000)  
 

 
 

Balance Sheet 31/12/2023 31/12/2022 change change % 

Net Financial Position (153,691) (130,501) (23,190) 17.8% 

Net trade working capital 79,859 73,752 6,107 8.3% 

Net trade working capital/Revenues 24.5% 18.8%   
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ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES 
(Euro,000) 

Financials 2023 % 2022 % change change % 

Revenues from contracts with customers 326,261 100.0% 393,305 100.0% (67,044) (17.0%) 

EBITDA 21,677 6.6% 38,209 9.7% (16,532) (43.3%) 

EBITDA adjusted 28,971 8.9% 47,099 12.0% (18,128) (38.5%) 

EBIT (25,219) -7.7% 10,557 2.7% (35,776) (338.9%) 

EBIT adjusted 77 0.0% 19,447 4.9% (19,370) (99.6%) 

Financial charges 7,827 2.4% 4,760 1.2% 3,067 64.4% 

Financial income 942 0.3% 9,263 2.4% (8,321) (89.8%) 

Financial income adjusted 942 0.3% 515 0.1% 428 83.2% 

Net financial (charges)/income adjusted (6,885) -2.1% (4,245) -1.1% (2,640) 62.2% 

Result before taxes (EBT) (31,300) -9.6% 13,568 3.4% (44,868) (330.7%) 

Result before taxes adjusted (EBT) (6,004) -1.8% 13,710 3.5% (19,714) (143.8%) 

 Net profit/(loss) for the period (23,388) -7.2% 11,213 2.9% (34,601) (308.6%) 

Adjusted net profit for the period (349) -0.1% 10,898 2.8% (11,247) -103.2% 

Cash flow from operations after investing activities (14,923)  (13,145)    

 

 

(Euro,000)  
  

Balance Sheet 31/12/2023 31/12/2022 Delta Delta % 

Net capital employed 296,814 295,998 816 0.3% 

{ƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎΩ 9ǉǳƛǘȅ 143,124 165,495 (22,371) -13.5% 

Net Financial Position 153,690 130,501 23,189 17.8% 

Posizione finanziaria netta adjusted 140,182 115,596 24,586 21.3% 

Capitale circolante netto commerciale 79,859 73,752 6,107 8.3% 

 

 

Key performance indicators 31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

ROIC (1) 9.8% 15.9% 

Net financial position/Shareholders' equity 1.07 0.79 

Net financial position/Adjusted EBITDA               5.30                  2.77    

1. ROIC is the ratio between Adjusted EBITDA and Net Capital Employed at year-end  
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Composition of key alternative performance indicators 

The alternative performance indicators describe the economic/financial results of the Group on the basis 

of indices not expressly contained within IFRS (International Financial Reporting Standard) and adjusted 

by the effects of exceptional items.  It is considered that these indicators ensure a better comparability 

over time of results, although they do not replace the results determined by the application of 

international accounting standards IFRS described in the Explanatory Notes.   

The criteria used for the preparation of them and a brief description of their composition, as well as the 

reconciliation with the corresponding official data, are given below: 

Á EBITDA adjusted is the EBITDA (EBIT plus amortisation, depreciation and write-downs, net of 

doubtful debt provisions) net of exceptional transactions or rather all those atypical, unusual or 

transactions which do not repeat frequently in the normal course of business activities, 

undertaken with related or third parties, which may have a significant impact on the financial 

results of the Group. The following table presents a reconciliation with the financial statements:  

(Euro,000)   
Reconciliation of EBITDA adjusted 2023 2022 

EBIT (25,219) 10,557  

Depreciation, amortisation and write-downs 47,090  27,771  

Write-downs  (194) (119) 

EBITDA 21,677  38,209  

Personnel costs 3,187  -  

Sit Controls BV Reorganization Cost 2,715  -  

Financial restructuring costs 786  -  

Provisions for other risks -  310  

Write-downs of working capital after out-of-court transactions 535  -  

Provision for out-of-court settlement -  8,580  

Other 71  -  

Total exceptional operating charges (income) 7,294  8,890  

EBITDA adjusted 28,971  47,099  

 

 Personnel costs amounting to 3.187 thousand euros include transaction costs and incentives for 

the consensual termination of employment with certain employees, including legal fees,  

The Sit Controls BV Reorganization Cost, amounting to Euro 2.715 thousand, are related to the 

reorganization of the Dutch company Sit Controls B,V, aimed at downsizing the local production 

structure. The timing of the procedure will be defined according to local legislation while the 

project as a whole is expected to be completed in the first half of 2024. The cost is mainly related 

to the costs that the group will have to bear for the exit of employees belonging to the production 

area, as well as additional ancillary costs. 
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Financial restructuring costs. amounting to 786 thousand euros. refer to costs for consultancy to 

support the renegotiation of debt with credit institutions in progress at the end of the year.  

Regarding the item Write-downs of working capital after out-of-court transactions this is the 

write-down of components of trade receivables and inventory specific to the business subject to 

the out-of-court settlement with a customer concluded in the last quarter of 2022. 

For the year 2022, the item Provision for out-of-court settlement refers to the best estimate of 

costs, including legal fees, following a dispute with a customer against the Mexican subsidiary, as 

a manufacturing company, which ended in 2023. 

The item Other refers entirely to consultancy services provided to assess the feasibility of an 

industrial and strategic project by the parent company SIT.  

 

  
Á EBIT adjusted is defined as the operating result, net of exceptional income and charges. The 

reconciliation, with indication of the exceptional charges and income, is presented in the following 

table: 

(Euro,000)   
Reconciliation of EBIT adjusted 2023 2022 

 EBIT  (25,219) 10,557 

Personnel costs 3,187  -  

Sit Controls BV Reorganization Cost 2,715  -  

Financial restructuring costs 786  -  

Provisions for other risks -  310  

Write-downs of working capital after out-of-court transactions 535  -  

Provision for out-of-court settlement -  8,580  

Other 71  -  

Asset write-downs 18,002  -  

Total exceptional operating charges (income) 25,296  8,890  

EBIT adjusted 77 19,447 

 

Asset write-downs include Euro 17,000 thousand relating to the write-down of goodwill of the 

Heating & Ventilation division as well as Euro 1,002 thousand mainly relating to the partial write-

down of the building of the current headquarters of the Parent Company in consideration of the 

upcoming transfer to the new headquarters, being finalized. 

For a description of the other individual adjustment items, reference should be made to the 

adjusted EBITDA reconciliation table. 

 



5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ wŜǇƻǊǘ 
 

 
 2023 Annual Financial Report 

20 
 

Á Adjusted net financial charges and income are financial charges, net of the fair value changes to 

ǘƘŜ ²ŀǊǊŀƴǘǎ ƛǎǎǳŜŘ ŘǳǊƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ !La ƭƛǎǘƛƴƎ ƛƴ нлмт. It should be noted that the 

Warrants were extinguished in July 2022. The reconciliation is presented below: 

(Euro,000)   
Reconciliation of net financial (charges)/income adjusted 2023 2022 

Financial charges (7,827) (4,760) 
   

Financial charges adjusted (7,827) (4,760) 
   

Financial income  942 9,263 

Changes on Warrants fair value - (8,748) 

Adjusted financial income 942 515 
   

Adjusted net financial (charges)/income (6,885) (4,245) 

 

Á Adjusted EBT is the result before exceptional transactions. The reconciliation is presented below: 

(Euro,000)   
Reconciliation of EBT adjusted 2023 2022 

Profit before taxes for the year (31,300) 13,568 

Personnel costs 3,187 - 

Sit Controls BV Reorganization Cost 2,715 - 

Financial restructuring costs 786 - 

Provisions for other risks - 310 

Write-downs of working capital after out-of-court transactions 535 - 

Provision for out-of-court settlement - 8,580 

Other 71 - 

Asset write-downs 18,002 - 

Total exceptional operating charges (income) 25,296 8,890 
   

Changes on Warrants fair value - (8,748) 

Adjusted Financial charges 0 (8,748) 

EBT adjusted (6,004) 13,710 

 

Á Adjusted net profit is the net profit for the period, net of exceptional transactions and the relative 

fiscal effect. The reconciliation is presented below: 

(Euro,000)   
Reconciliation of adjusted net profit 2023 2022 

Net Profit of the year (23,388) 11,213 

Personnel costs 2,310 - 

Sit Controls BV Reorganization Cost 2,014 - 

Financial restructuring costs 567 - 

Provisions for other risks - 223 

Write-downs of working capital after out-of-court transactions 374 - 

Provision for out-of-court settlement - 8,210 

Other 51 - 

Asset write-downs 17,723 - 

Total exceptional operating charges (income) 23,039               8,434    
   

Changes on Warrants fair value - (8,748) 

Adjusted Financial charges 0 (8,748) 

Net profit adjusted (349) 10,898 
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For a description of the individual adjustment items of an operating nature, reference should be made to 

the adjusted EBITDA reconciliation table. 

Á Net capital employed and net commercial working capital are calculated considering the accounts 

presented in the following table:  

(Euro,000)  
 

Reconciliation of net capital employed 31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

Goodwill 70,946  87,946  

Other intangible assets 50,781  55,276  

Property, plants and equipment  105,270  106,103  

Investments in other companies 657  630  

Non-current financial assets  2,533  5,186  

Fixed assets (A) 230,188  255,141  
   

Inventories 83,315  91,352  

Trade receivables 63,458  63,800  

Trade payables (66,915) (81,400) 

Trade net working capital (B)  79,859  73,752  
   

Other current assets            14,264  12,597  

Tax receivables               3,752  2,281  

Other current liabilities          (20,768) (23,113) 

Tax payables             (1,645) (1,205) 

Other current assets, liabilities and taxes (C)  (4,397) (9,441) 
   

Net working capital (B + C) 75,461  64,311  
   

Deferred tax assets  18,874  10,492  

Provisions for risks and charges  (10,513) (13,844) 

Net liabilities for employee benefits (5,096) (5,093) 

Other non-current liabilities (6) (4) 

Deferred tax liabilities   (12,094) (15,005) 

Other non-current liabilities, assets and provisions (D) (8,835) (23,454) 

Net capital employed (A + B + C + D) 296,814 295,998 

 

 

Á The adjusted net financial position is calculated by deducting the finance lease payable arising 

from application of IFRS 16 from the net financial debt calculated according to the indications of 

Consob Communication ESMA32-382-1138 of March 4, 2021 and without considering the 

financial payable for Warrants, as this item will not result in a financial outlay. 
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(Euro,000)  
 

Composition net financial position  31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

A. Cash 21 18 
B. Cash equivalents 8,680 23,517 
C. Other current financial assets 6,630 6,269 

D. Cash and cash equivalents (A) + (B) + (C)  15,330 29,804 

E. Current financial debt (including debt instruments but excluding the current 
portion of non-current financial debt) 26,836 8,196 

F. Current portion of the non-current debt 32,567 20,589 
G. Current financial debt (E + F) 59,405 28,785 
H. Net current financial debt (G - D) 44,074 (1,020) 

I. Non-current financial debt 70,011 92,001 
J. Debt instruments 39,605 39,520 
K. Trade payables and other non-current payables - - 
L. Non-current financial debt (I + J + K) 109,616 131,521 

M. Net Financial Position (H + L) 153,690 130,501 

IFRS 16 ς Leases (13,509) (14,905) 

Net financial position adjusted 140,181 115,596 

 

 

As required by the above communication, the Group reports net liabilities for employee defined benefits 

of Euro 5,093 thousand (Note 16) and Provisions for risks and charges for Euro 13,844 thousand (Note 

15). 
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GENERAL SITUATION  

/ƭƛƳŀǘŜ ŎƘŀƴƎŜ ŀƴŘ {L¢Ωǎ ǊƻƭŜ  

Climate change is significantly altering our world, causing a wide range of effects from subtle changes to 

severe environmental disasters. These impacts are creating increasingly complex challenges for the 

environment, humanity, and the global economy. The United Nations' Intergovernmental Panel on 

Climate Change (IPCC) emphasizes the urgency for rapid and decisive action. The window to limit global 

temperature rise to within the critical threshold of 1.5 degrees Celsius has narrowed to less than a decade. 

Greenhouse Gas (GHG) emissions remain the primary driver of ongoing climate change. To prevent further 

biodiversity loss, infrastructure damage, and human suffering, there is a pressing need for accelerated 

efforts in both climate adaptation and GHG emission reductions. 

Despite some progress, actions taken so far are uneven and insufficient to address the growing risks. 

These gaps are particularly stark among low-income populations, underscoring the need for a more 

inclusive and supportive approach. 

Sustainability is central to the SIT group's operations. As a strategic supplier to leading players in the 

energy, utility, and alternative energy sectors, SIT is committed to enhancing the efficient use of natural 

resources, reducing carbon dioxide levels, and investing in carbon-ƴŜǳǘǊŀƭ ǎƻƭǳǘƛƻƴǎΦ {L¢Ωǎ ǇǊƻŘǳŎǘǎ ŀǊŜ 

designed to be compatible with alternative and green gases, such as biomethane and hydrogen. 

Additionally, SIT leads in creating intelligent solutions for indoor climate control and consumption 

measurement. Significant collaborations and partnerships, including participation in the European Clean 

Hydrogen Alliance, place SIT at the forefront of hydrogen product development, encompassing residential 

heating (hydrogen boilers) and smart meters. This commitment positively impacts the entire supply chain, 

from suppliers and customers to end consumers. 

Through the Water Metering Business Unit, SIT plays an active role in the energy transition. Recognizing 

water as an increasingly scarce resource, SIT applies its expertise in precise consumption measurement 

to promote efficient and sustainable water use. Participation in the "Valore Acqua per l'Italia" community 

promoted by The European House Ambrosetti further underscores this commitment. 

SIT's product development process is guided by eco-design principles, with a strong focus on carbon 

footprint and overall environmental impact. SIT products are designed for the use of alternative 

combustion sources, particularly hydrogen and biomethane. 
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The Company is closely monitoring the evolving debates and regulations, particularly in the European 

Union, regarding the technological transition to electricity-powered products. The outcomes and impacts 

ƻƴ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎ ǊŜƳŀƛƴ ǳƴŎŜǊǘŀƛƴ ŀǘ ǘƘƛǎ time. 

In response to the risks associated with transition processes and to differentiate its business, the Company 

is investing significantly in new "green" technologies. These investments include technological partnership 

projects with key customers and diversification into sustainability-focused market segments. Noteworthy 

investments involve developing a range of electrical applications, such as heat pumps, controlled 

mechanical ventilation, and fans for cooker hoods, all of which contribute to sector decarbonization. To 

strengthen this strategy, during 2023, the company updated its organizational structure, which is now 

composed of three Business Units: 

 Heating & Ventilation  

 Smart Gas Metering  

 Water Metering.  

¢Ƙƛǎ ǊŜǎǘǊǳŎǘǳǊƛƴƎ ŀƛƳǎ ǘƻ ŜƴƘŀƴŎŜ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘΩǎ ŦƻŎǳǎ ƻƴ ŜŀŎƘ ƳŀǊƪŜǘ ōȅ ŀƴǘƛŎƛǇŀǘƛƴƎ ƴŜǿ ŎǳǎǘƻƳŜǊ 

needs, particularly in technological innovation and energy transition. The core business of Heating is now 

supported by Ventilation, with a commitment to improving the efficiency of gas, hybrid, biomethane, and 

hydrogen heating appliances. Additionally, the Company focuses on ventilation and indoor air quality 

solutions that integrate into domestic ecosystems, ensuring environmental comfort control and 

monitoring while maximizing energy efficiency. 

For further information related to climate change, please refer to the risk section of this Report. 

Macroeconomic scenario 

In 2023, the global economic landscape weakened due to persistently high inflation, ongoing monetary 

tightening, and the underperformance of certain economies, notably China, which struggled more than 

anticipated. The outlook remains weak and uncertain, with significant downside risks primarily stemming 

from escalating geopolitical tensions in the Middle East, increased fragmentation of international 

production, and potential impacts on commodity prices. 

The global manufacturing sector experienced a substantial slowdown following the strong rebound post-

COVID-19 shock. Several factors contributed to this deceleration: 
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- A shift in consumer spending from goods to services, particularly tourism. 

- The weakening of the European industrial sector, heavily influenced by the German economy. 

- Tougher conditions for demand, especially in investments, due to credit tightening and the gradual 

phasing out of emergency policies. 

These factors resulted in a decline in global trade of goods, particularly hindered by high geopolitical 

uncertainty, the strengthening of the US dollar (the primary currency for much of global trade), and the 

proliferation of trade barriers. 

In 2023, the year-on-year GDP trend of the main areas of interest for the Group is summarised in the table 

below: 

Change in GDP 2023 2022 

Italy 0.9% 3.7% 

Euro 0.5% 3.5% 

USA 2.5% 2.1% 

China  5.3% 3.0% 

 

The GDP of the US economy, which came in above expectations, was driven by higher growth in 

consumption and the labor market. In China, GDP continued to be affected by the effects of the pandemic 

and grew at the slowest pace in thirty years, impacted by the real estate sector in a context of 

demographic decline and an unemployment rate, especially among young people, continuing to rise. 

For the eurozone economy, 2023 was a year of substantial stagnation due to high inflation, which 

dampened consumer demand and rising policy rates, the impacts of which were particularly evident in 

the construction sector.  

In 2023, the Italian economy grew by 0.9%, decelerating compared to 2022. Growth was mainly driven by 

domestic demand net of inventories, with an equal contribution from consumption and investment. Net 

foreign demand made a slightly positive contribution, while the change in inventories was negative. On 

the supply side of goods and services, value added grew in construction and in many service sectors, while 

it contracted in agriculture and in all mining, manufacturing and other industrial activities. The growth in 

productive activity has been accompanied by an expansion of labour inputs and incomes. 

As far as the Italian mechanical industry sector is concerned, the sharp slowdown in growth that occurred 

in the first half of 2023 continued into the rest of the year with production down 4.7% compared to 2022. 
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The negative trend is attributable to several concomitant factors, such as the progressive downsizing of 

building bonuses, the loss of purchasing power of households and the progressive lack of liquidity of 

companies. 

OPERATING PERFORMANCE 

Introduction 

SIT S.p.A. (hereinafter "SIT", the "Company" or the "Parent Company") has decided to adopt the option 

allowed by art. 40 of Legislative Decree no. 127 of April 9, 1991, paragraph 2 bis, as amended by Legislative 

Decree no. 32 of February 2, 2007, which allows companies that prepare consolidated financial 

statements to present the Consolidated Management Report and the Company's Directors' Report in a 

single document. 

Significant events of the year 

SIT obtains EcoVadis' Silver sustainability rating. 

In January 2023, the Company was notified of the achievement of the "Silver" rating by EcoVadis, an 

international rating agency that measures the CSR (Corporate Social Responsibility) performance of 

companies, using a methodology based on the highest international reference standards. The Company, 

confirming its rating range compared to the previous evaluation, obtained a higher score that places it in 

the top 10% of the companies in the sector under analysis (22% the previous year). Please note that 

EcoVadis announced in February 2024 a new rating for SIT group, which shows a further improvement. 

Please refer to the section "Significant events occurring after the end of the financial year" for further 

details. 

SIT presents its new range of gas adaptive solutions and CMC applications at the Frankfurt trade fair. 

From March 13 to 17, 2023, SIT participated in the ISH trade fair in Frankfurt, the largest international 

trade fair for heating, energy-saving, renewable energy, air conditioning and building automation 

technologies.   

At this event, SIT presented the most complete range of gas-adaptive solutions on the market with its 

three versions: FLEXA IONO, FLEXA H2 and the latest FLEXA PRO, the residential and commercial 

sensorized mixer capable of directly measuring gas and air flows, optimizing the combustion system.  
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Also presented was the new 877 ELEKTRA XL boiler valve, designed for commercial appliances up to 150kW 

(also 100% hydrogen), which completes the SIT range for professional applications.  

SIT's proposal at the fair also included electronic control solutions for Controlled Mechanical Ventilation 

(CMV), for indoor air exchange and heat recovery, which also integrate UpSens sensors for the first time, 

thanks to the recent partnership started with the Optoi Group. 

New organizational structure was announced. 

With the aim of focusing management more effectively on reference markets and anticipating new 

customer needs, with particular attention to technological innovation and the energy transition, in April 

2023 SIT announced a new organizational structure of the Group, which is now composed of three 

Business Units: 

 Heating & Ventilation  

 Smart Gas Metering  

 Water Metering  

The historical core business of Heating is now joined by Ventilation with the aim of developing and 

manufacturing solutions for the continuous improvement of the efficiency of gas, hybrid, biomethane and 

hydrogen heating appliances, as well as solutions for ventilation and air quality in indoor spaces, 

integrated into the domestic ecosystem.  

With the new organizational structure, Metering is divided into two Business Units. 

The Smart Gas Metering Business Unit, whose mission is the design and construction of gas meters for 

residential and industrial systems, providing customers with new digital technologies for data reading, 

consumption control and cutting-edge measuring instruments in the sector.  

The Water Metering Business Unit, headed by the Portuguese company JANZ acquired at the end of 2020, 

whose mission is to design, manufacture and market water consumption metering solutions with both 

traditional and smart technology, with the aim of providing water utilities and local municipalities with 

solutions to increase efficiency and accelerate their sustainability strategies at the best total cost of 

ownership.  

At the same time, three Business Unit leaders were appointed, who, together with the Chief Product 

Officer and support functions, report to the CEO. 
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SIT obtains the Gender Equality Certification  

During the first half of 2023, SIT obtained the certification on gender equality, pursuant to UNI/PdR 

125:2022, issued by the certifying body Kiwa and supported by Variazioni, a consulting company 

specializing in innovation and Change Management projects. This certification, which is valid for three 

years and is subject to annual monitoring, has seen SIT be virtuous in all six areas that the certification 

investigates: Culture and Strategy, Governance, HR Processes, Opportunities for growth and inclusion of 

women in the company, Pay equity by gender and Protection of parenthood and work-life balance. 

The equal opportunities certification, consistent with the company's "Made with Care" pillar dedicated to 

Social Responsibility and included in the company's sustainability plan, comes after two other important 

milestones in SIT's ESG journey: the new enhanced parenting policy, in force from March 1, 2023, and the 

Diversity & Inclusion policy issued in April 2023. The Parental and Diversity & Inclusion policies and the 

Gender Equality certification are an integral part of the company's sustainability roadmap, which aims to 

enable the energy transition through innovative solutions that help decarbonize the atmosphere and 

safeguard natural resources as well as enhance its human resources. 

SIT extends Product Carbon Footprint (CFP) certification to gas meters. 

During the first half of 2023, SIT strengthened its commitment to the detection and management of its 

CO2 emissions and obtained the certification of the Product Carbon Footprint measurement system (CFP 

Systematic Approach) of an additional product category: gas meters produced by the subsidiary Metersit. 

Through the methodology adopted, SIT is therefore able to calculate in a timely and certified manner the 

Carbon Footprint of each product throughout its life cycle (from production to disposal in a "cradle-to-

grave" logic) in line with the standards set by the ISO 14067:2018 standard.   

The certification, issued by the certifying body Bureau Veritas Italia, a world leader in inspection, 

compliance verification and certification services, is in addition to the one obtained in 2022 relating to the 

product lines of the Heating & Ventilation business unit (mechanical controls, fans, electronic controls). 

SIT wins the Sustainability Award 2023 by ranking first in the Top 100 ESG Score  

SIT has won the Sustainability Award 2023, an award promoted by Kon Group and Elite (Euronext) in 

partnership with Azimut. The award is a recognition of Italian companies that have best expressed their 

ability to innovate, renew and activate the best energies, promoting sustainable, inclusive and stable 

growth, creating added value for all stakeholders.  
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SIT ranked first in the Top 100 ESG Score, reserved for companies with a turnover of more than 250 million 

euro, having obtained the highest score in the three areas of the assessment model (environment, social 

responsibility, governance). 

SIT - Panasonic partnership for the launch of new residential Heat Pump fan  

In October 2023, the partnership with Panasonic Industry, a Japanese multinational and world leader in 

HVAC technologies, was announced for the launch of a new complete solution of fans for residential heat 

pumps. 

The collaboration combines the quality and reliability of Panasonic Industry's Japanese-designed motors 

with SIT's advanced expertise in fluid dynamics and motor controls to develop a complete fan solution 

designed specifically for residential heat pumps. The new application ς which was presented in mid-March 

at the MCE ς Mostra Convegno Expocomfort exhibition in Milan ς will be adapted to the specific needs of 

each heat pump manufacturer to ensure the best performance, minimized noise and low consumption.   

The strategic initiative is focused on the European market, characterized by the adoption of the new green 

policy regarding F-Gas regulation, while European heat pump manufacturers are investing heavily in the 

development of new products and the localization of their supply chain in Europe.  

SIT presents the SmartIO ultrasonic residential water meter for the European market at Enlit Europe 

JANZ, a SIT group company leader in Water Metering, presented at Enlit Europe - an event dedicated to 

operators in the entire energy supply chain - SmartIO, the new smart water meter for residential use 

based on ultrasonic technology, with best-in-class measurement capacity, developed in a joint venture 

with GWF, a Swiss technological partner operating in the water sector. 

SmartIO is a response to a global issue of efficient management of water resources and is part of a sector 

that is expected to grow in Italy as well, driven by the replacement of installed meters with smart 

appliances.  

SmartIO uses patented and innovative technology and maintains a high level of accuracy throughout the 

product life cycle, with low maintenance costs. Thanks to IoT technology, the meter communicates with 

the proprietary MyWater software, concretely contributing to reducing water waste. The first target of 

SmartIO will be utilities, both in the Iberian market and in the Italian market, where it will be marketed 

through MeteRSit, a company of the SIT group leader in Smart Gas Metering.  
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SIT MBT joint venture in the cooker hood market  

SIT strengthens its strategic development path in electrification with a company dedicated to the cooker 

hood market. With SIT MBT S.r.l., the Group wants to be a European leader in the design and production 

of fans for kitchen hoods, induction hobs and pellet stoves through the development of innovative 

products with high energy efficiency and their customization to the specific needs of customers, thanks 

to the technological skills of the Montecassiano center of excellence. 

The company's primary objective is to promptly seize the opportunities that will emerge in the coming 

months, linked in particular to the entry into force, starting from the beginning of 2025, of the new 

European legislation on energy labels for extractor hoods and cooktops for kitchens. The new company 

wants to establish itself in the Italian and European market as an independent player with a historical 

track record, a recognized and reliable management team, an R&D competence center of excellence and 

production in Italy, in the Marche region, in the center of the hood and kitchen district, to give qualified 

technological support to the most important European manufacturers of kitchen extractor hoods and 

extractor hobs. 

SIT MBT S.r.l. will include the business segment of SIT S.p.A. dedicated to ventilation and components for 

hoods and pellets and 100% of the innovative start-up Motors & Blowers Technology Srl (MBT), launched 

by a team of managers with long experience in the sector. To complete the structure of the company, the 

participation of Wentelon, a supplier of ventilation motors, which with its state-of-the-art Chinese plants 

will ensure technology and competitiveness for the initiative. 

SIT MBT S.r.l. will be 70% owned by SIT and 30% by Wentelon and the managers of Motors & Blowers 

Technology S.r.l. 

Update on bank negotiations 2023 

With a letter of acceptance dated June 30, 2023, the Company's main lenders have granted a so-called 

waiver on the contractual financial covenants in place on the loans granted with reference to the 

recognition date of June 30, 2023. This consent was granted following a request made by the Company to 

the lenders at the beginning of June, made necessary by the economic and financial performance of the 

period, which would not have allowed compliance with the parameters in question.  

The persistence of the negative economic situation in the Heating & Ventilation segment highlighted the 

impossibility for the Company to meet certain commitments to repay loans scheduled at the end of the 
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year and financial covenants. Against this prospect, the Company promptly entered the necessary 

discussions with its lenders to reach, on December 29, 2023, an agreement to extend the main amounts 

due as of December 31, 2023 as well as a standstill agreement that provides for the suspension of certain 

contractual clauses ς including compliance with financial parameters ς until April 30, 2024. 

The Company has also committed to providing lenders by February 28, 2024 with an update of the 

business plan approved by the Board of Directors on September 15, 2023 aimed at renegotiating the 

financial profile of debt and the consequent revision of financial parameters. For further information, 

please refer to the paragraph ά{ƛƎƴƛŦƛŎŀƴǘ ŜǾŜƴǘǎ ƻŎŎǳǊǊƛƴƎ ŀŦǘŜǊ ǘƘŜ ŜƴŘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ȅŜŀǊέ. 

Sales analysis 

SIT Group operates in two Divisions: 

¶ Heating & Ventilation, which develops and manufactures systems for the safety, comfort and high 

efficiency of gas appliances; 

¶ Metering, which develops and manufactures water and gas meters with remote control, 

consumption measurement, reading and communication functions. 

Revenue by division 

(Euro,000) 2023 % 2022 % diff diff % 

Heating & Ventilation 233,997 71.7% 315,338 80.2% (81,340) (25.8%) 

Metering 88,619 27.2% 72,516 18.4% 16,103 22.2% 

Total sales  322,617 98.9% 387,854 98.6% (65,237) (16.8%) 

Other revenues 3,644 1.1% 5,451 1.4% (1,807) (33.1%) 

Total revenues 326,261 100% 393,305 100% (67,044) (17.0%) 

 

Revenue by geography 

(Euro,000) 2023 % 2022 % diff diff % 

Italy 97,346 29.8% 99,452 25.3% (2,106) (2.1%) 

Europe (excluding Italy) 151,359 46.4% 169,396 43.1% (18,037) (10.6%) 

The Americas 47,144 14.4% 85,481 21.7% (38,337) (44.8%) 

Asia/Pacific 30,412 9.3% 38,976 9.9% (8,564) (22.0%) 

Total revenues 326,261 100% 393,305 100% (67,044) (17.0%) 
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Consolidated revenues for 2023 amounted to Euro 326.3 million, recording a decrease of 17% compared 

to 2022 (Euro 393.3 million). In the fourth quarter of 2023, consolidated revenues amounted to Euro 84.2 

million, a decrease of 18.2% compared to the same period of the previous year (Euro 102.9 million). 

Sales of the Heating & Ventilation Division ƛƴ нлно ŀƳƻǳƴǘŜŘ ǘƻ ϵнопΦл ƳƛƭƭƛƻƴΣ -25.8% compared to 

ϵомрΦо Ƴƛƭƭƛƻƴ ƛƴ нлнн ό-25.1% at same exchange rates).  

In the fourth quarter, the Division achieved sales of Euro 57.9 million, down 28.1% compared to the fourth 

quarter of the previous year (Euro 80.5 million). 

The fourth quarter of 2023 recorded a trend in the Heating end market in contrast to previous quarters, 

at least as far as boilers are concerned: in fact, final sales were substantially in line with those of the last 

quarter of 2022 after recording significant reductions in each previous quarter; the negative trend of heat 

pumps persisted also in the fourth quarter due to the interruption of incentives.  

In this market context, SIT customers are still operating with consistent stock levels and therefore the 

improved performance of the fourth quarter has not yet translated into a recovery in SIT turnover. 

The following table shows the sales by geographical area of the Heating & Ventilation Division:  

(Euro,000) 2023 % 2022 % diff diff % 

Italy 36,675 15.7% 56,116 17.8% (19,441) (34.6%) 

Europe (excluding Italy) 119,632 51.1% 138,022 43.8% (18,390) (13.3%) 

The Americas 44,767 19.1% 82,839 26.3% (38,072) (46.0%) 

Asia/Pacific 32,923 14.1% 38,361 12.2% (5,438) (14.2%) 

Total sales  233,997 100% 315,338 100% (81,340) (25.8%) 

 

Sales in Italy decreased by 34.6% compared to 2022. This trend affected all major products and was 

affected by the interruption of sector incentives in 2023 as well as the slowdown in the home renovation 

market. It is worth noting the particularly negative trend, in the Direct Heating segment, of applications 

for Pellet Stoves (-77.5%), which in 2022 had benefited from the increase in gas prices.  

As far as Europe is concerned, excluding Italy, in 2023 there was a reduction in sales of Euro 18.4 million, 

equal to 13.3% compared to the previous year. Turkey, the leading market by shipment with 18.1% of 

divisional sales, recorded a growth trend of 10.9% equal to Euro 4.2 million, mainly thanks to Fans for 

Central Heating applications penalized by supply problems during the first part of 2022. UK, 8.5% of 

divisional sales, marks a trend substantially in line with the year 2022, with a differentiated trend between 

product families in which there is a growth of Euro 2.5 million (+25.6%) in flows compared to 2022. As far 
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as Central Europe is concerned, the overall trend in the period was in line with the Division (-28.5%), with 

sales of Heat Recovery Units achieving sales in line (+1.0%) with those of the previous year.  

Sales in the Americas fell by 46.0% (exchange rate impact is not material). The reduction affected Storage 

Water Heating applications for Euro 10.2 million, while Direct Heating applications for fireplaces (-Euro 

24.3 million, -55.4%) were affected by the negative trend of new buildings to which this segment is related.  

Sales in the Asia/Pacific area decreased by 14.2% (-9.2% on a like-for-like exchange rate basis) to Euro 32.9 

million compared to Euro 38.4 million in 2022. As for China, 9.0% of divisional sales, sales for the year 

recorded a reduction of 11.6% compared to 2022, which at same exchange rates is -5.2%. Australia 

recorded sales of Euro 5.9 million in 2023, a reduction of 27.9% (23.3% at same exchange rates). 

Coming to the main product families, the trend recorded during the year concerned the entire product 

portfolio with Mechanical controls at -24.4%, Electronic controls -33.6% and Fans at -32.4% while Flues 

recorded an increase of 7.9%. 

In terms of application segment, Central Heating, which accounts for 66.7% of divisional sales, recorded a 

reduction of 16.9%, while Direct Heating (13.7% of divisional sales) recorded a reduction of 49.9% due to 

the performance of fireplaces in the USA and applications sold in Italy. Storage Water Heating recorded a 

47.9% reduction due to the loss of share in the USA. 

Regarding the main customers of the Heating & Ventilation division, it should be noted that 38.2% of sales 

were achieved with the top 5 customers in 2023, while last year this incidence was 33.9%.  

The following graphs show Heating & Ventilation sales in 2023 by product family and by segment 

application (data from management source): 
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Sales of the Metering Division amounted to Euro 88.6 million compared to Euro 72.5 million, an increase 

of 22.2% compared to the previous year. 

Sales in the Smart Gas Metering segment amounted to Euro 60.0 million, an increase of 24.0% compared 

to 2022. The performance is due to the group's good positioning in the Italian market and the new 

development and replacement projects launched by its main customers. Sales in Italy accounted for 96.6% 

of the total, while sales abroad, for 3.4% of the total, were made in Greece and Central Europe.  

Sales in Water Metering amounted to Euro 28.6 million, up 18.5% compared to 2022. Sales were achieved 

in Portugal (19.0%), Spain (36.2%), the rest of Europe (34.7%) and America and Asia (7.3% and 2.7%) 

respectively.  

Regarding the concentration of Metering sales, in the Smart Gas Metering it should be noted that 75.3% 

of sales were achieved with the first 5 customers in 2023, while last year this incidence was 64.7%. In 

Water Metering, the figures are 60.1% and 58.2% respectively. 

Economic performance 

Consolidated revenues for 2023 amounted to Euro 326.3 million, down 17.0% compared to 2022 (Euro 

393.3 million).  

The purchase cost of raw materials and consumables, including changes in inventories, amounted to Euro 

175.8 million, accounting for 53.9% of revenues, compared to 54.3% in 2022. 

Service costs amounted to Euro 46.5 million compared to Euro 52.3 million in the previous year 

(respectively equal to 14.3% and 13.3% of revenues). 

Personnel costs amounted to Euro 80.7 million compared to Euro 80.2 million in the previous year, of 

24.7% of revenues, up from 20.4% in the previous year. The item includes Euro 5.3 million restructuring 

costs, relating to the Parent Company for Euro 2.5 million and to the Dutch company for Euro 2.3 million, 

whose production plant is currently being closed. 

Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses, amounting to Euro 47.1 million, increased compared 

to the previous year (Euro 27.8 million) due to the normal effect of the increase for new investments 

made during the year and the new operating lease agreements accounted for in accordance with IFRS16; 

it should also be noted that following the impairment test carried out during the half-year reporting on 

the invested capital of the two main CGUs, the Group adjusted the carrying amount of goodwill of the 

Heating & Ventilation CGU to its recoverable amount by recording an impairment charge of Euro 17.0 
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million. Euro 1.0 million refers to the partial write-down of the building of the current headquarters of the 

Parent Company in consideration of the planned transfer to the new headquarters under construction. 

The provision for risks amounted to Euro 1.0 million, substantially in line with the value of the previous 

year, net of the extraordinary provision recorded in 2022 for the dispute with an American customer of 

Euro 7.6 million. In 2023, the item was affected by provisions for the disposal of batteries contained in 

meters and for environmental remediation costs on land owned by the Parent Company.  

Adjusted EBITDA amounted to Euro 29.0 million, down 38.5% compared to the previous year (Euro 47.1 

million) and was affected by the volume effect, especially in the Heating & Ventilation division, which was 

only partially offset by the Metering division and by efficiency and cost containment measures. 

The operating result, in addition to the performance of operations, was particularly affected by the 

impairment loss and went from Euro 10.6 million in 2022 to Euro -25.2 million in 2023. 

Adjusted operating profit amounted to Euro 0.1 million compared to Euro 19.4 million in 2022. 

Net financial expense for 2023 amounted to Euro 6.9 million compared to net financial income of Euro 

4.5 million in the previous year. It should be noted that in 2022 the amount is affected by the change in 

fair value deriving from the market value of the Warrants, which resulted in financial income of Euro 8.7 

million. 

Adjusted net financial expenses, net of the aforementioned fair value changes, amounted to Euro 6.9 

million in 2023 compared to Euro 4.2 million in the previous year. The trend was upward due to both the 

increase in debt and the increase in interest rates. 

Taxes for the period amounted to Euro 7.9 million and reflect the allocation of deferred tax assets deriving 

mainly from recoverable tax losses accrued by some foreign companies as well as by the Parent Company. 

The net result for the period amounted to a loss of Euro 23.4 million compared to a profit of Euro 11.2 

million in 2022.  

The adjusted net result was a loss of Euro 0.3 million compared to an adjusted net profit of Euro 10.9 

million in 2022. 

Financial performance 

As of December 31, 2023, net financial debt amounted to Euro 153.7 million compared to Euro 130.5 

million as of December 31, 2022. The change of the net financial position is shown in the table below: 
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(Euro,000) 2023 2022 

Cash flow from current activities (A) 27,472 46,372 

Change in inventories 9,399 (19,730) 

Change in trade receivables 951 (6,715) 

Change in trade payables (15,129) (675) 

Change in other current assets and liabilities and for taxes (14,591) (5,514) 

Cash flow from changes in Working Capital (B) (19,370) (32,634) 

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (A + B) 8,102 13,738 

Cash flow from investing activities (C) (23,025) (26,883) 

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING & INVESTING ACTIVITIES (A + B + C) (14,923) (13,145) 

Interest (7,162) (3,327) 

Changes in MTM derivatives and amortized cost 113 1,702 

Equity changes (839) 857 

Changes in financial assets 1,409 - 

Acquisition of treasury shares - (599) 

Dividends - (7,299) 

IFRS 16 (1,785) (1,963) 

Change in net financial position (23,187) (23,774) 

      

Opening net financial position  130,501 106,729 

Closing net financial position 153,690 130,501 

 

In 2023 generation of cash flows from current operations was Euro 25.0 million compared to Euro 46.4 

million in 2022, a difference due to the economic performance in the two years.  

In 2023, the absorption of working capital amounted to Euro 16.9 million compared to an absorption of 

Euro 32.6 million in the previous year.  

The trend in inventories generated cash for Euro 9.4 million in 2023 while in 2022 it absorbed Euro 19.7 

million ς a trend deriving from the different economic situation in the sector in the two years, with 

particular reference to the Heating & Ventilation division. Consistently, payables to suppliers also reflect 

the trend in purchase volumes, with a reduction in value and cash absorption of Euro 15.1 million in 2023 

compared to substantial stability in 2022; payables to investment suppliers increased compared to the 

previous year, in particular due to activities related to the restructuring of the new headquarters in Padua. 

About receivables from customers, a generation of Euro 1.0 million was recorded in 2023 compared to an 

absorption of Euro 6.7 million in 2022 due to the growth in turnover recorded in the final part of the 

previous year. 

With regard to other working capital items, it should be noted that in the first quarter of 2023 there was 

a settlement disbursement with a customer following the agreement reached during the third quarter of 

2022 and taxes were paid during the year of Euro 4.0 million. 
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Investment flows amounted to Euro 23.0 million compared to Euro 26.9 million in 2022. Cash flows from 

operations after investments therefore amounted to Euro -14.9 million compared to Euro -13.1 million in 

the previous year. 

Cash flows from financial activities included interest in 2023 of Euro 7.2 million compared to Euro 3.3 

million in 2022.  

Capital expenditures 

Lƴ нлноΣ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇ ƳŀŘŜ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘǎ ƻŦ ϵноΦо ƳƛƭƭƛƻƴΣ ƻŦ ǿƘƛŎƘ ϵрΦм Ƴƛƭƭƛƻƴ ǊŜƭŀǘŜŘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ǊŜƴƻǾŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ 

the headquarters and the construction of the new R&D laboratories in Padua. Of the remaining 

ƛƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘǎΣ ϵмпΦт Ƴƛƭƭƛƻƴ ƛǎ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ IŜŀǘƛƴƎ ϧ ±Ŝƴǘƛƭŀǘƛƻƴ 5ƛǾƛǎƛƻƴ όулΦф҈ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǘƻǘŀƭύΣ ϵмΦу Ƴƛƭƭƛƻƴ όфΦт҈ 

ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǘƻǘŀƭύ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ {ƳŀǊǘ Dŀǎ aŜǘŜǊƛƴƎ 5ƛǾƛǎƛƻƴ ŀƴŘ ϵмΦт Ƴƛƭƭƛƻƴ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ²ŀǘŜǊ aŜǘŜǊƛƴƎ 5ƛǾƛǎƛƻƴ όфΦп҈ ƻŦ 

the total). In 2022, total investments amounted to Euro 27.1 million (of which Euro 10.2 million related to 

the aforementioned Padua headquarters). 

In the Heating & Ventilation Division, investments concerned the development of new products (Euro 5.2 

million), of which Euro 1.8 million refer to development costs related to four specific projects (877 XL, 

EF90-EF150, Flexa Pro, Axial Fan), plant maintenance (Euro 3.6 million), renewal of the die-casting moulds 

(Euro 2.1 million) and increase in production capacity (Euro 1.2 million). 

In Smart Gas Metering, capex were made in the development of new products (amounting to Euro 1.3 

million, 73.0% of the divisional total), of which Euro 1 million refers to development costs relating to three 

specific projects (Smartio, Vision and G40 ς the large meter). The remainder refers to industrial and 

laboratory equipment, the purchase of hardware and software, and the improvement of production 

efficiency. 

Regarding the Water Metering division, investments in 2023 mainly concerned the development of new 

products (Euro 1.1 million, equal to 66% of the divisional total). 
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RESEARCH, DEVELOPMENT AND QUALITY CONTROL  

During 2023, the Group incurred research and development costs for a total of Euro 15.5 million, equal to 

4.8% of revenues, compared to Euro 13.6 million in the previous year (3.5% of revenues). 

In 2023, the research and development area had an average workforce of 135 resources, 80 of which were 

located at the Parent Company. In 2022, there were 124 and 74 resources, respectively. 

Heating & Ventilation Division 

In 2023, the Research and Development department of the Heating & Ventilation (H&V) division 

experienced a strategic realignment of resources to better adapt with the fast-changing heating market. 

This realignment builds on a multi-year strategy that has progressively deepened the focus on 

sustainability. This focus encompasses both the specifications and the operational performance of our 

productsτspecifically in terms of usability, energy consumption, and emissionsτas well as the 

integration of eco-design principles from inception through to the end of the product life cycle. 

This shift was further accelerated by a significant reorganization within the Group, leading to the 

establishment of three independent business units. The former Heating division was renamed Heating & 

Ventilation, highlighting a renewed and intensified commitment to our rigorous program aimed at 

reducing energy use and pushing forward with decarbonization initiatives. This restructuring reflects our 

ongoing dedication to innovation and environmental stewardship in the heating sector. 

The current technological landscape presents several critical trends that are shaping the strategic 

direction of the new business unit. Notably, there is an increasing adoption of biogas and hydrogen, 

ranging from mixtures to pure hydrogen, for use in gas and hybrid appliances. Additionally, the emphasis 

on enhancing building thermal insulation necessitates advanced management of air circulation and heat 

recovery, aiming to elevate both comfort and sustainability. The movement towards the electrification of 

domestic heating through the integration of heat pumps, along with the anticipated roll-out of hybrid 

appliances that utilize green fuels and electricity, also marks significant industry shifts. 

During this phase of transition, the division's Research and Development efforts have been focused on 

strategically repositioning and aligning resources to foster the development of cutting-edge combustion 

products and systems. This initiative is also aimed at preparing the division for a successful entrance into 

the market of electrical appliances, specifically heat pumps and controlled mechanical ventilation systems 
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with heat recovery (VMC/HRU). This alignment ensures that our division remains at the forefront of 

technological innovation and market focus. 

SIT's R&D activity focuses on the development of mechatronic solutions for the proper functioning of 

domestic heating appliances running on gas, biogas and hydrogen. The research aims to develop 

electronic and mechanical solutions that are increasingly easy to integrate and at the same time capable 

of maximizing comfort performance while reducing energy consumption and CO2 emissions. SIT's goal is 

to offer its customers innovative solutions to increase efficiency and accelerate their sustainability 

strategies at the best total cost of ownership.  ensuring ever faster time to market.  

As early as 2022, the Product Development Procedure was augmented to incorporate Carbon Footprint 

analysis from the initial design stages. This integration ensures that design alternatives are systematically 

assessed through a life cycle assessment framework, which not only considers technical and economic 

dimensions but also integrates the impact of CO2 emissions across the entire chain of product 

development, production, and lifecycle. Moreover, the principles of the circular economy are increasingly 

being embraced, as evidenced by the reduction in material consumption, the selection of materials with 

lower environmental impacts, and the use of recycled materials. It is noteworthy that all die-cast bodies 

used in mechanical controls are fabricated from secondary aluminum, and there are ongoing initiatives 

focused on employing recycled plastics. Additionally, in the realm of packaging, we are collaborating with 

a major client to explore a project aimed at packaging reuse, and new products are being designed with 

packaging that adheres to circular economy principles. 

On the mechanical front, our research strategy increasingly utilizes sophisticated tools such as mechanical 

simulation and fluid dynamics platforms. These tools are instrumental in developing products that are not 

only more compact and integrated but also significantly more efficient. Conversely, on the electronic side, 

there is a marked shift towards leveraging programmable microprocessor solutions that exhibit enhanced 

intelligence and the capability to interact with the environment through cutting-edge Internet of Things 

(IoT) technologies. 

A critical element of our current research initiative is the deployment of projects that utilize advanced 

sensor technologies. These technologies are at the forefront of innovation within the industry, particularly 

in the areas of intelligent combustion control and safety mechanisms for boilers operating on 100% 

hydrogen. To further this line of research, SIT has initiated collaborations with established technology 

incubators. These partnerships aim to expedite the research process and incorporate expertise developed 
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across various sectors, thereby enriching our technological advancements and reinforcing our 

commitment to innovation. 

In the area of product development, the Group is engaged in projects aimed at four lines: (i) acquisition 

of new core technologies and processes; (ii) development of new products and product platforms; (iii) 

operational improvement of platform products; (iv) development of new vertical solutions or customized 

to customer needs starting from existing products. 

The research and development activities are bolstered by robust collaborative relationships with premier 

academic institutions, including the Politecnico of Milano, the University of Padua, and the University of 

Ferrara. These partnerships are complemented by engagements with external companies that specialize 

in technology development and both Italian and international research centers, such as RAPRA, CERISE, 

and DVGW. Furthermore, SIT maintains an active participation in leading Italian and international industry 

associations. This strategic involvement enables the continuous acquisition of advanced expertise, not 

only in new technologies and solutions but also in research methodologies and the evolving regulatory 

and legislative frameworks in Europe and globally. This comprehensive approach ensures that SIT stays at 

ǘƘŜ ŦƻǊŜŦǊƻƴǘ ƻŦ ƛƴŘǳǎǘǊȅ ŘŜǾŜƭƻǇƳŜƴǘǎ ǊŜƭŜǾŀƴǘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ŀǇǇƭƛŎŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ǇǊƻŘǳŎǘǎΣ ǘƘŜǊŜōȅ 

enhancing our competitive edge and operational excellence. 

Coming to the main 2023 projects, in this year the initiatives on the infrastructure and resources front 

take on particular importance. 

With the completion of the new headquarters in Padua dedicated to research and development 

laboratories, the department has completed the transfer of (i) equipment for testing gas appliances 

operating at any mixture for both domestic and light industrial powers; (ii) new electronic laboratories 

capable of carrying out all functional and EMC tests; (iii) started equipping the test laboratories for 

electrical equipment (both motors and fans) with test benches that will be further strengthened in 

capacity and functionality during 2024; (iv) transferred the technical staff of all the functions related to 

the development of new products to a single context, thus having in co-location mechanical, motor, fluid 

dynamic and electronic designers together with laboratory technicians, industrializers and technicians of 

motor quality and fan test; (v) started the rebalancing of resources by reducing the number of mechanical 

designers in favor of electronics, controllers, motorists and fluid dynamics, key figures in the development 

of ventilation. Finally, it is worth mentioning the opening in Turin of a local unit dedicated to research & 

development, which draws on the consolidated network of technical skills in the area. 
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In terms of gas combustion projects and systems, there have been various developments and the 

combination of some technical solutions proposed by SIT ς a system called Flexapro ς has been recognized 

by the market as the best solution to equip gas equipment in its role as a "bridge" towards decarbonization 

as it is able to dynamically adapt to the type of fuel injected:  from methane to biogas, blend, up to 100% 

hydrogen. 

The individual solutions that together are part of Flexapro also have specific commercial applications: (i) 

a control platform with stepper valve suitable for light commercial boilers up to 150kW designed for the 

US and European market; (ii) centrifugal fans for 90kW and 150kW power equipment, equipped with 

three-phase permanent magnet synchronous motors with electronic vector control. These are technical 

solutions in which SIT is at the forefront of the sector, able to guarantee maximum performance and very 

low vibrations; (iii) sensorized mixers for sizes of 40kW and 150kW respectively capable of measuring with 

great precision the quantities of air and gas delivered respectively by the fan and the valve. 

In the application segment dedicated to gas fireplaces for the US market, an electronic platform for the 

control of fireplaces complete with new remote controls is being defined and developed; It is a complete 

platform ς electronics, sensors, valve and remote control ς that replaces a system that has been on the 

market for over 10 years. 

During 2023, it took shape both at an organizational level through the division of the Group into three 

specific business units, and with a research & development action focused on the new segment of 

ventilation and electrification projects. For the SIT Group, it is a matter of seizing the opportunities 

related to the energy transition and the progressive electrification of domestic heating appliances. 

In this context, the Heating & Ventilation division has designed, sampled and is testing in collaboration 

with some customers a first family of three-phase permanent magnet synchronous motors with electronic 

vector control. This family of motors is suitable both for boiler fans but also for motors dedicated to VMC 

(Controlled Mechanical Ventilation) and heat pump applications and where SIT's approach consists in 

internalizing the control electronics (decisive in the definition of performance and cost control) by 

developing the HW and motor control algorithms. 

Finally, it is worth mentioning SIT's entry into the heat pump sector ς already highlighted in the paragraph 

on Significant events of the year ς through the technological and commercial partnership with Panasonic 

Industries. An axial fan with a diameter of 450mm is being advanced and is suitable for equipping medium-

sized air-to-water heat pumps (monoblock or split), which make up a significant share of the market. From 
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a technical point of view, noise, performance, durability and reliability are decisive in this product; SIT 

takes care of the fluid dynamics ς in collaboration with Enginsoft ς of the electronics and mechanics while 

Panasonic supplies the motor. The product was presented at the MCE exhibition in Milan in February 

2024, already installed and running in an application of a primary customer. 

Finally, the collaboration between SIT and UpSens continued in 2023 in integration projects with sensors 

of different technologies in flow detection applications. The collaboration between SIT and UpSens will 

result in significant synergies in the field of air quality solutions, in particular in the VMC (Controlled 

Mechanical Ventilation) segment. VMC solutions allow air exchange and filtration and, through the 

exchange of heat between the outgoing and incoming air, allow to improve the thermal efficiency of 

buildings. SIT is already a supplier of control electronics for the VMC segment and plans to further expand 

its range in the coming years.  

Metering Division 

In 2023, the Metering Division's research and development efforts were strategically enhanced through 

the implementation of economies of scope and the creation of synergies. This initiative aimed to 

consolidate the research activities of the Smart Gas Metering Division and the Water Metering Division, 

leveraging their unique, distinctive competencies. As a result, collaborative development projects were 

undertaken, focusing particularly on the residential product range with an emphasis on electronics and 

communications components.  

As far as the Smart Gas Metering sector is concerned, it should be noted that the new platform for the UK 

market (MMU6 PT3) has obtained all the updates of product certifications in compliance with the SMETS 

2, ZigBee and UKCA and SMDA regulations required by the market. This product, which is characterized 

by a double battery, dual band communication and a new thermo-mass sensor capable of measuring 

methane and hydrogen mixtures up to 23%, is in the process of being approved by some important local 

customers. 

During 2023, Metersit, a Group company operating in Smart Gas Metering, developed the new generation 

of smart meters for Italgas Reti following the tender awarded in 2022. The product is designed starting 

from thermo-mass technology, of which Metersit is a world leader, which allows accurate measurements 

in any condition without the need for external conversion devices. The accuracy of consumption 

measurement is guaranteed for a variety of uses: natural gas, biomethane and hydrogen, both pure and 
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blended with natural gas blends. The new meter, which will be released during 2024, includes innovative 

sensors capable of analyzing pressure losses in pipelines, detecting fires as well as detecting any seismic 

phenomena. 

During 2023, Metersit also began the development of an innovative G40 meter for the industrial and 

commercial market, again with thermo-mass technology, which will make it possible to measure, even in 

the industrial sector, natural gas and hydrogen mixtures with an NB-IoT remote communication interface. 

The new meter, which will be released in 2024, will make it possible to introduce, for the first time on the 

market, a very light industrial device with positive impacts on sustainability thanks to the possibility of 

injecting hydrogen into gas distribution networks.   

Metersit has also produced two new solutions: 

ω  "Domusnext Vision", the meter for residential and commercial use that introduces important 

innovations to the market such as the double communication "NB-IoT" and "Wireless Mbus", the anti-

fraud system, artificial intelligence that allows anomalies or leaks to be identified remotely and the ability 

to detect the percentage of hydrogen present, thus allowing utilities to manage gas mixtures with a lower 

carbon content; 

ω "Domusnext MMU6" in a new version that supports the measurement of natural gas and hydrogen 

mixtures up to 23%. 

In the Water Metering sector, JANZ presented at Enlit Europe 2023, one of the largest conventions and 

trade fairs dedicated to the entire energy ecosystem, the new ultrasonic smart meter that is the result of 

the strategic partnership with GWF presented in the previous edition of the fair. 

This new meter uses the most advanced technology in the field of water flow measurement, has no 

moving parts, and offers significant advantages to network management companies in terms of 

installation flexibility and real-time network control capabilities.  It has also been developed to minimize 

its environmental impact thanks to a careful choice of materials to be used. Production will be carried out 

in the new plant in Lisbon specially equipped for this purpose and is expected to start in the second 

quarter of 2024. 

JANZ has also submitted a complete overhaul of its volumetric meter called JV 800. This product has been 

developed using all the experience gained with the JV 400 and 600 product lines. The result is a quieter 
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meter, with a more stable metrological curve thanks to the use of the chamber with 2 inputs and a more 

reliable production process thanks to the pressed brass body.  

During the year, some important improvements were also introduced to some existing products, in 

particular the metrological class of the Combi single jet meter is now R125 compared to the previous R100 

and the MST DN40 commercial multijet meters which now have a resolution of one liter. 

In 2023, a pronounced focus was placed on sustainability and the principles of the circular economy within 

our product lines. Initiatives have been undertaken in both the gas and water metering sectors to 

incorporate recycled plastics and to conduct feasibility studies on potential scrapping and recovery 

processes. In alignment with these circular economy principles, it is crucial to note that the casings of both 

volumetric and multijet meters are constructed from brass, making them fully recyclable. To capitalize on 

this, JANZ has initiated a repair program that facilitates the recovery of brass casings. These recovered 

materials are then reused in the production of new meters, which are subsequently redistributed to 

customers. This not only underscores our commitment to sustainability but also enhances our operational 

efficiency and customer service. 

Hydrogen 

During 2023, the development of an MMU16 industrial meter for the UK market began, which will allow 

a mixture of methane and hydrogen to be measured at up to 23%. This meter, despite being an industrial 

meter, will be built on the PT3 platform (mass market) and will include the introduction of two thermo-

mass sensors in parallel. The G40 product, under development in 2023, will also allow the introduction of 

meters for the industrial market with the ability to measure methane-hydrogen mixtures of up to 23%. 

Quality 

!ƳƻƴƎ ǘƘŜ ŬǊǎǘ ŎƻƳǇŀƴƛŜǎ ƛƴ Lǘŀƭȅ ǘƻ ƻōǘŀƛƴ ǘƘŜ L{h фллм vǳŀƭƛǘȅ /ŜǊǝŬŎŀǝƻƴ ƛƴ мфууΣ {L¢ Ƙŀǎ ǇǳǊǎǳŜŘ 

ƻǾŜǊ ǘƘŜ ȅŜŀǊǎ ŀ Ŏƻƴǎǘŀƴǘ ǇǊƻƎǊŜǎǎƛƻƴ ŀƛƳŜŘ ŀǘ ŀŘŀǇǝƴƎ ŀƴŘ ƻƊŜƴ ŀƴǝŎƛǇŀǝƴƎ ǘƘŜ ƎǊƻǿƛƴƎ ƴŜŜŘǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ 

ƳŀǊƪŜǘΦ 

The Quality department, in addition to guaranteeing the normal control and prevention activities on 

processes and products, exercises constant supervision to ensure that company activities are aligned with 

the best standards of effectiveness and efficiency of quality management systems. 

In Heating, the certifications have been regularly updated both as ISO 9001:2015 and as ISO 14001:2015 

environmental certification.  
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The surveillance activity by the certification bodies confirms the organization's ability to keep the quality 

of the processes in line with the relevant international standards. 

The recognition of the activities of the laboratories in accordance with the principles of ISO 17025 confirms 

the high level of technology and skills achieved; In 2023, the tests covered and the scope of international 

approvals obtained were extended.  

Lƴ ŀƭƛƎƴƳŜƴǘ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ŜǾƻƭǾƛƴƎ ƳŀǊƪŜǘ ŘȅƴŀƳƛŎǎ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ 9ǳǊƻǇŜŀƴ ¦ƴƛƻƴΩǎ ŘŜŎŀǊōƻƴƛȊŀǘƛƻƴ ǘŀǊƎŜǘǎΣ ǘƘŜ 

product portfolio of the Heating & Ventilation Division has been strategically enhanced to accommodate 

hydrogen utilization. Notably, in 2023, SIT distinguished itself as one of the first manufacturers globally to 

secure a significant accolade in Europeτthe GAR certification (Regulation 2016/426 EU) for the 84X family 

of valves. This certification underscores our commitment to complying with rigorous environmental and 

safety standards, thereby reinforcing our position at the forefront of sustainable manufacturing practices. 

During 2023, Metersit positively confirmed the ISO 9001:2015, ISO 14001:2015 certifications as well as all 

the Production Quality Assurance certifications (Module D of the MID Directive 2014/32/EU and Annex IV 

of the Atex Directive 2014/34/EU) of its production plants. 

Metersit has positively confirmed the certification according to the ISO 27001 standard (Information 

Security Management). 

Coming to JANZ, the company operating in the Water Metering sector, during 2023 the ISO 9001:2015 

certifications, the AS9100 certification and the Production Quality Assurance certification (Module D of 

the MID Directive 2014/32/EU) were positively confirmed. 

JANZ's laboratories dedicated to Water Metering and linear metrology have also been renewed in their 

accreditation in accordance with ISO 17025, confirming the high level of expertise and quality standards 

achieved. 

 

HUMAN RESOURCES AND ORGANIZATION 

Details on Group employees at year-end are reported in the following table: 
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2022 

average 
% 

31/12/2022 
at year-end 

% 
2023 

average 
% 

31/12/2023 
at year-end 

% 

Executives 40 1% 42 2% 42 2% 39 2% 

White-collar 600 22% 626 24% 713 30% 704 32% 

Blue-collar 1,801 66% 1,681 65% 1,386 59% 1,271 57% 

Temporary 276 10% 233 9% 220 9% 204 9% 

Total 2,717 100% 2,582 100% 2,361 100% 2,218 100% 

At the reporting date:  

Á Metering Division had 407 employees, of whom 86 in Italy and 321 abroad; in 2022 there were 

383 employees, of which 94 in Italy; 

Á At Group level, employees in Italy numbered 838 (38% of the total) while those based in other 

countries numbered 1.380 (65% of the total). In the previous year, these figures were 909 (35% 

of the total) and 1.673 (65% of the total), respectively. 

Employer branding 

With the aim of attracting the very best talent, SIT has established strong and fruitful collaborative 

relationships with numerous Italian schools and universities and has undertaken diverse projects and 

initiatives. 

Throughout 2023, the Company continued a research project titled "Driving the transition of 

manufacturing firms towards customized, integrated solutions through smart product-service systems," 

conducted in collaboration with the Department of Industrial Engineering and Management at the 

University of Padua, which concluded at the end of the year. 

To facilitate the meeting of students, recent graduates, and PhD students across the country, in 2023, SIT 

participated in 15 events organized by Entities, Companies, and Career Services of Italian Universities. 

Thanks to these recruiting events and participation in 7 employer branding initiatives, SIT reached a total 

of 1,794 candidates from various fields of study, 19% more than in 2022. The Company developed contacts 

and collaborations with 35 Institutions, including Entities and Italian Universities, participating in events 

sponsored by the Career Services of the University of Padua, the University of Trento, the University of 

Ferrara, the Polytechnic University of Turin, the University of Pavia, the University of Palermo, and the 

Polytechnic University of Marche. 

Some of the talents met during the employer branding and recruiting events were invited by SIT to 

participate in digital assessments aimed at initiating curricular and extracurricular internship programs, 

offering a concrete opportunity for training and growth within the organization. 
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Finally, to reduce the educational and skills mismatch, raising awareness about working in factories as a 

dignified space for all professions, and addressing the gender gap in STEM disciplines, in 2023, SIT opened 

its production plants to 149 students, a 162% increase compared to 2022. These students, from technical 

industrial and economic institutes in the provinces of Padua and Rovigo, as well as middle schools in the 

area, had the opportunity to learn about the SIT production process up close and in detail. 

People Attraction 

SIT places particular emphasis on the Employee Value Proposition (EVP), the work experience as perceived 

by employees and potential candidates, which is assessed based on the company's characteristics, its 

brand identity, corporate culture, and the relationship SIT has with its people. The EVP is first expressed 

in the way SIT designs and manages the recruitment and selection process: open, inclusive, and free from 

any discrimination. 

On the company intranet, there is a section called "Career in SIT" dedicated to internal career 

opportunities (job rotation) and the referral program for recommending candidates. Through job rotation, 

SIT encourages professional development and fosters adaptability, capturing aspirations and offering new 

challenges to people who are ready to take on a new role. 

For all new hires, SIT offers an onboarding program called the Employee Journey, a gradual integration 

into the business designed to provide a welcoming experience and support socialization within the 

Company. A significant part of the onboarding program is dedicated to the induction plan, which was 

strengthened in 2023 and fully digitalized through the enhancement of the custom application available 

on the company intranet. SIT's induction plan consists of a "journey" organized into multiple 

appointments, called stations, involving all new hires during their first 90 days in the company. The new 

hire meets, through monthly and recurring appointments, the representatives of the different company 

departments, thus promoting a good understanding of the company's structure and characteristics from 

the very first days, as well as encouraging and facilitating socialization. 

Total Reward 

SIT's human resources management approach is oriented towards the Total Reward Strategy, an approach 

that considers the multiple areas of focus where the company decides to invest strategically to incentivize 

and reward the talent and performance of SIT's people.  
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Aligned with the Employee Value Proposition, the Total Reward Strategy clearly defines the guiding 

criteria for human resource management processes and practices to balance company goals with 

employee motivation, increase performance, improve employee engagement, and strengthen talent 

retention and attraction along four main directions: 

¶ People development 

¶ Compensation 

¶ Welfare and Wellbeing 

¶ Work environment 

SIT's policies in this area are aimed at ensuring equal opportunities, supporting, and promoting a culture 

based on meritocracy, equality, and respect for diversity, with the broader goal of supporting sustainable 

personal growth and generating a positive, safe, and stimulating work environment. 

People development 

In 2023, development and training proposals remained aligned with the hybrid organizational model, 

favouring various modes of participation, both in-person and remote, thus ensuring greater 

engagement and accessibility, even from different Group plants. In 2023, approximately 35,151 hours 

of training were delivered across the Group, equivalent to about 17.5 hours of training per capita. 

In 2023, SIT strengthened and enriched the training offerings of the digital academy Skills-Up: the 

innovative platform that offers current, modern, and interactive training courses divided into 

"modules" within broader programs, available in both Italian and English. Platform access saw an 18% 

increase in users compared to 2022, with the user population growing by 14% compared to the launch 

year. 

Within the digital academy, three categories of content are developed: Corporate Culture, Individual 

Development, and Group Compliance. The Corporate Culture section includes training proposals 

accessible to the entire user group on company values, ethical and sustainable organizational culture, 

through the creation of pathways that reflect the company's values in their expression and behavioural 

articulation. The Individual Development proposals are personalized based on the individual's needs 

concerning their skill enhancement requirements. For the Compliance section, customized training 

sessions are offered, internally developed on governance and compliance topics. 
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Throughout 2023, various initiatives were undertaken to strengthen engagement in Sustainability, a 

fundamental value for SIT, with a total of 420.5 hours of training delivered involving a total of 173 people. 

Particularly significant was the άFast Track Training program: Sustainability Culture and Futureέ held by 

SIT's Mission Leaders. The webinars, involving 154 employees from the Research & Development, Finance 

& Legal, and Supply Chain departments in three different sessions, aimed to share the sustainability 

strategy, roles, and actions converging in the "Made to Matter" Sustainability Plan. Each session was 

customized based on the participants, with an ad hoc structuring of the various topics related to the 

departments and the skills of the audience. 

Furthermore, thanks to the adherence to the United Nations Global Compact, SIT employees had 

voluntary and unrestricted access to a wide range of online courses on ESG topics provided through the 

United Nations Global Compact Academy, a platform managed directly by the initiative's headquarters. 

In 2023, the commitment of internal Academies under the Knowledge sharing format continued. The most 

qualified employees made themselves available as internal trainers within the company, disseminating 

their specific knowledge and skills to colleagues from other functions. The transfer of internal skills and 

their capitalization are also planned for the benefit of colleagues in internship positions who, supported 

by their tutors, experience work practice while continuing their learning process. 

Compensation 

SIT is committed to implementing salary review initiatives based on a meritocratic and objective vision 

aimed at enhancing everyone's contribution and moderated by rewarding logics based on performance 

and potential. 

The tools of the Compensation system at SIT include: 

¶ Base salary & increase 

¶ Short-term incentives (MBO and performance bonuses) 

¶ Long-term incentives (including instruments such as Performance Shares, Stability Pack, and 

Restricted Shares) 

¶ Benefits & Welfare (supplementary health care, support for families and childcare) 
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In its personnel management policies, SIT has always promoted stable and long-lasting employment 

relationships, also favouring contractual formulas that can meet the need for greater flexibility and 

dynamism among its employees. 

SIT adheres to the regulations in force in the various countries where the Group's production plants and 

commercial offices are located. 

The company recognizes the Trade Unions signatory to the national collective labour agreement and their 

territorial representatives as natural counterparts in all negotiations and discussions, whether they are 

aimed at economic-normative management of work organization-related issues or maintaining 

employment levels. 

Since 2021, following the internationally recognized Global Grade System methodology, SIT has 

implemented a banding structure for all strategic organizational positions within the Italian perimeter. 

The implemented system allows for mapping and weighting of the company's roles within the Italian 

territory and for most of the strategic roles located in foreign offices. 

The SIT banding structure applied to Compensation systems allows for monitoring compensation levels 

with reference to external competitiveness benchmarks and ensuring internal equity through solid and 

objective criteria, guiding the remuneration adjustment process in a fair and merit-based logic. 

L.T.I. ς Long Term Incentive  

On April 29, 2021, the Shareholders' Meeting of SIT approved the medium to long-term incentive plan 

(referred to as L.T.I. ς Long Term Incentive), benefiting the employees of the Company and its subsidiaries, 

as well as the Advisory Board. The plan involves the free allocation of a maximum of 794,479 shares of 

the Company and is structured into (i) a Performance shares plan, where the allocation of shares is 

conditioned on achieving certain performance objectives; (ii) a Restricted shares plan, where the 

allocation of shares is conditioned on maintaining the relationship with the Company over a 

predetermined period, and (iii) a plan for shares reserved for the Advisory Board, under which the 

allocation of shares will be conditioned on the increase in the price of SIT shares over a predetermined 

period. 

As for the Performance shares plan, it is divided into three rolling allocation cycles (the plan cycles), each 

lasting three years, at the end of which the shares will be allocated free of charge, subject to: (i) the 

continuation of the relationship between the beneficiary and the Group at the end of the allocation 
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period; (ii) the achievement of performance objectives calculated with reference to the following: a) 

Cumulative adjusted EBITDA over the three-year period; b) Adjusted net financial position at the end of 

the period; c) ESG indicator, meaning the recognition of a certain score by the EcoVadis certification body. 

The Performance shares plan also includes a lock-up clause of 1 year for the respective beneficiaries for a 

certain percentage of the allocated shares. 

The Restricted shares plan also has a three-year duration, at the end of which the shares will be allocated 

free of charge if, on the allocation date, the beneficiary's relationship with the Company or the relevant 

subsidiary of the Group is still ongoing and their status as a beneficiary has not changed, subject to what 

is provided in the regulations regarding the usual definitions of good leavers and bad leavers. 

Similarly, the plan for the Advisory Board also has a three-year duration, at the end of which the shares 

will be allocated free of charge if, on the allocation date, the beneficiary's relationship with the Company 

is still ongoing and certain objectives regarding the increase in the price of SIT stock have been achieved. 

The L.T.I. plan, as conceived, aims to align the interests of various stakeholders in the medium to long 

term, particularly shareholders and managers in top or strategic positions. The organizational scope 

resulting from this initiative is significant within the SIT Group, as the number of employees eligible for 

the plan is particularly high, involving both Italian and foreign personnel. 

Welfare and Wellbeing  

In 2023, SIT strengthened its Welfare and Wellbeing policies by paying particular attention to the 

protection of the physical and mental health of its employees, promoting initiatives with broad 

accessibility and inclusivity that foster opportunities for balance and well-being. The promoted initiatives 

have impacted areas such as increasing purchasing power regarding fringe benefits, facilitating work-life 

balance, and fostering a climate of personal and professional health and well-being. Noteworthy is the 

launch of the Parental Policy in March 2023, supporting parenthood with concrete initiatives and 

measures offered during the prenatal period and immediately after the birth or the child's entry into the 

family, until the child turns three, to facilitate the return to work and work-life balance for its people.  

Regarding family support, another safeguarded dimension, SIT's partnership with the ISTUD Business 

School has been added to what has already been consolidated in previous years. This tangible benefit 

ensures favourable conditions for the children and siblings of employees to access the school's specialized 

Master's programs. 
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WELFARE 

The company confirms its support for the purchasing power of employees and their families by further 

strengthening the share of flexible benefits on top of what is consolidated by the National Collective Labor 

Agreement (CCNL) and in addition to the already reinforced welfare portfolio from previous years. The 

strengthening of corporate welfare policies, as a tool to support families, is a concrete sign of social 

responsibility, especially in the current socio-economic context. 

The welfare budget available to SIT employees can be utilized through the Edenred platform, which offers 

a wide range of services through which employees can use their welfare credit for themselves and their 

family members. Additionally, during the year, it was decided to further expand the basket of services by 

focusing on those that employees themselves have shown the most interest in. 

¢ƘŜ άIŜŀƭǘƘ CǳƴŘέ Ƙŀǎ ŀƭǎƻ ōŜŜƴ ƳŀŘŜ ŀǾŀƛƭŀōƭŜΣ ŀƭƭƻǿƛƴƎ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ǊŜƛƳōǳǊǎŜƳŜƴǘ ƻŦ ǎǇŜŎƛŀƭƛǎǘ ƳŜŘƛŎŀƭ 

expenses for care categories previously not covered, expenses for medications and over-the-counter 

drugs, and medical devices that were not previously recognized. Additionally, employees can benefit from 

a wide range of affiliated healthcare professionals throughout Italy. To address the rising costs of utilities, 

the option to request reimbursement for household utility expenses using one's welfare portfolio has 

been added.  

WELLBEING 

As part of the initiatives to promote the well-being of people at SIT, to ensure support in managing and 

preventing stress and to foster better personal and emotional balance, several projects were carried out 

in 2023 under the framework of the SIT People Program BE. 

The primary goal remains to facilitate engagement with disciplines and techniques that enable individuals 

to recognize their cognitive and physical resources in relation to their state of balance, as well as to 

emphasize the centrality of the individual and their well-being. 

The three categories of initiativesτWellness in the Workplace, Wellness in Action, and Wellness in Flowτ

were launched in 2022 and consolidated in 2023 with the initiation of structured programs. 

{ǘŀǊǘƛƴƎ ŦǊƻƳ WŀƴǳŀǊȅ нлноΣ ǿƛǘƘƛƴ ǘƘŜ ²ŜƭƭƴŜǎǎ ƛƴ !Ŏǘƛƻƴ ŎŀǘŜƎƻǊȅΣ {L¢ ƳŀŘŜ ǘƘŜ άtǎȅŎƘƻƭƻƎȅ ŀƴŘ 

9Ƴƻǘƛƻƴǎέ ǎŜǊǾƛŎŜ ŀǾŀƛƭŀōƭŜΦ ¢Ƙƛǎ ǎŜǊǾƛŎŜ ƛǎ ŘŜŘƛŎŀǘŜŘ ǘƻ ǇǊƻƳƻǘƛƴƎ ǇŜǊǎƻƴŀƭ ŀƴŘ ǿƻǊƪǇƭŀŎŜ ǿŜƭƭ-being 

through freely accessible sessions for all SIT employees, including both white-collar and blue-collar 

workers across the Group. These are individual online appointments with a professional psychologist who 
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provides support for discomfort with the aim of emotional balance and guidance. A professional is 

available for free, digital, anonymous sessions. The service is uniquely accessible in both Italian and 

9ƴƎƭƛǎƘΣ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ǇǎȅŎƘƻƭƻƎƛǎǘΩǎ ŀǾŀƛƭŀōƛƭƛǘȅ ǎŎƘŜŘǳƭŜd to accommodate personnel located in the Group's 

foreign branches. 

Work environment 

The project for the new SIT Headquarters, located just a few meters from the historic offices, involves a 

dual intervention aimed at creating a technological campus that is modern and designed to embrace the 

future. This campus will feature indoor and outdoor spaces that respect the environment, people, and the 

local community. 

The first phase, completed at the beginning of 2024, resulted in the construction of an entirely new 

technological building. This new architectural structure with its sinuous formsτresembling a spaceshipτ

is named S_Lab and houses the Research and Development department. The second phase, currently 

nearing completion, involves the redevelopment of the industrial production warehouses, which will 

accommodate the executive offices and laboratories. These spaces are characterized by great flexibility 

to meet different work needs. 

The project places significant emphasis on environmental sustainability, with a particular focus on energy 

efficiency. A photovoltaic system will produce part of the renewable energy needed to cover some of the 

company's energy requirements, while the environments will be climate-controlled with high-efficiency 

renewable energy systems, additionally recovering heat generated by boilers active in the R&D 

laboratories. The lighting systems will be managed intelligently through advanced technologies to reduce 

energy consumption, thereby contributing to the company's sustainability. 

The SIT campus symbolizes and promotes social sustainability, beginning with functional access for people 

with different abilities. Attention has also been given to the design of the interior environments, following 

a sustainable approach that synergizes with the social aspect, respecting the various business and 

personal needs of those who work at SIT. The spaces, their distribution, and their furnishings have been 

designed in continuity with the hybrid organizational model, characterized by on-site presence and 

remote working. The management of the spaces is automated through reservation systems accessible to 

all employees, for various locations and across all locations, made recognizable by equipment and 

capacity. 
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Sustainability Culture  

For the Group, it is essential to adopt and promote a culture of Sustainability, understood as a long-term 

commitment to every aspect of the company's activities, from product design to resource management, 

and relationships with employees, customers, and partners. 

In particular, SIT is committed to minimizing the environmental impact of its activities, adopting 

sustainable practices for resource use, fostering a culture of diversity and inclusion, and working to 

improve the social and economic conditions of the communities in which it operates. 

SIT's journey towards sustainability began with redefining its Mission and Vision, constructing the Green 

Paper, and establishing Sustainability Governance. These actions have gradually led the company towards 

achieving significant projects and milestones, such as joining the United Nations Global Compact and 

receiving various awards and recognitions in the ESG field. 

To raise awareness and engage employees in the UN Global Compact initiative, the year started with a 

series of webinars about SIT's adherence to the program. These webinars were held during working hours, 

were voluntary, and offered in two languages, with the aim of informing and sharing SIT's international 

commitment with all employees, and raising awareness about the importance of a sustainable global 

economy and Corporate Social Responsibility. 

In honour of the "International Day for the Elimination of Violence Against Women," celebrated annually 

in November, SIT reinforced its commitment through both physical and online initiatives focused on 

information, training, and awareness on the topic. These initiatives provided an opportunity for reflection, 

fostering dialogue and discussion through projects involving both the Italian and international plants of 

the Group. SIT declares zero tolerance towards all forms of violence and discrimination, and throughout 

2023, it shared its stance through internal and external dissemination activities directed at key 

stakeholders. 

Embodying one of the company's values, "Lead by Example," in 2023 SIT designed two programs aimed 

both internally and externally to share and raise awareness on sustainability topics. The Sustainability 

Corners held in June involved the Italian plants with the aim of sharing ongoing sustainability projects and 

thus generating greater culture and awareness of environmental and social sustainability, with a particular 

focus on multiculturalism. 
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"SIT Supplier Suite" is the name of the monthly newsletter sent by the Supply Chain department to the 

suppliers of the Heating & Ventilation division throughout 2023. This initiative sees SIT sharing the most 

significant aspects of its internal projects and the Sustainability journey it embarked on in 2018, in line 

with its origins, history, and values. This informative program, through short textual and video content, 

narrates some of the sustainable activities SIT is working on, aiming to stimulate mutual attention to 

sustainability as a value and concrete action, sharing its vision of the future. 

Every day, SIT strives to engage its people and promote the dissemination and sharing of sustainability 

values and best practices through initiatives designed to make SIT and its activities a sustainable and 

responsible place. In 2023, materials, columns, webinars, and specially organized events were made 

available to employees, with the goal of raising awareness and enhancing knowledge of ESG topics. 

  

Diversity, Inclusion and Equal Opportunities  

SIT is committed to ensuring respect for equal opportunities and recognizing national and international 

laws in conducting its activities to support and promote, with its internal and external stakeholders, a 

culture based on meritocracy, equality, and respect for all kinds of diversity. 

SIT adheres to, shares, applies, and supports the set of 10 fundamental principles established by the UN 

Global Compact related to human rights, labour standards, environmental protection, and anti-corruption 

efforts. 

In 2023, in line with the declared objectives of the "Made To Matter" Sustainability Plan, SIT further 

strengthened its corporate policy framework in the ESG area. The company published three policies, 

approved by the Board of Directors, aimed at protecting the rights, equal opportunities, inclusion, and 

diversity of all people acting in the name or on behalf of the SIT group: 

¶ Human Rights Policy; 

¶ Code of Conduct (updated in 2023); 

¶ Diversity & Inclusion Policy. 

Through the adoption and dissemination of these three policies, SIT takes another step forward in the 

concrete implementation of its values, establishing rules and safeguards to enhance human capital in its 

precious breadth and variety. This commitment reflects the strategic role that diversity and inclusion play 
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within a management style aimed at valuing individual contributions in work groups, fostering a 

collaborative, inclusive, and respectful work environment. 

Certification of Gender Equality 

As part of the "Made To Matter" Sustainability Plan's objective, SIT achieved the Gender Equality 

Certification for the Group's companies in April 2023, according to the UNI/PDR 125:2022 reference 

practice. 

This certification attests to SIT's entrepreneurial orientation, which is founded on valuing people and their 

work, providing an environment where everyone can pursue their ambitions and realize their potential in 

an inclusive and equitable context. Inclusion, support for diversity, and gender equality are seen as values 

that form the basis for creating a balanced work environment, grounded in meritocracy, where the 

corporate culture can be a strategic element capable of generating value. 

The certification, valid for three years and issued by the certification body Kiwa, aligns with the "Made 

with Care" pillar of SIT's Sustainability Plan, dedicated to Social Responsibility. It is the result of a 

structured journey towards equity, equality, and inclusion, demonstrating the company's excellence in all 

areas covered by the certification. 

 

WorkersΩ Health and Safety   

Among the topics that SIT considers of primary importance are the health and safety of workers, which 

are protected with the objective not only of complying with current regulations but also of constantly 

striving to improve working conditions. This commitment is realized through careful management aimed 

at ensuring each employee a suitable work environment and working conditions that respect individual 

dignity. 

Information, training, and instruction conducted by expert personnel, both internal and external to the 

company, are of extreme value, contributing to added awareness. Specifically, in Italy in 2023, numerous 

training courses were conducted on safety, health, and emergency management, totalling approximately 

2,675 hours, reaching a total of 14,714 hours worldwide, which is 46% of all training provided. 

Regularly, both in Italy and abroad, there is periodic monitoring of risks and assessment of accidents to 

prevent incidents and continuously improve health and safety conditions at the various group sites. 
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Additionally, the company continuously plans and carries out maintenance and improvements to 

equipment, structures, and production processes. 

The Group maintains constant constructive collaboration with workers' representatives, with whom 

periodic meetings are scheduled to jointly analyze risks based on health and safety hazards. During these 

meetings, improvement measures are shared and implemented, taking organizational changes into 

account. In all SIT Group plants, there are joint committees composed of worker representatives and 

company representatives that address and manage health and safety issues in the workplace. 

Industrial Relations 

SIT considers its employees a crucial resource for creating value within the organization and a 

fundamental factor for its success. In its personnel management policies, SIT has always promoted stable 

and long-term employment relationships, also favouring contractual arrangements that meet the 

employees' needs for greater flexibility and dynamism. 

For managing industrial relations, SIT adheres to the regulations in force in the various countries where 

the group's plants and commercial offices are located. The company recognizes the trade unions that sign 

the national collective labour agreement and their local representatives as the natural counterparts in all 

discussions and negotiations, whether they are economic-normative in nature aimed at managing work 

organization issues or maintaining employment levels. 

Industrial relations occupy a significant space in human resource management, considering the 

geographical spread of SIT's activities both in Italy and abroad. Within the pursued business strategies, 

SIT's primary objective is to enhance work, professional qualifications, and improve employee satisfaction 

levels, all within the framework set by legal and contractual regulations. Achieving these goals is strategic, 

with the involvement of trade union counterparts in an increasingly functional system of industrial 

relations aimed at achieving beneficial results for both the company and the employees. 

SIT, while adhering to the provisions of the national collective labour agreement (CCNL), supports the 

importance and centrality of the right to information as an essential element of a correct and transparent 

system of industrial relations. This system is based on the method of dialogue and preventive information, 

with mutual recognition of roles, prerogatives, and competencies. Emphasizing the importance of this 

principle, SIT defined a model of industrial relations in the past year with monthly meetings with all the 
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union representatives (RSU) present in the company, particularly addressing issues related to safety 

development plans, including the implementation methods of these plans concerning work organization. 

Regarding the production plants in Italy, in addition to the application of the national collective labour 

agreement, almost all employees are ensured additional coverage through second-level bargaining, which 

aims to enhance worker involvement in achieving the specific goals of each plant. 

Over 90% of the Group's employees are covered by collective bargaining agreements. 

 

SIT Foundation 

The SIT Foundation ς Sport Inclusion Talent Ets was established to shape SIT's social commitment by 

creating and promoting educational projects through sports. It became operational in 2023 with various 

events and projects carried out throughout the year. The dialogue initiated with institutions and the world 

of associations immediately accredited the SIT Foundation as a significant interlocutor in the Third Sector. 

The Foundation aims to be a home away from home, a place where people can engage in sports, study, 

and spend time together in a safe, healthy, and stimulating environment. In doing so, the following 

objectives and areas of intervention have been identified: 

¶ Offering services to families; 

¶ Addressing educational poverty; 

¶ Combating school dropout; 

¶ Promoting healthy lifestyles; 

¶ Fighting sedentary behaviour and childhood obesity. 

The SIT Foundation was officially presented on May 9 with a launch event featuring Sara Simeoni, Olympic 

champion and former world record holder in the high jump. Besides institutional guests, the event was 

attended by boys and girls from the main athletics clubs in Padua. The hashtag chosen for the event was 

#RaiseTheBar, teaching young people to aim high, like Sara Simeoni, an icon not only in sports but also in 

society, a model of female empowerment through sports, and a representation of the Italian ability to 

overcome obstacles without losing their smile and light-heartedness. 

In the summer, the SIT Foundation participated in the Summer Camps organized by the University Sports 

Center (CUS) of Padua. Through the agreement signed with CUS, the 2023 edition was the most successful 

in the 31-year history of the Summer Camps. In addition to overwhelmingly positive feedback from 
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families, the numbers certify the highest participation ever: 1,062 children and teenagers participated in 

the activities, totalling 2,819 weeks booked. Among them, 23 children and teenagers with disabilities 

participated for free thanks to the CEI (Inclusive Summer Camps) project. The Summer Camps were active 

for 12 weeks (with only one week off during mid-August) and involved both CUS Padua locations. The SIT 

Foundation contributed to the 2023 Summer Camps by providing uniforms for all instructors and 

participants and ensuring daily creative workshops and school return assistance with the "Back to School" 

initiative through educators from  άBottega dei Ragazzi άCooperative. 

Starting in September 2023, SIT Move, an after-school service combining homework assistance, sports, 

and play in the same equipped space and green area, was launched in collaboration with CUS Padua and 

άBottega dei Ragazziέ. The target audience is primary school children and lower secondary school students 

(ages 6-14), who are welcomed every afternoon from Monday to Friday within the CUS Padua facilities by 

educators and instructors with the opportunity to use study rooms and sports facilities. 

RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY 

The Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) process is an integral part of the group's Internal Control and Risk 

Management System (ICRMS). It is carried out every six months according to a consolidated model 

(Enterprise Risk Model), which provides for a group-wide risk assessment over a time horizon consistent 

with the Company's multi-year strategic plan. This involves the main company departments/functions. 

The risk assessment is conducted based on impact/probability parameters defined by a matrix (Risk 

Scoring Scale) that classifies risks into major and minor categories. This approach ensures: (i) greater 

timeliness and incisiveness in the identification of risks; (ii) a more assiduous frequency in follow-up 

activities related to the remediation plans agreed upon with top management; (iii) greater compliance 

with risk mitigation needs following the strategic objectives defined in the Strategic Plan. 

The current model provides for the following macro-categories of risks: 

1. External risks 

2. Strategic risks 

3. Operational risks 

4. Legal & Compliance Risks 

5. ESG Risks 

6. Financial risks  
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Starting from 2022, potential risks related to the achievement of the group's Sustainability Plan ("Made 

To Matter") objectives, and more generally, aspects related to Environment, Social, and Governance (ESG) 

issues, were also subject to specific analysis. Therefore, for coordination with the Group's NFS, these risks 

are included in a new category (ESG risks). 

Per the model described above, the following activities were carried out in 2023: 

1. risk assessment ς aimed at identifying and assessing new emerging risks, as well as defining 

appropriate "mitigation plans", where deemed necessary;  

2. follow-up ς aimed at updating the impact/probability assessment of the risks identified in 

previous sessions, also based on the progress of the related "mitigation plans". 

The results of ERM's activities were presented first to the Control, Risk and Sustainability Committee and 

the Board of Statutory Auditors and, subsequently, to the Board of Directors, so that the Board of 

Directors can use them as a fundamental tool in defining the guidelines and coordination on risk 

management, as required by the ICRMS. 

Country Risk 

Given its international presence, SIT Group is exposed to the so-called country risk, i.e. the risk of possible 

changes in the political and socio-economic conditions of a given geographical area. However, this risk is 

mitigated by adopting a policy of diversification of businesses by product and geographical area, allowing 

the risk to be balanced at the Group level. 

The location of a production hub in Tunisia of the SIT group, which supplies electronic boards and 

mechanical components to the Heating & Ventilation and Smart Gas Metering Business Units, exposes the 

group to risks linked to the country's political and institutional instability, aggravated by the economic 

crisis. Currently, the Tunisian situation is at the center of economic and political debates among European 

governments, which are pressuring the International Monetary Fund to provide a loan to stabilize the 

country's economic situation. 

In any case, the group continues to closely monitor political and economic developments, supported by a 

network of contacts and relations with business communities and international and local institutions. It 

should be noted, however, that in the localization policy in Tunisia, efforts have been made, where 

possible, to implement a double sourcing logic. This allows local production to be started within a 
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reasonable time at other Group offices or with other suppliers if production is interrupted due to the 

country's contingent situation. 

With reference to the impact of the Russia-Ukraine and Middle East conflicts, the impacts on the 

operations of the SIT group are being continuously monitored. Although the group does not hold direct 

investments in these two countries, the risks monitored can be traced back to two areas, both pertaining 

to the Heating & Ventilation segment: 

- from a commercial point of view, as of July 10, 2022, the Company has limited its direct relations with 

Russia only to Heating & Ventilation products for which no sanctions are in force; 

- from a supply chain point of view, the production of electronic boards for the Heating & Ventilation 

segment is taking place regularly in the plant of a US multinational supplier located in Ukraine near the 

western border. To mitigate supply-related risks, the Company has reduced its purchase quotas and 

launched an insourcing plan for electronic boards, which is proceeding as planned to reduce operational 

and business continuity risks. 

Strategic Risks 

Innovation 

The SIT Group operates in market sectors characterized by high competitiveness in terms of technological 

innovation of products, confronting, in this context, with multinational groups. While the SIT Group is 

exposed to risks associated with technological evolution, its ability to correctly interpret market needs 

can translate into opportunities by offering innovative, technologically advanced, and competitively 

priced products. To maintain a competitive advantage, SIT invests substantial resources in both research 

and development activities on existing and new technologies. 

In 2023, the Company continued its efforts to seek and define external collaboration agreements to access 

specialized resources and accelerate the development of new products. Notable developments include: 

- the strategic agreement, signed in November 2022 a leading operator in the Water Metering (GWF) 

sector to establish a joint venture for developing and producing an ultrasonic water meter. This was 

followed by the signing of the Joint Venture Agreement on April 20, 2023, leading to the incorporation of 

"Aquametric Solutions, S.A." under Portuguese law on January 15, 2024. 
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- the corporate agreement to acquire a minority stake in UpSens, an SME specializing in developing devices 

for monitoring indoor environmental parameters, both standard and custom, with specific expertise in air 

quality. This was finalized on January 17, 2023. 

- the establishment, on July 7, 2023, of Hybitat Srl, the joint venture of SIT and E-novia to develop a new 

hydrogen generation and storage system for residential use;  

- the partnership agreement signed with Panasonic Industry in November 2023 for developing a complete 

fan solution designed specifically for residential heat pumps. 

- the strategic industrial transaction to establish SIT MBT aiming to position itself as a European leader in 

the design and production of fans for cooker hoods, induction hobs and pellet stoves through the 

development of innovative products with high energy efficiency, an operation which, on December 13, 

2023, led to the signing of the Investment Agreement according to and for which SIT will become the 

holder of a stake in the SIT MBT equal to 70% of the share capital. 

The consolidated policy of collaboration with leading universities and research centers, particularly in the 

STEM area, continues. The new R&D laboratories at the new headquarters became operational in early 

2023.   

For risks related to innovation arising from the energy transition, please refer to the section on ESG Risks 

ς Climate Change for a comprehensive description of the management policies implemented. 

Operational risks 

Supply chain 

In recent years, global events such as the pandemic, geopolitical instability from the Russia-Ukraine 

conflict, and tensions between the United States and China in the Pacific, along with inflation recovery 

linked to energy price volatility, have led to a reassessment of the supply chain's role within the Company. 

The new management paradigm aims to secure components, materials, and services at the right price, on 

time, and with high quality while promoting ethics and sustainability, developing stable relationships, and 

ensuring innovation and technological development throughout the supply chain. 

In 2023, the supplier management process was consolidated by applying ESG criteria in the engagement, 

evaluation, and selection phases. The Company has defined appropriate policies for managing suppliers 

to increase contractual coverage and maintain more transparent, stable, and clear relationships, in line 
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with the SIT Code of Ethics. To measure business conduct and engage suppliers proactively, SIT chose 

EcoVadis to assess the sustainability of its supply chain. 

During 2023, the risks associated with component procurement that characterized the 2022 financial year, 

particularly in electronics, decreased. The Company offset the related higher costs through appropriate 

pricing policies towards customers. It should be noted, however, that due to the high inflation rate that 

characterized 2023, the risks of high-cost volatility of various product categories and, in particular: 

electronic components, batteries, and certain industrial metals such as steel and packaging in general, 

remained unchanged. As far as the impact of the cost of energy is concerned, it was lower than initially 

forecast, with a reversal of the market trend and reference prices. 

It should be noted that the phenomenon of the shortage of electronic components, which had heavily 

affected supply activity during the 2022 financial year, appears to have been almost completely resolved 

in 2023, allowing purchasing policies to return to ordinary supply channels. However, the sector continues 

to experience very long delivery lead times. 

Given the above and the currently visible future prospects, it cannot be ruled out that market trends in 

raw material purchase prices, particularly energy, may negatively affect the Company's business, income 

statement, balance sheet, financial position, results of operations, and prospects. 

Business interruption 

Business interruption refers to the risk of production sites becoming unavailable, or their business 

continuity being compromised. SIT mitigates this risk through a business continuity procedure that aims 

to reduce the probability of occurrence and implement protections to limit their impact. Mitigation 

actions include diversifying suppliers, creating consignment stock, and using suppliers physically 

contiguous to the production plants where possible. 

To further mitigate any risks from business interruption events, the SIT Group has long maintained a 

special insurance policy covering this risk. 

Product Quality 

SIT considers the risk associated with the marketing of the product to be of fundamental importance, in 

terms of quality and safety. The Group has always been committed to mitigating this risk through quality 

controls both on the internal production process and on suppliers, alongside error prevention activities. 

These activities aim to prevent problems before they occur, using specific robust design methodologies 
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such as Failure Mode & Effect Analysis (FMEA), Quality Function Deployment (QFD) and Advanced Product 

Quality Planning (APQP).  

Between 2022 and 2023, the Company implemented a new Quality organizational structure, based on the 

figures of the so-called "platform quality managers", professional figures specialized in the individual 

business segments (electronics, valves and systems, fans and flues, metering), who guarantee the 

application of high product quality standards and are responsible for homologation and testing activities. 

The Company pays particular attention to compliance issues related to the use of hazardous or polluting 

substances in its production processes and products, also with reference to its supply chain. For this 

reason, SIT completed in 2023 a management system called Material Trade Compliance (MTC), a portal 

for interaction with the supply chain for monitoring the compliance status of SIT products. To date, MTC 

allows to cover the compliance issues regulated by the SIT 4900000 standard in the context of the Conflict 

Minerals regulation, the REACH and RoHS directives, the US Toxic Substances Control Act and an 

additional set called SIT Restricted Substances that allows you to monitor potential future criticalities in 

the procurement. 

Legal & Compliance Risks 

Compliance with regulations and laws 

SIT is exposed to the risk of not promptly adapting to evolving laws and regulations in its sectors and 

markets. Of particular importance are the rules applicable to the Parent Company as a company listed on 

the Euronext market of the Italian Stock Exchange, as well as the regulations on intellectual and industrial 

property rights, competition, health and safety of workers, environmental protection, and the processing 

of personal data under European Regulation 2016/679 (GDPR), administrative liability of entities 

(Legislative Decree 231/01), protection of savings and regulation of financial markets (Law 262/05), and 

EU and national antitrust legislation. 

To mitigate these risks, each company function oversees the evolution of relevant regulations, making 

use, if necessary, of external consultants.  

The Parent Company, as an issuer listed on Euronext Milan, has consolidated its corporate governance 

system by adapting it to the provisions of current legislation and best market practices, both in terms of 

roles, responsibilities and committees, and in terms of procedures and policies.  
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Contractual risks 

With regard to the management of any disputes, the Company's Legal Department periodically monitors 

the progress of potential or ongoing disputes and defines the strategy to be implemented and the most 

appropriate actions for managing them, making use, if necessary, of leading law firms competent for the 

various jurisdictions where the various Group companies are based. This involves relevant company 

departments and foreign company managers. The Administration, Finance and Control Department 

conducts appropriate assessments regarding these risks and their economic effects. 

Aligned with its Governance objectives linked to the Sustainability Plan ("Made To Matter"), the Company 

has strengthened its compliance framework with laws, regulations, and best practices through the 

drafting, publication, and dissemination of a new Group Code of Ethics and new procedures and policies 

in various areas (human rights, environment, stakeholder engagement, etc.). 

Insurance Coverage 

During 2023, the Company, in collaboration with its insurance broker, continued monitoring and assessing 

the types of risk deemed relevant for insurance purposes and the coverage opportunities offered by the 

market, confirming the ongoing insurance structure. Coverage of main risks such as third-party and 

employee liability, product liability, and civil liability of directors, statutory auditors, executives, and 

managers has been renewed for all Group companies through international insurance programs. This also 

includes damage to company property, including damage caused by production interruption, as well as 

goods during transport and employee-related damages during duty performance. Other policies have 

been taken out locally to protect specific needs and/or comply with local regulations. 

During the fourth quarter of 2023, the Company carried out a scouting for the assignment of the insurance 

brokerage assignment. During the scouting, in which the three main insurance brokers on the 

international market participated, all existing insurance coverage was again analyzed and any 

implementations were analyzed. At the end of this scouting, the brokerage assignment was again 

entrusted to the broker of the previous years. 

ESG Risks 

Climate change  

The risk relates to the potential consequences of climate change on SIT's activities, assessed from a dual 

materiality perspective. 
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On the one hand, the possible impacts of rising global temperatures must be considered in relation to the 

evolution of the Company's business, with particular reference to the so-called "transition risks", related 

to: 

Á introduction of new regulations and product standards;   

Á development of new technologies using alternative energy sources to gas; 

Á evolution of market demand towards applications with reduced CO2 emissions and/or high 

energy efficiency. 

Additionally, "physical risks" associated with the increased frequency of catastrophic natural events (e.g., 

floods, droughts, earthquakes) that could have an impact on the group's business continuity need to be 

assessed. 

SIT has been addressing these risks through constant monitoring of the evolution of sector regulations, 

also being present and participating in the debate of the regulatory bodies of the sectors in which it 

operates, both nationally and internationally, in a constant dialogue with the main stakeholders of 

reference. 

The development of new products and solutions follows eco-design principles, with a strong focus on 

carbon footprint and overall environmental impact. SIT products are designed for alternative combustion 

sources to gas, such as hydrogen and biomethane. 

Business strategies and market responses are oriented towards new sustainable technologies, with 

significant investments in these areas through technological partnerships and diversification into market 

segments like controlled mechanical ventilation and heat pumps, which emphasize sustainability. 

Regarding physical risks, the Company has adopted appropriate emergency management procedures to 

protect business continuity. Risks of this type are constantly monitored through property & business 

continuity risk assessments, with the use of specialized consulting firms in the insurance sector. 

The second perspective, relating to the assessment of risks related to climate change, concerns the way 

in which the Company can intervene in the fight against climate change, with concrete actions that can 

reduce the impact of its operations on the environment, decreasing its carbon footprint and reducing 

emissions and consumption. Contributing to an overall improvement in the well-being of the community 

through the adoption of strategies in line with the objectives set by the international community. 

In this context, SIT can certainly be considered at the forefront of its sector because: 
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Á certified its product carbon footprint measurement system according to ISO 14067:2018 and 

verified the organization's carbon footprint (GHG inventory according to ISO 14064-1 standards; 

Á introduced CFP (Product Carbon Footprint) measurements in the development procedure of its 

products as a fundamental step, combining environmental impact with economic and financial 

assessments; 

Á outlined a multi-year plan to reduce CO2 emissions (scope 1 and 2) in line with the objectives of 

the European Community; 

Á has outlined a multi-year plan to reduce CO2 emissions (scope 3) by working on specific projects 

and providing for substantial involvement of its value chain. 

The Company does not see any significant consequences in the medium term on the development of its 

business, having already taken into account the possible evolution of the demand for its products and 

solutions as part of its strategic planning, carrying out appropriate scenario analysis. 

With reference to long-term scenarios, the Company is closely monitoring the evolution of the debate and 

regulations, especially in the European Union, related to the energy transition, the outcomes and impacts 

of which on the Company's business are currently not entirely predictable. 

The Company will continue to analyze the potential risks associated with the energy transition process, 

functional to the preparation of its strategic plans, in line with the evolution of the relevant legislation 

and the objectives set by its Sustainability Plan in this area.  

Specifically, the business plan, referring to the 2024ς2027-time horizon, incorporates the expected 

downsizing of the domestic gas heating market and the development of new products in growth sectors, 

such as heat pumps, controlled mechanical ventilation and hood ventilation, which exploit technologies 

and markets already covered by the Group and which require specific investments for product 

development. Similarly, growth is expected in product or market segments where combustion will remain 

prevalent (commercial applications, both methane and hydrogen); finally, the plan reflects an expected 

recovery of the US market, on the horizon of which there do not yet seem to be restrictive regulations 

related to applications that use gas as a fuel. 

The development guidelines of Metering, both Smart Gas Metering and Water Metering, are equally 

defined and based on the important investments that utilities in the sector are planning and making for 

the digitization and modernization of distribution networks. 
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This was carefully considered in the main estimation processes that involved the valuations carried out in 

the preparation of the 2023 financial statements. In particular, it is believed that the main balance sheet 

items affected by the risks associated with climate change are goodwill, other intangible assets and 

tangible fixed assets, in particular those used for the production of certain product families.  

With regard to Goodwill, the verification of any impairment losses arising from the impact of climate 

change was carried out with the impairment tests, incorporating in the estimates of future flows, the 

uncertainties related to the legislation governing the domestic heating appliances sector. In particular, in 

the Business Plan, the assumptions on market trends, sales assumptions and strategies to react to the 

expected reduction in turnover of traditional products have been explicitly set out and aligned with the 

objectives linked to current legislation that encourages the use of appliances based on sustainable energy 

(decarbonisation of the sector).  

With this in mind, it should also be noted that the item "Intangible assets under construction" also reflects 

the internal development of new products that the Group is implementing. As part of the Heating & 

Ventilation division, these are components intended for applications to support the decarbonisation of 

the sector - such as fans for electric heat pumps, as well as combustion control systems enabled to manage 

different types of gases including biomethane and hydrogen. In Metering, these are development costs 

for new families of smart meters.  

The impact of the Climate change risk on the value of property, plant and equipment is attributable to the 

risk of obsolescence linked to technological transition processes, for which a more general assessment of 

the production footprint is underway with the aim of defining the most appropriate ways to cope with 

the expected reduction in production volumes of traditional products. In general terms, however, it 

should be noted that in most cases these are assets that have already been depreciated or assets whose 

residual useful life does not exceed the possibility of their use in the current production context, given the 

market prospects over the Plan horizon. 

With reference to the impact of the "physical" risks of Climate change on the value of tangible fixed assets, 

attributable to insurance policies with regard to any impacts deriving from extreme weather events, 

specific assessments have been made from the insurance point of view which include, by way of example, 

damage from atmospheric events such as frost, flooding, floods, landslides and hail. 
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Risk of environmental impact  

The main risks in this area relate to the management of the company's activities, also with reference to 

the value chain considered as a whole. 

The assessments include impact dimensions related to the evolution of environmental regulations, the 

monitoring and containment of polluting emissions, the management of energy consumption and the use 

of natural resources, the correct management and disposal/reuse of waste. 

In this regard, SIT guarantees strict compliance with environmental regulations in all the countries in 

which it operates. The group's main production sites are environmentally certified (ISO 14001:2015) and 

the Rovigo die-casting plant has an Integrated Environmental Authorization. 

Environmental risks are monitored at all levels of the organization through the operation of special 

structures and procedures designed to ensure compliance with regulations and the management of 

periodic checks and monitoring controls, for the performance of which SIT resorts to the use of 

independent laboratories and certification bodies, to guarantee the validity of the data collected and 

compliance with regulations. 

SIT is subject to periodic audits by the environmental supervisory authorities, which are carried out in a 

regime of full transparency and effective cooperation. 

The Company has historically been committed to reducing emissions, improving the 

efficiency/optimisation of energy consumption, recycling and reusing the resources used in production 

processes.  

Also in this case, the Company's level of risk is medium/low, also in consideration of the positive outcome 

of the audits conducted periodically by the supervisory authorities. 

Looking ahead, the Company is in line with regulatory and international standards that require the 

adoption of measures to reduce its environmental impact, which can be considered correctly sized in 

relation to the environmental impact generated. 

Protection of health and safety in the workplace 

The risk assessed relates to SIT's failure to adopt appropriate policies and actions to safeguard the health 

and safety of Group employees and collaborators. 
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SIT is equipped with an organizational safety structure that reflects the requirements of the most 

advanced management systems. The same procedures and principles of conduct apply to the entire 

perimeter of the Group as apply to the perimeter of the Italian production sites, which are subject to the 

most stringent regulations.  

In May 2023, following changes in the group's organizational structure, it became necessary to update the 

security organization chart for SIT S.p.A. The Company has appointed a new Employer pursuant to art. 2, 

letter b) of Legislative Decree no. 81/2008 and its Delegates. 

Each site has company representatives dedicated to Health, Safety & Environment (HSE) matters. In Italy, 

these representatives are coordinated by the Employer as per Legislative Decree 81/2008., At the 

international level, the activities of these structures are coordinated by the Group's HSE Manager, who 

carries out periodic inspections in order to ensure compliance with local and international regulations, 

carry out specific training for local representatives, and define and implement appropriate risk mitigation 

plans in the event of non-conformities detected. 

The entire safety management system is supported by the presence of the appropriate certifications 

issued by the local supervisory authorities, on the definition and execution of safety plans, and on specific 

tools for reporting, analyzing, evaluating, managing, sharing and reporting (from the production plants to 

the Parent Company) of potentially relevant conditions and events and/or aspects that can be improved 

in the health field,  safety and environment. 

Absolute importance is given to the prevention of accidents by regularly organizing training and/or 

refresher courses for workers on the subject. 

Over the years, SIT has not identified, through the activities described above, any particular critical issues 

related to this type of risk and constantly works to improve and monitor the working conditions of 

employees and collaborators, while maintaining a low risk profile. 

Human rights 

The risk relates to potential violations of Human Rights in the context of the activities carried out by SIT, 

with extension to the monitoring of the policies and actions adopted by the Group's main stakeholders. 

SIT continues to invest significantly in the revision of its ESG policy framework. 

In this context, particular attention was paid to the issue of respect for Human Rights, newly included 

among the material issues of the NFS. SIT, in this sense, has provided: 
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Á to renew its Code of Ethics, paying particular attention to the respect and protection of 

Fundamental Rights within the value chain; 

Á the drafting and publication of the group's Human Rights Policy. 

Á the drafting and publication of a policy dedicated to diversity and inclusion (D&I) issues. 

Joining the United Nations Global Compact in October 2022 was a further step in the commitment to the 

full implementation of principles related to social, environmental and anti-corruption issues. To fulfil the 

commitment undertaken by joining the framework, SIT is required to communicate to its stakeholders the 

progress and results achieved in relation to the 10 principles of the Global Compact. This reporting, on an 

annual basis, is required through the compilation of the so-called Communication On Progress (COP), a 

questionnaire built ad hoc by the Global Compact management to allow all member companies to provide 

their stakeholders with an overview of their commitment in relation to the fundamental values of the 

initiative. In December 2023, SIT submitted its first COP, thus maintaining its "Active" status. 

In 2023, SIT ensured the full adoption and dissemination of the aforementioned policies within the Group, 

monitoring their results through appropriate KPIs.  

SIT has also completed the "equal opportunities certification" process pursuant to UNI/PdR 125:2022, 

issued by the certifying body Kiwa. This certification, which is valid for three years and is subject to annual 

monitoring, has seen SIT be virtuous in all six areas that the certification investigates: Culture and Strategy; 

Governance; HR processes; Opportunities for growth and inclusion of women in the company; Gender 

pays equity and protection of parenthood and work-life balance. 

Active and passive corruption 

The risk relates to the adoption of conduct that leads to corruption offences committed by SIT employees 

and collaborators or its relevant stakeholders, in the context of the management of company activities 

and/or in the context of business relations. 

The Company, in general, adopts a zero-tolerance approach to corrupt attitudes and has prepared and 

adopted appropriate policies and procedures to prevent risks of this nature. 

The Italian companies in the Group have adopted Organizational, Management and Control Models 

following the provisions of Legislative Decree 231/01, which defines the rules of conduct and control 

principles to which stakeholders must comply, with explicit reference to offences related to corruption. 
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At the international level, the fundamental principles are defined by the Code of Ethics and the dedicated 

procedures and policies. 

In 2023, SIT reviewed its Anti-Corruption Policy, which was disseminated and implemented at group level, 

through appropriate risk assessment activities, employee training and dedicated monitoring tools. In 

detail, the Policy requires all recipients to adopt behaviors and practices that are not permitted by the 

applicable law on corruption. All members of the corporate structure and external collaborators are 

required to collaborate in the implementation of the relevant anti-corruption prevention measures to 

protect the integrity and reputation of the group. 

The Company has also set up adequate reporting mechanisms, in compliance with the requirements of 

Legislative Decree no. 24/2023, implementing European Directive 2019/1937 on the so-called 

"whistleblowing". In November 2023, SIT's Board of Directors also approved a dedicated tƻƭƛŎȅ ǘƘŀǘ 

ƎƻǾŜǊƴǎ ǘƘŜ ƳŜǘƘƻŘǎ ŦƻǊ ƳŀƪƛƴƎ ŀƴŘ ƳŀƴŀƎƛƴƎ ǊŜǇƻǊǘǎ ƻŦ ƳƛǎŎƻƴŘǳŎǘ ƻǊ ǎǳǎǇŜŎǘŜŘ ǳƴƭŀǿŦǳƭ ŀŎǘǎΣ ŎŀǊǊƛŜŘ 

ƻǳǘ ōƻǘƘ ƛƴǘŜǊƴŀƭƭȅ ŀƴŘ ŜȄǘŜǊƴŀƭƭȅ ǿƛǘƘƛƴ ǘƘŜ ƎǊƻǳǇΣ ǘƻ ŎƻƳōŀǘ ŀƴȅ ŦƻǊƳ ƻŦ ǿǊƻƴƎŘƻƛƴƎ ƻǊ ǳƴŜǘƘƛŎŀƭ 

ŎƻƴŘǳŎǘΦ  

The Company has historically not recorded any episodes of corruption and has a medium/low exposure 

profile to this type of crime, but constantly works to maintain high standards of ethics and integrity. 

Cyber Risks 

Cyber risks for SIT primarily involve: 

Á the improper use by SIT employees and collaborators of the IT infrastructures and devices that 

the Company makes available for the exercise of their work duties; 

Á the Company's exposure to cyber-attacks that could compromise the normal performance of 

business processes/activities and/or the theft or loss of sensitive data, even compromising 

business continuity; 

Á the accentuation of the occurrence of fraud attempts carried out through social engineering 

activities aimed at identifying public information relating to top management figures of the 

company with roles of responsibility in the financial field with the aim of impersonating their role 

and requesting the execution of urgent payments outside normal business processes; 

Á the loss of data or, more generally, the loss of availability of critical IT infrastructures for 

production and business, potentially also due to accidental homes. 
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SIT's IT Department has specific professionals with experience in the cybersecurity field and 

annually defines a risk assessment and management program that includes: 

Á a system of internal policies and procedures that define the main rules of conduct for the use of 

company IT resources by assignees, also regulating physical and logical access to data and 

information; 

Á a continuous updating of IT infrastructures both at HW and SW level, in order to ensure the best 

active and passive protection solutions against external attacks (viruses, ransomware, phishing, 

etc.); 

Á a penetration test and vulnerability assessment program, in order to identify possible gaps in IT 

infrastructures and prepare appropriate remediation plans related to the non-conformities 

detected. 

Á training extended to all employees with a digital identity on cyber risks through the adoption of a 

new training tool; 

Á a Backup and Disaster Recovery infrastructure sized according to the different needs and 

criticalities of the company. 

During 2023, the Company strengthened its facilities and intensified its control activities to mitigate the 

so-called "S.S. cyber risk, maintaining a risk profile in line with the best reference benchmarks. 

Tax risk  

SIT's approach to taxation aligns with the Organization, Management and Control Models per Legislative 

Decree 231/2001, with particular reference to the special sections on the so-called "tax crimes". This 

approach is based on the principles of prudence, responsibility, consistency and transparency towards the 

Company's stakeholders, including the Tax Administrations. All the activities carried out by the Group 

comply with the relevant tax legislation and tax planning is always aligned with commercial activities. 

The individual entities belonging to the Group must comply with the principle of legality, applying the tax 

legislation of each jurisdiction in which the Group operates, to ensure that the rules laid down for the 

subject matter are observed. 

The Group has adopted a set of rules, procedures and principles that are part of the Group's broader 

system of organization and control, which are to be considered fundamental points of reference that all 

parties, about the type of relationship in place with the Group, are required to respect. 
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To promote transparency and collaboration with the tax authorities, the Group prepares specific 

documentation on Transfer Pricing by the provisions of the OECD Guidelines. 

Concerning specific transactions or topics, the Administration, Finance and Control Department is 

supported by external consultants (including specialists in transfer pricing, direct/indirect taxes and taxes 

withheld and paid on behalf of employees) to ensure the best approach in line with legal and transparent 

behaviors. 

It should be noted that the entities belonging to the Group, over the years, have not been subjected to 

investigations that have brought to light fraudulent conduct and/or aimed exclusively at obtaining a 

reduction in the tax burden.   

Reference should be made to the Group's NFS for tax reporting in compliance with GRI 207. 

Financial risks 

The Group is exposed to financial risks related to the following cases:  

Á Market risks: (i) exchange rate risk deriving from operations in currencies other than the functional 

currency of the companies and the Group; (ii) interest rate risk arising from fluctuations in market 

interest rates; (iii) price risk deriving from changes in the market prices of certain raw materials used 

by the Group in its production processes;  

Á Credit risk deriving from commercial relationships with its customers; 

Á Liquidity risk related to the availability of financial resources and access to the credit market. 

The SIT Group has in place corporate policies for exchange rate risk management, interest rate risk 

management and liquidity management approved by the Board of Directors. 

The purpose of these policies is to regulate within a shared framework the management approach, 

objectives, roles, responsibilities and operational limits in financial risk management activities.  

In line with the policies, the Group has centralized the management of the financial risks of its subsidiaries 

in the parent company SIT S.p.A., taking on the role of coordinating processes, operating mechanisms and 

related organizational procedures at the Group level. 

Currency risk 

The Group is subject to the risk deriving from exchange rate fluctuations as it operates in an international 

context in which transactions are conducted in currencies other than the functional currency of the 
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individual investee companies and the functional currency of the Group. The Group's exposure to 

exchange rate risk therefore derives from the geographical distribution of the markets in which it sells its 

products, the location of its production sites and the use of sources of supply denominated in different 

currencies. 

In order to reduce exchange rate risk, it is a general policy to offset, where possible, exposures of opposite 

signs with correlated risk profiles (so-called Natural hedging). 

In the Group's operations, exposure to exchange rate risk normally arises annually at the time of defining 

the sales and purchase lists during the setting of the budget change. 

The Group regularly assesses its exposure and manages the exchange rate risk on net exposure, including 

through the use of derivative financial instruments. Speculative activities are not permitted. 

Notwithstanding the validity of the aforementioned policies and compliance with exchange rate risk 

management practices and procedures, sudden fluctuations in market rates could have negative effects 

on the Group's operations, results of operations, balance sheet and financial position, results of 

operations, and prospects. 

In 2023, the Heating & Ventilation division recorded a 25.8% reduction in sales compared to 2022, as 

better described in the specific paragraph Sales performance; this trend also affected the structure of the 

foreign currency exposure, where there was a significant reduction in the share of revenues in USD from 

20.6% in 2022 to 12.7% in 2023.  The change in the purchasing structure was less marked.  

The following tables show the turnover in thousands of euros, at the average exchange rate for the year, 

respectively of revenues and purchase costs of raw materials, consumables and goods, broken down by 

currency. 

Total revenues by currency:  

(Euro,000) 2023 % Revenue 2022 % Revenue 

EUR 253,759 77.8% 276,171 70.2% 

USD 41,299 12.7% 80,966 20.6% 

CNY 20,326 6.2% 23,095 5.9% 

AUD 5,325 1.6% 7,076 1.8% 

MXN 5,033 1.5% 4,807 1.2% 

GBP 486 0.1% 1,134 0.3% 

Other  33 0.0% 55 0.0% 

Total 326,261 100% 393,305 100% 
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Total purchase costs of raw materials, consumables and goods broken down by currency: 

(Euro,000) 2023 
% 

Purchases 
2022 

% 
Purchases 

EUR 106,817 63.9% 144,074 61.7% 

USD 45,731 27.3% 73,462 31.5% 

CHF 7,249 4.3% 6,145 2.6% 

CNY 4,443 2.7% 6,261 2.7% 

RON 1,986 1.2% 2,162 0.9% 

MXN 695 0.4% 1,149 0.5% 

TND 252 0.2% 276 0.1% 

Other 38 0.0% 44 0.0% 

Total 167,211 100% 233,573 100% 

During the 2023 financial year, in line with company policies, the Company carried out financial hedging 

transactions mainly against net exposures in USD, AUD, GBP, CHF and CNY, while taking due account of 

the reduction in net exposure in USD. 

The exchange rate risk hedging transactions outstanding at the balance sheet date and their fair value at 

the same date are set out in the Explanatory Notes.  

The Group's financial debt is denominated entirely in Euro, while the breakdown by currency of the 

unrestricted bank account assets is shown in the table below: 

 

(Euro,000) 31.12.2023 

Currency 
 

Euro 3,175 

U.S. Dollar 1,758 

Chinese Yuan 2,834 

Mexican Peso 592 

Australian dollar 157 

Other currencies 163 

Total 8,680 

 

With reference to these items in the financial statements, the potential loss deriving from a hypothetical 

unfavorable change in the Euro exchange rate equal to 10% would have a negative impact of Euro 550 

thousand without considering the effect of existing hedges in this sensitivity analysis. 

Interest rate risk 

The Group is subject to the risk arising from fluctuations in market interest rates as it holds assets and 

liabilities that are sensitive to changes in market interest rates. 
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SIT regularly assesses its exposure to the risk of changes in interest rates and manages these risks also 

through the use of derivative financial instruments in accordance with the provisions of the company's 

policies. These policies define the financial instruments that can be used and speculative activities are not 

permitted.  

Notwithstanding the validity of the aforementioned policies and compliance with interest rate 

management practices and procedures, sudden fluctuations in market rates could have negative effects 

on the Group's operations, results of operations, balance sheet and financial position, results of 

operations, and prospects. 

During 2023, in the face of the persistence of the inflation rate and the restrictive policies implemented 

by the main central banks, market interest rates have remained high compared to recent years. By way 

of example, the 6m Euribor rate recorded on December 31, 2021, December 31, 2022 and December 31, 

2023 was -0.546%, 2.693% and 3.877% respectively. 

In this market scenario, the implementation of the interest rate hedging policy was particularly beneficial. 

As of the balance sheet date, the Group had outstanding term loans with a nominal principal amount of 

Euro 134.1 million. These loans are currently covered by Interest Rate Swaps or fixed-rate interest for an 

amount of Euro 106.3 million, equivalent to 79.2% of the underlying value. The average fixed coverage 

rate is 1.49%. 

Hedging transactions outstanding at the date of the financial statements and their fair value at the same 

date are disclosed in the Explanatory Notes. 

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS 

All other things being equal, the effects deriving from a hypothetical increase of 100 basis points in the 

variable interest rate would have led to an increase in financial charges for SIT for the year 2023 of Euro 

393 thousand, taking into account the hedges in place during the period. The same simulation carried out 

for the previous year, again taking into account the existing hedges, would have led to an increase in 

financial charges of Euro 242 thousand. 

Risk of fluctuations in commodity prices 

The production costs of the SIT Group are influenced by the prices of certain raw materials, such as copper 

and aluminium, both as a result of the direct purchase of these raw materials and as a result of the 
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fluctuations in their price on the purchase cost of components and semi-finished products that contain a 

significant quantity of them. 

To mitigate these risks, SIT constantly monitors the availability of raw materials on the market, as well as 

the trend in their price, to promptly identify any shortage situations and then to activate suitable actions 

to ensure the necessary production autonomy and to keep its production cost competitive. In addition, 

the Group, when it deems it appropriate, with the expected trends, enters into financial contracts to 

hedge the risk of fluctuations in raw material prices. 

Compared to the previous year, 2023 marked a trend towards normalization of the main supply markets 

in terms of availability, delivery times and volatility in the costs of raw materials and components ς albeit 

in an inflationary scenario. As far as the impact of the cost of energy is concerned, it was lower than 

initially forecast, with a reversal of the market trend and reference prices. 

It should be noted, however, that due to the persistence of the inflation rate that characterized 2023 and 

the presence of various situations of high geopolitical tension on the international chessboard, the risks 

of high-cost volatility of various product categories including electronic components, batteries, certain 

industrial metals such as steel and packaging in general remained high.  

It should be noted that the phenomenon of the shortage of electronic components, which had heavily 

affected supply activity during the 2022 financial year, appears to have been almost completely reduced 

in 2023, allowing purchasing policies to be implemented in ordinary supply channels. However, the sector 

continues to be characterized by very long delivery lead times. 

Credit risk 

The credit risk deriving from the normal operations of the Group's companies with commercial 

counterparties is managed and controlled as part of the procedures for awarding and monitoring the 

credit standing of customers with the aim of ensuring that sales are made to reliable and solvent 

customers. The credit management activity is coordinated by the Parent Company for all Group 

companies through reporting and periodic meetings and is based on the information available on the 

solvency of customers by considering historical data and associating exposure limits for each customer. In 

addition, the schedule of trade receivables is constantly monitored during the year to anticipate and 

promptly intervene on credit positions that present a higher degree of risk.  
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At the balance sheet date, there are no significant credit risk positions. For further details on the 

composition of trade receivables, please refer to Note 7. 

Working capital 

During 2023, the market slowdown in the Heating & Ventilation sector highlighted a risk related to 

working capital management, with particular reference to the management of inventories. 

Following the strong post-pandemic market recovery, the Company has encountered several issues 

related to shortages of raw materials and components related to production. To mitigate this risk, while 

maintaining an adequate level of customer service in terms of production and delivery times, the Group 

has carried out a series of actions aimed at ensuring the effectiveness of its supply chain, with particular 

reference to the procurement of critical components such as electronics. This policy, which proved to be 

rewarding during 2022, entailed the emergence of a risk related to the increase in inventories, upon the 

occurrence of the significant drop in demand that occurred in 2023. The problem concerns in particular 

the Heating & Ventilation segment of the business and some stocks of Smart Gas Metering electronics. 

Given this situation, the Company has initiated, in particular, appropriate policies for reducing the number 

of inventories in the second half of the year: 

- concerning raw materials, the Company has applied a conservative approach towards suppliers, 

cancelling or postponing a part of non-critical supplies because of the slowdown in production; 

- regarding finished products, stricter conditions have been applied to the customer regarding the 

management of orders in the portfolio, providing for the possibility of cancellation only with adequate 

notice consistent with production and delivery times. 

These management policies have made it possible to reduce the level of stocks compared to the levels 

recorded during the year and are a harbinger of further improvement in the course of 2024. The inventory 

level as of December 31, 2023 was Euro 83.3 million, while it was Euro 98.9 million as of June 30, 2023 

and was Euro 91.4 million as of December 31, 2022. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk may arise from the difficulty of finding the financial resources necessary to ensure the 

operations of the Company and the Group at the required economic conditions and within the required 

timeframe. 



 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ wŜǇƻǊǘ  
 

 
 2023 Annual Financial Report 

80 
 

SIT has adopted a series of policies aimed at optimising the management of financial resources to reduce 

liquidity risk through: 

- monitoring of prospective liquidity conditions with the support of internal business planning 

processes, obtaining credit lines adequate to current and prospective needs. 

- maintaining an adequate level of available liquidity. 

The Group's cash flows, financial requirements and temporary cash equivalents are closely monitored and 

managed centrally by the Parent Company, which carries out the Group's treasury activities and financial 

coordination to ensure effective and efficient management of financial resources concerning changes in 

the macroeconomic conditions of reference.  

During 2023, the contraction in sales recorded in the Heating & Ventilation division, for the reasons better 

described in the Sales Analysis section, led to a reduction in self-financing, only partially mitigated by the 

reduction in trade working capital, while the cash flows for the period were affected by the payment of 

the out-of-court settlement relating to a dispute with a customer and disbursements for operating 

investments.  This leads to a situation of financial tension. 

During the year, new financing transactions were completed to support current operations and liquidity 

needs arising from operating activities: in particular, a loan was signed with BPER for a nominal amount 

ƻŦ ϵр Ƴƛƭƭƛƻƴ ǿƛǘƘ ŀ ƳŀǘǳǊƛǘȅ ƻŦ нп ƳƻƴǘƘǎΣ ŀƴŘ ŀ ƭƻŀƴ ǿƛǘƘ aƻƴǘŜ ŘŜƛ tŀǎŎƘƛ Řƛ {ƛŜƴŀ ŦƻǊ ŀ ƴƻƳƛƴŀƭ ŀƳƻǳƴǘ 

ƻŦ ϵр Ƴƛƭƭion with a duration of 12 months. Both loans are unsecured with a floating interest rate and 

spreads of 1.25% and 0.8% respectively. 

In addition to these transactions, during the year the Group increased the use of bank credit lines for the 

disposal of working capital against existing loans as well as new loans granted by the banking system in 

the second half of the year. 

However, despite these transactions and the measures adopted during the year to contain costs and 

investments, the persistence of the negative economic situation in the Heating & Ventilation segment has 

highlighted the impossibility for the Parent Company to meet certain commitments to repay loans 

provided for the current year and the financial covenants. In view of this, the Parent Company promptly 

entered into the necessary discussions with its lenders and signed an extension and standstill agreement 

on December 29, 2023. 



 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ wŜǇƻǊǘ  
 

 
 2023 Annual Financial Report 

81 
 

The agreement in question provided (i) the extension of the maturity date of the principal amounts due 

on December 31, 2023 to April 30, 2024; (ii) the regular payment as of December 31, 2023 of the amount 

due by way of interest; (iii) the waiver by the lenders until April 30, 2024 to assert the termination, 

withdrawal or forfeiture of the benefit of the term deriving from the extension in question as well as the 

failure to comply with the contractual financial parameters as of December 31, 2023 and finally (iv) the 

commitment of the lenders not to initiate precautionary and/or executive actions or to create liens in 

their favour concerning the outstanding financial debt. 

For the period of validity of the agreement, the Company has undertaken to (i) provide, at certain agreed 

deadlines, information relating to cash forecasts and the evolution of short-term debt; (ii) not to incur 

financial debt in addition to that existing at the date of signature as well as limiting short-term financial 

debt within a certain threshold; (iii) not to distribute dividends. 

The Company has also undertaken to provide lenders by February 28, 2024 with an update of the business 

plan, approved by the Board of Directors on September 15, 2023 to be submitted to an independent 

business review, documents that have supported the further discussions in the meantime begun with the 

banking class for the renegotiation of the financial profile of the debt and the consequent revision of the 

financial parameters being the parameters provided for by the current contracts that are not compatible 

with the Group's short- and medium-term income and financial outlook, as reflected in the updated plan. 

Concerning the future evolution of liquidity, monitored through the preparation of a monthly cash plan, 

the Company believes that in the 2024ς2025-time horizon the financial requirements deriving from 

current operating activities and investing activities will be more concentrated in the first half of 2024, in 

particular due to the foreseeable trend in Heating & Ventilation sales.  in line with recent quarters. The 

cost reduction actions, both variable and structural, implemented during the year will also be able to 

mitigate the financial impact of this trend and, in the meantime, the action to reduce working capital will 

continue, also thanks to the normalization of supply market conditions. The contribution of the Metering 

division is expected to be positive. 

With regard to the instruments to ease the situation of financial tension highlighted in the preamble, the 

cash plan considers the signing on April 22 and 23, 2024 of the agreements ("Agreements") with the credit 

institutions for the renegotiation of the repayment profile and the rescheduling of the final term. In 

particular, the Agreements provide for the extension of the original maturities by 24 months and the 

remodulation of the repayment profile in increasing instalments with the maintenance of the current 
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interim intervals and the start of repayment from the signing of the Agreements without any provision 

for a moratorium period. 

To further support this, the plan has a positive impact, starting from the date of signing of the Agreements, 

deriving from a shareholder loan of Euro 5 million, interest-bearing, with a capitalisation of the related 

financial charges, subordinated to the Company's bank debt.  

The Agreements do not provide for the signing of additional loans or specific forms of automatic 

commitment on the maintenance of any existing short-term loans. 

Finally, the agreements provide for the redefinition of the financial covenants consistent with the financial 

renegotiation described and the economic and financial profile of the business and financial plan. 

After assessing the uncertainty profiles related to the achievement of the results envisaged in the 

approved business and financial plan and the targets for reducing net working capital, taking into account 

the performance of the first months of the current year and the forecasts contained in the updated 

business plan and the aforementioned cash plan, the financial commitments, as rescheduled in terms of 

repayment and debt service as a result of the Agreements,  are considered, in terms of amount and time 

frame, to be consistent with the Group's current and prospective availability. 

ECONOMIC AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE OF THE PARENT COMPANY 
SIT S.P.A. 

Sit S.p.A. operates in the field of design, development, production and marketing of climate control and 

safety systems for domestic heating appliances and industrial cooking systems.  

Net sales for the year amounted to Euro 234.6 million compared to Euro 288.2 million in the previous 

year, marking a decrease of 18.6%. Turnover includes revenues from third-party customers and sales of 

products and components to group companies, as well as royalties invoiced by the company to certain 

production subsidiaries in exchange for the use by these of technical production know-how, non-patented 

technology as well as SIT brand, all owned by the Company.  It should be noted that in 2023, because of 

the reduction in sales accounted by the Mexican subsidiary, revenue from royalties was Euro 4.2 million 

compared to Euro 18.1 million in the previous year. 

Purchase costs, net of changes in inventories, amounted to Euro 152.0 million, equal to 64.8% of revenues, 

up from 63.4% in the previous year. 
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Personnel costs amounted to Euro 44.6 million compared to Euro 45.5 million in the previous year, with 

an EBITDA margin of 19.0% and 15.8% respectively. This item includes Euro 2.5 million relating to charges 

for provisions relating to the staff mobility and reduction procedure launched at the end of 2023.    

Costs for services, amounting to Euro 34.5 million, have an incidence of 14.7% on revenues, compared to 

Euro 35.7 million in 2022 (which was equal to 12.4%).  This item includes Euro 0.8 million charges for legal 

and financial advice relating to debt rescheduling transactions carried out during the year.    

Under the item Amortization, depreciation and impairment of assets, we report the recognition of the 

impairment of goodwill for Euro 17.0 million as a result of the impairment test carried out during the half-

year reporting of 2023. This registration was made considering the trend and scenarios envisaged in the 

use of gas appliances in domestic heating as a result of the energy transition. 

The 2023 operating result therefore amounted to a loss of Euro 30.5 million compared to a profit of Euro 

8.2 million in 2022, with an incidence on revenues of -13.0% and 2.8%, respectively. Net of the items 

mentioned above and the impairment of goodwill, the parent company's operating result amounted to a 

loss of Euro 9.8 million (-4.2% of revenues), while also recovering the royalties that were lost during the 

year, operating income was positive for Euro 4.0 million (1.6% of revenues). 

No income from equity investments was recorded in 2023, which amounted to Euro 2.2 million in 2022. 

Financial income for 2023 amounted to Euro 3.7 million compared to Euro 10.2 million in 2022, which 

included Euro 8.7 million as a change in the fair value of the Warrants issued by the Company and which 

expired and were therefore cancelled in July 2022. Net of the change in the fair value of the Warrant, it 

should be noted that financial income increased from Euro 1.5 million to Euro 3.7 million as a result of the 

increase in loans to group companies ς in particular to the Mexican subsidiary ς and increases in market 

interest rates. 

Financial expenses for 2023 amounted to Euro 7.9 million compared to Euro 4.6 million in 2022. The 

increase is due both to the increase in market rates of approximately 2.5% compared to the previous year 

and to the effect of the increase in both short-term and medium-long term debt ς not hedged but 

contracted at market conditions. The negative economic impact of the financial hedging on energy on 

part of the exposure at the beginning of the year also had an impact  

Profit before tax in 2023 amounted to Euro -34.7 million (-14.8% of revenues) compared to Euro 15.3 

million in 2022 (5.3% of revenues).  
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Taxes for the year include deferred tax assets of Euro 5.4 million compared to taxes of Euro 0.9 million in 

the previous year.  

The net result for 2023 is a loss of Euro 29.3 million, equal to 12.5% of revenues, compared to a profit of 

Euro 14.4 million in 2022, equal to 5.0% of revenues. Net of income and expense reported in the 

calculation of the adjusted net result ς both operating and non-operating ς the adjusted net result for 

2023 is equal to a loss of Euro 9.1 million.  

The financial position as of December 31, 2023 was Euro 147.2 million (Euro 131.7 million as of December 

31, 2022). The breakdown of the net financial position is as follows: 

(Euro,000)   
Composition net financial position (1) 31/12/23 31/12/22 

A. Cash 4 3 

B. Cash equivalents 2,788 12,323 

C. Other current financial assets 22,633 27,370 

D. Cash and cash equivalents (A) + (B) + (C)  25,424 39,696 

E. Current financial debt (including debt instruments but excluding the current 
portion of non-current financial debt) 

35,958 29,322 

F. Current portion of the non-current debt 32,567 18,589 

G. Current financial debt (E + F) 69,525 47,911 
H. Net current financial debt (G - D) 44,101 8,215 

I. Non-current financial debt 63,489 83,944 

J. Debt instruments 39,605 39,520 

K. Trade payables and other non-current payables 0 0 

L. Non-current financial debt (I + J + K) 103,094 123,464 

M. Net Financial Position (H + L) 147,194 131,679 

 

As required by Communication ESMA32-382-1138 of March 4, 2021, it should be noted that the company 

has net liabilities for defined employee benefits of Euro 4,122 thousand (Note no. 16) and provisions for 

risks and charges of Euro 2,098 thousand (Note no. 15) of the separate financial statements. 

The Parent Company has a role of financial coordination for the benefit of the Group's subsidiaries. With 

some companies, both Italian and foreign, it carries out centralized treasury activities also through cash 

pooling systems provided by leading banks. With each of these companies, it maintains one or more 

intercompany current account relationships on which the financial transactions in question are settled. 
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RECONCILIATION OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 

The reconciliation between the Parent Company's shareholders' equity and profit for the period and the 

consolidated shareholders' equity and profit for the period is summarised below: 

 
    

(Euro,000) 

Net Equity at 
31.12.2023 

Profit FY 2023  
Net Equity at 
31.12.2022 

Profit FY 2022  

Statutory financial statements of the parent company 135,954 (29,319) 166,250 14,385 

Difference between the carrying amount of the investments and 
net equity and net profit/(loss) of the consolidated subsidiaries(1)  

11,467 6,630 3,367 2,729 

Elimination of intercompany gains and losses (4,011) (434) (3,852) (656) 

Adjustments in the financial statements of the consolidated 
companies in line with group accounting policies 

(291) (265) (271) (181) 

Elimination dividends from investees - - - (4,955) 

Other adjustments 5 - - (110) 

Minority interest capital and reserves - - - - 

Group & Minority int. consol. financial statements 143,124 (23,388) 165,495 11,213 

(1) This difference is inclusive of the PPA originally accounted and the PPA following the acquisition of JANZ 

INTRA-GROUP AND WITH RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS  

SIT is a joint-stock company incorporated in Italy at the Padua Business Register. 

SIT carries out management and coordination activities pursuant to art. 2497 et seq. of the Italian Civil 

Code for its Italian subsidiary. It is not subject to direction and coordination, pursuant to art. 2497 et seq. 

of the Italian Civil Code, by the parent company ¢ŜŎƘƴƻƭƻƎƛŜǎ {ΦŀΦǇΦŀΦ Řƛ CΦŘΦ{Φ {Φ{Φ 

With regard to transactions carried out with related parties, including intra-group transactions, it should 

be noted that they cannot be qualified as either atypical or unusual, as they are part of the normal course 

of business of the Group companies. 

These transactions are settled at normal market conditions, i.e. on terms that would have applied 

between two independent parties and have been carried out in the interest of the Group.  

At its meeting on June 11, 2021, the Board of Directors of SIT approved the update to the procedure for 

transactions with related parties, pursuant to art. 4 of the Consob Regulation containing provisions on 

transactions with related parties, adopted by Consob with resolution no. 17221 of March 12, 2010 as 

subsequently amended, most recently, with Consob resolutions no. 21623 and 21624 of December 10, 

2020, and published on the website www.sitcorporate.it in the Corporate Governance, Governance 

Documents section.  
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Reference should be made to the Explanatory Notes for detailed information on transactions with parent 

companies and companies under the control of the latter, transactions with other related parties and 

intra-group transactions. 

It should be noted that SIT, SIT Immobiliare S.p.A., SIT Technologies S.p.A. and Metersit S.r.l. have adhered 

for the three-year period 2022 ς 2024 to the National Tax Consolidation procedure, an institution 

governed by Legislative Decree No. 344 of December 12, 2003 and in particular by Articles 117 to 129 of 

the T.U.I.R., with SIT Technologies S.p.A. as consolidator and the other companies as consolidated,  as per 

the resolution of the respective administrative bodies. During the 2020 financial year, the subsidiary SIT 

Metering s.r.l. adhered to the National Tax Consolidation procedure for the three-year period 2020 ς 2022 

and subsequently renewed for a further three-year period, while in 2021 the parent company 

Technologies SAPA of F.D.S. S.S. also joined for the three-year period 2021 ς 2023, both as consolidated. 

Finally, we would like to point out that since the 2020 fiscal year, SIT Technologies S.p.A., as parent 

company, SIT S.p.A., SIT Immobiliare S.p.A. and Metersit S.r.l., as subsidiaries, have adhered to the Group 

VAT settlement procedure, provided for by art. 73 last paragraph of Presidential Decree 633/1972 as 

resolved by the respective administrative bodies in 2019. Since 2022, the subsidiary SIT Metering s.r.l. has 

also adhered to the group VAT procedure, while the parent company Technologies SAPA of F.D.S. S.S. has 

adhered to the 2023 financial year. 

Treasury Shares 

As of December 31, 2023, the Company held 800,409 ordinary treasury shares, with no par value, equal 

to 3.19% of the share capital, none of which were purchased during the year. 
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Performance of Group companies 

The following table shows some indicators on the performance of subsidiaries during the year  

Heating & Ventilation 

(Euro,000)             

Entity  Turnover  Net income Employees 

  2023 2022 diff 2023 2022 diff 2023 2022 diff 

SIT Argentina S.r.l. 35 30 5 3 1 2 - - - 

SIT Gas Controls Pty Ltd 5,372 7,138 (1,766) 248 426 (178) 4 5 (1) 

SIT Controls Canada Inc. 199 310 (111) 5 72 (67) 1 1 - 

SIT Manufacturing (Suzhou) Co. 
Ltd 

22,838 25,367 (2,529) 855 948 (93) 73 61 12 

SIT Controls CR, S.r.o. 1,119 1,503 (384) 561 697 (136) 5 7 (2) 

SIT Controls Deutschland GmbH 1,199 1,282 (83) 216 346 (130) 8 4 4 

SIT manufacturing Na Sa deCV 36,180 75,394   (39,214) 3,017 (5,359) 8,376 169 278 (109) 

SIT de monterrey SA de CV - 7 (7) - 3 (3)  - - - 

SIT Controls BV 31,115 43,112   (11,997) (316) 2,123 (2,439) 118 152 (34) 

SIT Romania Srl 57,144 71,208   (14,064) 1,087 1,377 (290) 407 568 (161) 

SIT Controls USA Inc. 2,029 3,765 (1,736) 26 1,497 (1,471) 5 6 (1) 

Sit Controls Tunisia S.u.a.r.l 46,219 36,082 10,137 2,803 1,843 960 199 242 (43) 

Plast Alfin S.a.r.l. 3,846 3,229 617 67 65 2 73 53 20 

 

Smart Metering 

(Euro,000)       

Entity  Turnover  Net income Employees 

  2023 2022 diff 2023 2022 diff 2023 2022 diff 

MeteRSit S.r.l. 76,657 61,456 15,201 805 1,266 (461) 86 94 (8) 

Metersit Romania S.r.l.*  - 2 (2) - (31) 31 - - - 

Sit Metering S.r.l. 163 158 5 (961) (288) (673) - - - 

Metersit UK Ltd 4 13 (6) (259) (229) (30) 2 2 - 

JANZ ς Contagem e Gestão de 
Fluídos, SA 

29,549 24,745 4,804 2,306 1,678 628 319 287 32 

*Liquidated during 2022 
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE END OF THE YEAR  

During the first months of 2024, the Company obtained the "Gold" rating as part of the annual CSR 

(Corporate Social Responsibility) performance assessment carried out by EcoVadis, an international ESG 

rating agency. 

SIT has improved its rating range compared to the previous rating, obtaining a score of 77/100, moving 

from the 85th to the 98th percentile which places it in the range of the top 2% of companies evaluated by 

EcoVadis (15% the previous year). 

We inform you that the project to downsize the production plant of the Dutch subsidiary announced on 

November 9, 2023, the date of the start of consultations with the competent local bodies, continues 

regularly. In February 2024, the total adherence by the employees concerned in the social plan proposed 

by the branch was formalized. The project is therefore expected to be completed by the first half of 2024. 

At the MCE - Mostra Convegno Expocomfort exhibition, in the edition held between March 12 and 15,  

2024, SIT presented the new fan for residential heat pumps developed in synergy with Panasonic Industry, 

a leading company in HVAC (Heating, Ventilation, Air Conditioning) technologies. This is SIT's debut in the 

electric heat pump sector and is one of the pillars of the Group's strategy in the decarbonisation of the 

domestic heating sector. The aim of the collaboration is to develop a complete fan solution designed 

specifically for residential heat pumps. The distribution of the integrated motor-fan system to the market 

will be carried out by SIT and will be available from the beginning of 2025.  

On January 15, 2024, the Portuguese company Aquametric Solutions, S.A., with registered office in Lisbon, 

was established, in which the SIT Group owns 50% of the share capital. The remaining 50% is owned by 

Swiss technological partner GWF AG. The company will be active in the manufacture of Smartio, a new 

"smart" water meter for residential use based on ultrasonic technology.  

As of April 1, 2024, SIT-MBT S.r.l., an affiliate of SIT that focuses on fans for extractor hoods, officially 

ōŜƎŀƴ ƛǘǎ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƻƴǎΦ ¢ƘŜ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅ ƛǎ ŀ ƳŜǊƎŜǊ ƻŦ {L¢Ωǎ ŘŜŘƛŎŀǘŜŘ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎ ǳƴƛǘ ŦƻǊ ǾŜƴǘƛƭŀǘƛƻƴ ŀƴŘ 

components used in kitchen hoods and pellet stoves, and the entirety of Motors & Blowers Technology 

Srl (MBT), an innovative startup founded by a group of experienced and reputable managers in the 

industry. Additionally, the corporate structure is strengthened by the inclusion of Wentelon, a vendor 

parǘƴŜǊ ǘƘŀǘ ǎǳǇǇƭƛŜǎ ǾŜƴǘƛƭŀǘƛƻƴ ƳƻǘƻǊǎΦ ²ŜƴǘŜƭƻƴΩǎ ǎǘŀǘŜ-of-the-art production facilities in China will 

provide technological support and competitive advantages to this new initiative. 
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Notice is hereby given that on April 22 and 23, 2024, the Company signed a series of agreements with the 

Company's main medium-term lenders to amend the existing loan relationships and that on April 22, 2024 

the bondholders' meeting approved the proposed agreement to amend the rules of the bond loan. 

Regarding certain bank loan relationships, the amending agreements provide for the extension of the 

original maturities by 24 months and the remodulation of the repayment profile in increasing instalments, 

with the maintenance of the current annual and interim maturities. The above-mentioned amending 

agreements - which go beyond the previous standstill regime - also provide for the redefinition of the 

financial covenants applicable to the related medium-term loan relationships in a manner consistent with 

the financial renegotiation described and the economic and financial profile of the Company's new 

business and financial plan.  

The agreements do not provide for the signing of additional loans and specific forms of automatic 

commitment on the maintenance of any existing short-term loans. 

The above-mentioned medium-term loan relationships ς which are not backed by any collateral or 

guarantees ς have also been amended in relation to a series of commitments and limitations already 

provided for originally, as usual in similar contracts. Further limits on the distribution of dividends and 

reserves have also been introduced, varying according to the level of consolidated financial leverage. 

Based on the data as of December 31, 2023, the Company cannot distribute dividends or reserves since 

the ratio between net financial position and EBITDA is higher than the new thresholds provided for this 

purpose by the aforementioned bank loans and bonds, respectively in the ratio of 3.5x and 3x. 

Finally, pricing levels have been adjusted in relation to the trend in the aforementioned consolidated 

financial leverage. 

In the context of the comprehensive renegotiation, a shareholder loan amounting to Euro 5 million was 

provided by the principal shareholder, Technologies S.A.P.A. of F.D.S. S.S. This loan carries an interest rate 

of 5% per annum with the capitalization of related financial charges. It is subordinated to the company's 

financial liabilities and is convertible into company capital and/or equity. This transaction qualifies as a 

minor significance related party transaction under the regulations set forth by Consob in resolution no. 

17221 dated March 12, 2010, as amended and supplemented, and adheres to the Procedure for 

Transactions with Related Parties that the Company adopted on June 11, 2021. 
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As required by the Related Party Transaction (RPT) Procedure, the terms of the shareholder loan 

ŀƎǊŜŜƳŜƴǘ ǿŜǊŜ ǊŜǾƛŜǿŜŘ ƛƴ ŀŘǾŀƴŎŜ ōȅ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ /ƻƳƳƛǘǘŜŜ ŦƻǊ ¢ǊŀƴǎŀŎǘƛƻƴǎ ǿƛǘƘ wŜƭŀǘŜŘ tŀǊǘƛŜǎΦ 

The committee rendered a reasoned non-binding opinion that was favorable, endorsing the Company's 

decision to enter the agreement based on the perceived benefits, convenience, and substantial fairness 

of its terms. 

BUSINESS OUTLOOK 

The initial months of 2024 provided good visibility on the Metering business which, thanks to the awarding 

of tenders over recent months and the advancement of the ongoing projects with leading customers, in 

addition to the solid fundamentals associated with the investments by the utilities, forecasts high single-

digit growth this year.  

The Heating & Ventilation business unit is expected to recover during the year, with the first quarter again 

set to decline by double-digit, with a slight single-digit reduction in Q2 compared to the previous year.  

Visibility for the second half of the year currently indicates that the final two quarters of the year may 

improve upon the first half of the year.  

The consolidated EBITDA margin is expected to grow by between 100 and 200 basis points.  

Planned investments are being closely controlled and shall focus in particular on research and 

development, in addition to the completion of the new headquarters, for between Euro 20-25 million.  

Net financial debt of between Euro 140 and 147 million is forecast, decreasing on 2023.  

 

***  

 

In compliance with the provisions of IAS 1, at the same time as authorising the disclosure of the separate 

financial statements, the Board of Directors of SIT S.p.A. proposes to the Shareholders' Meeting: 

1. ǘƻ ǳǎŜ ǘƘŜ ŜȄǘǊŀƻǊŘƛƴŀǊȅ ǊŜǎŜǊǾŜ ƻŦ ϵнпΣтнсΣптр ǘƻ ŎƻǾŜǊ ǘƘŜ ƭƻǎǎ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ȅŜŀǊΤ 

2. ǘƻ ǳǎŜ ǘƘŜ L!{κLCw{ мǎǘ ŀǇǇƭƛŎŀǘƛƻƴ ǊŜǎŜǊǾŜ ƻŦ ϵрспΣрст ǘƻ ŎƻǾŜǊ ǘƘŜ ƭƻǎǎ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ȅŜŀǊΤ 



 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ wŜǇƻǊǘ  
 

 
2023 Annual Financial Report  

91 
 

 

3. ǘƻ ǳǎŜ ǘƘŜ ǊŜǎŜǊǾŜ ŦƻǊ ŜȄŎƘŀƴƎŜ ŘƛŦŦŜǊŜƴŎŜǎ ƻŦ ϵмсмΣмту ǘƻ ŎƻǾŜǊ ǘƘŜ ƭƻǎǎ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ȅŜŀǊΣ ǎƛƴŎŜ ǘƘŜ 

conditions that required its establishment as provided for by Article 2426 no. 8-bis of the Italian 

Civil Code have ceased to exist; 

4. ǘƻ ŎŀǊǊȅ ŦƻǊǿŀǊŘ ǘƘŜ ǊŜǎƛŘǳŀƭ ƭƻǎǎ ƻŦ ϵоΣуссΣсмоΦ 

 

Padua, April 24, 2024 

 

The Chairman of the Board of Directors 

ό5ƻǘǘΦ CŜŘŜǊƛŎƻ ŘŜΩ {ǘŜŦŀƴƛύ 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 
 

(Euro,000) Note 31/12/2023 31/12/2022  
Goodwill 1 70,946 87,946  
Other intangible assets 1 50,781 55,276  
Property, plants and equipment 2 105,270 106,103  
Investments 3 657 630  
Non-current financial assets 4 2,533 5,186  
Deferred tax assets 5 18,874 10,492  
Non-current assets  249,061 265,633  
Inventories 6 83,315 91,352  
Trade receivables 7 63,458 63,800  
Other current assets 8 14,264 12,597  
Tax receivables 9 3,752 2,280  
Other current assets 4 6,630 6,269  
Cash and Cash Equivalents 10 8,700 23,535  
Current assets  180,119 199,833  
Total assets   429,181 465,466   

     
Share capital 11 96,162 96,162  
Total Reserves 12 70,350 58,120  
Net Profit   (23,388) 11,213  
Minority interests net equity  0 0  
{ƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎΩ 9ǉǳƛǘȅ   143,124 165,495   

     
Medium/long-term loans and borrowings 13 58,182 77,968  
Other non-current financial liabilities and derivative financial instruments 14 51,434 53,553  
Provisions for risks and charges 15 10,513 13,844  
Post-employment benefit provision 16 5,096 5,093  
Other non-current liabilities  6 4  
Deferred tax liabilities  17 12,094 15,005  
Non-current liabilities  137,325 165,467  
Short-term bank loans  18 50,809 23,551  
Other current financial liabilities and derivative financial instruments 19 8,596 5,235  
Trade payables 20 66,915 81,400  
Other current liabilities 21 20,768 23,113  
Tax payables 22 1,645 1,205  
Current liabilities  148,733 134,504  
Total Liabilities   286,057 299,971   

    
¢ƻǘŀƭ {ƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎΩ 9ǉǳƛǘȅ ŀƴŘ [ƛŀōƛƭƛǘƛŜǎ   429,181 465,466  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME 
(Euro,000) Note 2023 2022 

Revenues from sales and services 23 326,261  393,305  

Raw materials, ancillaries, consumables and goods 24 167,211  233,573  

Change in inventories 24 8,578  (19,886) 

Services 25 46,525  52,301  

Personnel expense 26 80,716  80,182  

Depreciation, amortization and write-downs 27 47,090  27,771  

Provisions 28 1,015  8,722  

Other charges (income) 29 345  85  

 EBIT   (25,219) 10,557  

Investment income/(charges)  0  (166) 

Financial income 30 942  9,263  

Financial charges 31 (7,827) (4,760) 

Net exchange gains (losses) 32 804  (1,326) 

Impairments on financial assets  0 0  

Profit before taxes  (31,300) 13,568  

 Income taxes                                                                                                                         33 7,912  (2,355) 

Net profit for the year   (23,388) 11,213  

Minority interest result  0  0  

 Group net profit   (23,388) 11,213  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



2023 Consolidated Financial Statements 
Financial Statements 

   

 
 2023 Annual Financial Report  

99 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

 

(Euro,000)   2023 2022 
    

Net profit  (23,388) 11,213 

Other comprehensive income statement items which may be subsequently reclassified to the 
income statement for the year, net of taxes: 

  
 

Net change in cash flow hedge reserve  (2,634) 5,609 

Income taxes   632  (1,346) 

Total unrealised financial asset gains/(losses)    (2,002)       4,263  

Translation of financial statements in currencies other than the Euro   2,013  2,928 

Total of other comprehensive income statement items which may be subsequently 
reclassified to the profit/(loss) for the year, net of taxes 

   11  7,191 

Other comprehensive income statement items which may not be subsequently reclassified to 
the profit/(loss) for the year, net of taxes: 

  
 

Unrealised actuarial gains   (14)     582  

Income taxes    3  (140) 

Total unrealised actuarial gains/(losses)    (11)    442  

Total of other comprehensive income statement items which may not be subsequently 
reclassified to the profit/(loss) for the year, net of taxes 

  (11) 442 

Total other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year, net of taxes   0  7,633 
    

Total comprehensive income/(expense)    (23,388) 18,846  

Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year attributable to:    

Parent company shareholders  (23,388) 18,846  

Minority shareholders  0 0 

 

Basic earnings per share   
   

(0.9614) 0.4609  

Diluted earnings per share     (0.9614) 0.1013  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW 
(Euro,000) Note 2023 2022 

        

Net profit    (23,388) 11,213 

Amortisation & depreciation 1 - 2 46,896 27,652 

Non-cash adjustments   4,991 9,669 

Income taxes 33 (7,912) 2,356 

Net financial charges/(income) 30 - 31 6,885 (4,518) 

CASH FLOW FROM CURRENT ACTIVITIES (A)   27,472 46,372 

        

Changes in assets and liabilities:       

Inventories   9,399 (19,730) 

Trade receivables   951 (6,715) 

Trade payables   (15,129) (675) 

Other assets and liabilities   (10,516) 1,185 

Income taxes paid   (4,075) (6,699) 

CASH FLOW GENERATED (ABSORBED) FROM CHANGES IN WORKING CAPITAL (B)   (19,370) (32,634) 

        

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (A + B)   8,102 13,738 

        

Investing activities:       

Investments in property, plant & equipment   (18,130) (24,823) 

Other changes in property, plant & equipment   419 335 

Investments in intangible assets   (4,230) (1,986) 

Other changes in intangible assets   9 0 

Investments in financial assets   (296) (409) 

Other cash flows from current financial assets   (797) (3,450) 

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (C)   (23,025) (30,333) 

        

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING & INVESTING ACTIVITIES (A + B + C)   (14,923) (16,595) 

        

Financing activities:       

Interest paid   (7,108) (3,275) 

Repayment of non-current financial payables 18 (14,874) (21,000) 

Increase (decrease) current financial payables   15,909 2,756 

Increase (decrease) other financial payables 18 - 34 (3,181) (2,977) 

New loans 18 10,181 25,000 

Payment of dividends 12 0 (7,299) 

Treasury shares 12 0 (599) 

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (D)   927 (7,394) 

        

Change in translation reserve 12 (839) 857 

        

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (A + B + C + D)   (14,835) (23,132) 

        

Cash & cash equivalents at beginning of the year    23,535 46,667 

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   (14,835) (23,132) 

Cash & cash equivalents at end of the year   8,700 23,535 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
 

 

CƻǊ ŦǳǊǘƘŜǊ ŘŜǘŀƛƭǎ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ōǊŜŀƪŘƻǿƴ ƻŦ ǎƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎΩ ŜǉǳƛǘȅΣ ǊŜŦŜǊŜƴŎŜ ǎƘƻǳƭŘ ōŜ ƳŀŘŜ ǘƻ bƻǘŜǎ мм ŀƴŘ мн ƻŦ ǘƘŜ 9ȄǇƭŀƴŀǘƻǊȅ Notes., 

Currency 

diffrences 

reserve

L.T.I. reserve

Cash flow 

hedge 

reserve

Share capital 

increse

Actuarial 

reserve

Extra. 

Reserve

 Ris. Per 

Warrant 

Retained 

earnings/acc

um. Losses

December 31, 2021 96,162           10,360           (6,134)            19,230           (7,255)            174                (45)                 16,615           (656)               1,491             230                15,261           8,243             153,676         -                 153,676         

-                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

 Allocation of the 2021 result -                 -                 -                 2                     -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 8,241             (8,243)            -                 -                 -                 

-                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Comprehensive profit 2022 -                 -                 -                 -                 2,928             -                 4,263             -                 442                -                 -                 -                 11,213           18,846           -                 18,846           

-                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Assignment L.T.I. to employees -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 880                -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 880                -                 880                

-                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Dividend -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 (7,299)            -                 (7,299)            -                 (7,299)            

-                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Other movements -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 230                (230)               (8)                   -                 (8)                   -                 (8)                   

-                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

 Acquisition of treasury shares -                 -                 (599)               -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 (599)               -                 (599)               

-                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

December 31, 2022 96,162           10,360           (6,733)            19,232           (4,328)            1,053             4,219             16,615           (214)               1,721             -                 16,196           11,213           165,495         -                 165,495         

-                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

 Allocation of the 2022 result -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 23,005           -                 (11,792)          (11,213)          0                     -                 0                     

-                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Comprehensive profit 2023 -                 -                 -                 -                 2,013             -                 (2,002)            -                 (11)                 -                 -                 -                 (23,388)          (23,388)          -                 (23,388)          

-                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Assignment L.T.I. to employees -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 1,019             -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 1,019             -                 1,019             

-                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Dividend -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

-                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Other movements -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 (3)                   -                 (3)                   -                 (3)                   

-                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

 Acquisition of treasury shares -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

-                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

December 31, 2023 96,162           10,360           (6,733)            19,232           (2,315)            2,073             2,217             16,615           (225)               24,726           -                 4,401             (23,388)          143,124         -                 143,124         
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GENERAL INFORMATION 

SIT S.p.A., (hereinafter, the Parent Company, SIT or the Company), based in Padua and whose shares are 

listed on Euronext Milan market (former MTA managed by the Italian Stock Exchange). The company is 

entered in the Companies Register of Padua at No, 04805520287 with registered office in Viale 

dell'Industria No, 31/33, Padua (PD). 

The Company develops, manufactures and sells safety, control and comfort systems and high-

performance gas equipment, principally for domestic use such as boilers, stoves and water heaters. 

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on April 24, 2024 and authorised for 

publication on the website www.sitgroup.it by April 30, 2024. The financial statements are subject to the 

ŀǇǇǊƻǾŀƭ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ {ƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎΩ aŜŜǘƛƴƎ. 

In 2017, the merger between SIT S.p.A., and Industrial Stars of Italy 2 S.p.A. (ISI2 or ISI2 S.p.A.), a SPAC 

(Special Purchase Acquisition Company) listed on the AIM Italia market of the Italian Stock Exchange. The 

ƳŜǊƎŜǊ ǿŀǎ ŜŦŦŜŎǘƛǾŜ ƻƴ Wǳƭȅ нлΣ нлмт ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ǎƛƳǳƭǘŀƴŜƻǳǎ ǎǘŀǊǘ ƻŦ ǘǊŀŘƛƴƎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƻǊŘƛƴŀǊȅ 

shares and warrants on the AIM Italia market managed by the Italian Stock Exchange. With the merger by 

incorporation of ISI2 S.p.A. (listed non-operating company) into SIT S.p.A., (listed operating company), the 

former shareholders of ISI2 became the minority shareholders of SIT S.p.A.. In the merger, SIT was 

therefore considered as the acquirer and ISI2 as the acquiree.  

SIT S.p.A., decided that it would apply the option as per Article 70, paragraph 8 and Article 71, paragraph 1-

bis of Consob Regulation No, 11971/99 (and thereafter) and, therefore, that it would employ the exemption 

from publication of a disclosure document concerning significant merger, spin-off, and share capital increase 

operations through transfer of assets in kind, acquisitions and sales. 

 

BASIS OF PREPARATION  

The consolidated financial statements of the SIT Group on December 31, 2023 were prepared in 

accordance with the international accounting standards (IFRS/IAS) issued by the International Accounting 

Standards Board (IASB) and adopted by the European Union, including all interpretations of the 

International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC).  
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The consolidated financial statements comprise: 

Á the Consolidated balance sheet classified by current and non-current assets and liabilities based 

on their realisation or settlement within the normal operating cycle;  

not more than 12 months subsequent to the reporting date; 

Á the Consolidated statement of income which classifies costs and revenues by type, which is 

considered a better representation of the Group performance than a segment breakdown;  

Á the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income; 

Á the Consolidated statement of cash flows prepared in accordance with the indirect method; 

Á the Consolidated statement of changes in equity and  

Á corresponding explanatory notes containing the disclosure required by applicable legislation and 

by the reference international accounting standards. 

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared based on the historical cost principle, except 

for derivative financial instruments and financial liabilities for warrants, which have been recognised at 

fair value. 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Euro, the functional currency of the parent 

company and all amounts are rounded to thousands of Euro, except where otherwise indicated.  

The financial statements used for the consolidation were prepared at December 31, 2023 by the Boards 

of Directors of the individual consolidated companies, adjusted, where necessary, in accordance with the 

accounting standards and policies adopted by the Group.  

The consolidated financial statements fulfil the requirement for a true and fair view of the balance sheet, 

financial position, income statement and cash flows of the Group, in compliance with the general 

principles of going concern, the accruals concept, reliable presentation, correct classification, prohibition 

of offsetting and comparability of information. 

The accounting standards and policies applied for the preparation of the consolidated financial 

statements at December 31, 2023 are the same as those adopted for the consolidated financial 

statements at December 31, 2022.  

The SIT Group consolidated financial statements were audited by the company Deloitte & Touche S.p.A.. 
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Going Concern   

During 2023, the Group recorded a 17,0% reduction in revenues compared to 2022. This trend is mainly 

attributable to the Heating & Ventilation division, which in 2023 suffered a 25,8% decrease in sales 

compared to the previous year. The performance of the Metering division was positive, with growth of 

22,2% in 2023. In 2023, the significant reduction in incentives that had supported the market across 

Europe in recent years and the increased uncertainty about the evolution of the legislation on 

technological transition, as well as the reduction in the spending power of households as a result of the 

persistence of high inflation and the rise in interest rates, have, as a whole, negatively affected the Heating 

sector, in particular with reference to combustion appliances (gas boilers).  

These final demand dynamics have manifested themselves in a sector in which the entire supply chain has 

shown an excess of stock due to the procurement policies implemented to cope with supply difficulties ς 

in particular of electronics ς during 2022. 

Since the Heating & Ventilation division is a supplier of components to OEMs in the sector, the Group 

suffered the negative effects of the difficult market environment described above, which led to a 

significant decline in turnover compared to the previous year, which was higher than expected. This 

contraction, together with the financial impact of an out-of-court settlement reached with a North 

American customer for a dispute relating to the quality of certain products in the water heating segment, 

led to a situation of financial tension. 

Despite new financing and the increase in the use of bank credit lines, in addition to the measures adopted 

during the year to contain costs and investments, the persistence of the negative economic situation in 

the Heating & Ventilation business highlighted the impossibility for the Parent Company to meet certain 

commitments to repay loans scheduled for the end of the year and the financial covenants contained 

therein. Faced with this prospect, the Parent Company promptly entered the necessary discussions with 

its lenders, which led to the signing on December 29, 2023 of an extension and standstill agreement with 

respect to the aforementioned commitments. 

This agreement, functional to the start of negotiations for the definition of a plan for the rescheduling of 

the amortization plans of existing loans, extended to April 30, 2024 the repayment of the principal 

portions maturing on December 31, 2023, providing instead for the regular payment of interest; it also 

led to the waiver by the lenders of certain rights and precautionary actions to which they are entitled as 
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a result of the extension in question and the failure to comply with contractual financial parameters as at 

December 31, 2023.  

The agreement committed the Parent Company to certain periodic disclosure obligations relating to cash 

forecasts and the evolution of short-term debt, as well as a commitment not to incur financial debt beyond 

that existing at the date of signing, limiting short-term financial debt within a certain threshold. 

The agreements also required the Parent Company to provide lenders by February 28, 2024 an update of 

the business plan, which was originally approved by the Board of Directors on September 15, 2023. This 

update has been subject to independent business review by an independent expert. The above-mentioned 

documents supported the further discussions that have begun in the meantime with the banks, and which 

resulted in the agreement signed on April 22 and 23, 2024, for the renegotiation of the financial profile of 

the debt and the consequent revision of the financial parameters, as the parameters provided for by the 

current contracts are not compatible with the Group's short- and medium-term financial prospects 

reflected in the updated business plan. 

The above-mentioned updated business plan (hereinafter, the "Plan"), drawn up with reference to the 

Group and referring to years 2024ς2027, was approved by the Board of Directors on February 29, 2024 

and presents the Group's development guidelines in the changed context, which take into account the 

expected downsizing of the gas domestic heating market as a result of the ongoing technological 

transition. These guidelines are mainly based on the introduction and development of new products in 

growing sectors, such as heat pumps, controlled mechanical ventilation and hood ventilation, which 

exploit technologies and markets already covered by the Group but which require specific investments 

for product development. Similarly, growth is expected in product or market segments where combustion 

will remain prevalent (commercial applications, both methane and hydrogen); finally, the Plan reflects an 

expected recovery of the US market, which is currently shrinking, mainly due to macroeconomic 

conditions, in the gas fireplace segment and, as a result of the damage to the image resulting from the 

aforementioned dispute, in the water heating segment. 

The development guidelines of the Metering segments, both Smart Gas Metering and Water Metering, 

are defined and based on the important investments that utilities in the sector are planning and making 

for the digitalization and modernization of distribution networks.  

The updated Plan incorporates the main risk elements highlighted by a leading strategic consulting firm, 

which analysed the underlying strategic rationales and the main risk profiles inherent in the development 
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of revenues of the Group's three business units, Heating & Ventilation, Smart Gas Metering and Water 

Metering. This analysis showed that the main risk elements are mainly concentrated in the medium-long 

term prospects relating to new applications and traditional applications, with particular reference to the 

Heating & Ventilation division, in view of the uncertainty associated with the progress of the technological 

transition.  

The Directors point out that the Plan is based on a set of assumptions, which also include assumptions 

relating to future events that are not necessarily likely to occur in the expected time and manner. 

Coming to shorter-term planning, the Plan, for 2024 and 2025, has been detailed in a monthly cash plan, 

to intercept the short- and medium-term economic and financial dynamics and highlight the related needs 

over this time horizon.  

With regard to the instruments to ease the situation of financial tension highlighted in the preamble, with 

regard to loans included in the extension and standstill agreement, the aforementioned cash plan takes 

into account the renegotiation with the credit institutions of the repayment profile and the rescheduling 

of the final term that were defined with the agreements signed on April 22 and 23, 2024 (hereinafter,  the 

"Agreements"). These Agreements provide for the extension of the original maturities by 24 months and 

the remodulation of the repayment profile in increasing instalments, with the maintenance of the current 

interim intervals and the start of repayment from the signing of the Agreements, without a moratorium 

period. 

To further support the Group's financial situation, the above-mentioned cash plan records the positive 

impact, starting from the date of signing of the Agreements, deriving from a shareholder loan granted to 

the Parent Company by the majority shareholder, equal to Euro 5 million, interest-bearing with 

capitalization of the related financial charges, subordinated to bank debt.  

The Agreements do not provide for the signing of further loans or specific forms of automatic commitment 

on the maintenance of any existing short-term loans. 

Finally, the Agreements provide for the redefinition of the financial covenants, in line with the financial 

renegotiation described and the economic and financial profile of the Business Plan. 

As highlighted above, the Plan was also subject to an independent business review (IBR) by an independent 

expert, who analysed the main economic and financial assumptions underlying the Plan, concluding that 

there was no unreasonableness. This conclusion is also supported by a sensitivity analysis of some 

assumptions regarding the evolution of revenues, margins and net working capital.  
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The Directors assessed the uncertainty associated with the achievement of the objectives set out in the 

Plan, including the targets for reducing net working capital. In view of the performance of the first months 

of the current year and the forecasts made, the actions that may be taken in the management of liquidity 

and considering the signing of the aforementioned Agreements with credit institutions, they believe that 

the Group will be able to fulfil its obligations in the foreseeable future and have therefore considered it 

appropriate to use the going concern assumption in the preparation of the consolidated financial 

statements at December 31, 2023.  

IFRS accounting standards, amendments and interpretations applicable from 
January 1, 2023 

The following accounting standards, IFRS amendments and interpretations have been applied for the first 

time by the Group as of January 1, 2023:  

IFRS 17 ς Insurance Contracts 

Published on May 18, 2017, this standard is intended to replace IFRS 4 ς Insurance Contracts and has been 

applied as of January 1, 2023. The objective of the new standard is to ensure that an entity provides 

relevant information that accurately represents the rights and obligations arising from the insurance 

contracts issued, The IASB developed the standard to eliminate inconsistencies and weaknesses in existing 

accounting policies by providing a single principle-based framework to account for all types of insurance 

contracts, including reinsurance contracts that an insurer holds. 

The new standard also includes presentation and disclosure requirements to improve comparability 

between entities in this sector. The new standard measures an insurance contract on the basis of a 

General Model or a simplified version of it, called the Premium Allocation Approach ("PAA"), 

The main features of the General Model are: 

¶ estimates and assumptions of future cash flows are always the current ones; 

¶ the measurement reflects the time value of money; 

¶ the estimates foresee extensive use of information observable on the market; 

¶ there is a current and explicit measurement of risk; 

¶ the expected profit is deferred and aggregated into groups of insurance contracts at the time of 

initial recognition; and 
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¶ The expected profit is recognised over the period of the contract coverage, taking into account 

adjustments resulting from changes in the assumptions relating to the cash flows relating to each 

group of contracts. 

The APP approach involves measuring the liability for the remaining coverage of a group of insurance 

contracts provided that, at the time of initial recognition, the entity expects that liability to reasonably 

represent an approximation of the General Model. Contracts with a coverage period of one year or less 

are automatically eligible for the PAA approach.  The simplifications resulting from the application of the 

APP method do not apply to the measurement of liabilities for outstanding claims, which are measured 

with the General Model. However, you don't need to discount those cash flows if you expect the balance 

to be paid or collected to occur within one year from the date the claim occurred. 

An entity shall apply the new standard to issued insurance contracts, including issued reinsurance 

contracts, held reinsurance contracts, and also to investment contracts with a discretionary participation 

feature (DPF). 

In addition, on December 9, 2021, the IASB published an amendment entitled "Amendments to IFRS 17 

Insurance contracts: Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 ς Comparative Information". This amendment 

is a transitional option relating to comparative information on financial assets presented at the date of 

initial application of IFRS 17. The amendment has been applied as of January 1, 2023, together with the 

application of IFRS 17, to avoid temporary accounting mismatches between financial assets and liabilities 

of insurance contracts, and to improve the usefulness of comparative information for financial statement 

readers.  The adoption of this standard and its amendment did not have any effect on the Group's 

consolidated financial statements. 

Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single 

Transaction 

On May 7, 2021, the IASB published an amendment entitled "Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes: 

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction". The document clarifies 

how deferred taxes are to be accounted for on certain transactions that may generate assets and liabilities 

of the same amount, such as leasing and decommissioning obligations. The changes were effective 

January 1, 2023.  
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Disclosure of Accounting PoliciesτAmendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 e Definition of 

Accounting EstimatesτAmendments to IAS 8 

Lƴ Řŀǘŀ мн CŜōōǊŀƛƻ нлнм ƭƻ L!{. Ƙŀ ǇǳōōƭƛŎŀǘƻ ŘǳŜ ŜƳŜƴŘŀƳŜƴǘƛ ŘŜƴƻƳƛƴŀǘƛ ά5ƛǎŎƭƻǎǳǊŜ ƻŦ !ŎŎƻǳƴǘƛƴƎ 

Policiesτ!ƳŜƴŘƳŜƴǘǎ ǘƻ L!{ м ŀƴŘ LCw{ tǊŀŎǘƛŎŜ {ǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘ нέ Ŝ ά5ŜŦƛƴƛǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ !ŎŎƻǳƴǘƛƴƎ 9ǎǘƛƳŀǘŜǎτ

Amendments to IAS 8". Amendments to IAS 1 require an entity to disclose material information about the 

accounting policies applied by the Group. The amendments are aimed at improving the disclosure of the 

Group's accounting policies in order to provide more useful information to investors and other primary 

users of the financial statements, as well as to help companies distinguish changes in accounting estimates 

from changes  in accounting policies. The changes were effective January 1, 2023.  

Amendments to IAS 12 Income taxes: International Tax Reform ς Pillar Two Model Rules 

On May 23, 2023, the IASB published an amendment called "Amendments to IAS 12 Income taxes: 

International Tax Reform ς Pillar Two Model Rules". The document introduces a temporary exception to 

the obligations to recognise and disclose deferred tax assets and liabilities relating to the Pillar Two Model 

Rules (the rule of which is in force in Italy as of December 31, 2023, but applicable from January 1, 2024) 

and provides for specific disclosure obligations for entities affected by the related International Tax 

Reform. 

The document provides for the immediate application of the temporary exception, while the disclosure 

obligations are applicable only to annual financial statements started on or after January 1, 2023 but not 

to interim financial statements with a closing date prior to December 31, 2023; This Amendment does not 

apply to the Group. 

Accounting standards, amendments and IFRS interpretations approved by the 
European Union as of December 31, 2023, not yet mandatory and not adopted in 
advance by the Group as of December 31, 2023 

The following IFRS accounting standards, amendments and interpretations have been approved by the 

European Union but are not yet mandatory and have not been adopted in advance by the Group as of 

December 31, 2023:  

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-

current 

On January 23, 2020, the IASB published an amendment called "Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of 

Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current" and on October 31, 2022 it 
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published an amendment called "Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Non-

Current Liabilities with Covenants". The purpose of these amendments is to clarify how to classify short-

term or long-term debts and other liabilities. In addition, the amendments also improve the information 

that an entity must provide when its right to defer the extinguishment of a liability for at least twelve 

months is subject to compliance with certain parameters (i,e, covenants). The changes come into force 

from January 1, 2024; Early application is still permitted. The directors do not expect a material effect on 

the Group's consolidated financial statements from the adoption of this amendment. 

Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 

On September 22, 2022, the IASB published an amendment called "Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases: Lease 

Liability in a Sale and Leaseback". The document requires the seller-lessee to assess the lease liability 

arising from a sale & leaseback transaction so as not to recognize a gain or loss that relates to the retained 

right of use. The changes will apply from January 1, 2024, but early enforcement is allowed. The directors 

do not expect a material effect on the Group's consolidated financial statements from the adoption of 

this amendment. 

Accounting standards, amendments and IFRS interpretations not yet approved 
by the European Union 

At the reference date of this document, the competent bodies of the European Union have not yet 

completed the approval process necessary for the adoption of the amendments and principles described 

below. 

 Amendments to IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates: Lack of Exchangeability 

On August 15, 2023, the IASB published an amendment called "Amendments to IAS 21 The Effects of 

Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates: Lack of Exchangeability". The document requires an entity to apply a 

methodology to be applied in a consistent manner in order to verify whether one currency can be 

converted into another and, when this is not possible, how to determine the exchange rate to be used 

and the disclosure to be provided in the notes to the financial statements. The change will apply from 

January 1, 2025, but an early application is allowed. The directors do not expect a material effect on the 

Group's consolidated financial statements from the adoption of this amendment.  
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Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: Supplier 

Finance Arrangements  

 The document requires an entity to provide additional information on reverse factoring arrangements 

that allow users of the financial statements to assess how financial arrangements with suppliers may 

affect the entity's liabilities and cash flows and to understand the effect of such arrangements on the 

entity's exposure to liquidity risk. The changes will apply from January 1, 2024, but an early application is 

allowed. The directors do not expect a material effect on the Group's consolidated financial statements 

from the adoption of this amendment. 

IFRS 14 ς Regulatory Deferral Accounts  

On January, 30 2014, the IASB published IFRS 14 ς Regulatory Deferral Accounts, which allows only those 

who adopt IFRS for the first time to continue to recognise amounts relating to activities subject to 

regulated tariffs ("Rate Regulation Activities") in accordance with the previous accounting standards 

adopted. Since the Group is not a first-time adopter, this principle does not apply. 

 

Click or tap here to enter text. 

 

DISCRETIONAL VALUATIONS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements and Explanatory Notes in application of 

international accounting standards (IAS/IFRS) requires Directors to make estimates and assumptions 

which, in certain circumstances, are based on historic data and may affect the values expressed in the 

financial statements. Assumptions deriving from estimates are revised periodically and the relative effects 

are reflected in the income statement in the period in which they occur.  

The principal assumptions utilised in the estimation processes and the sources of uncertainty, for which 

significant adjustments to the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities may emerge in the future, are 

summarised below. 

In this regard, the estimates made at December 31, 2022 reflect the considerations made by the Directors 

on the amounts by the public authorities of the countries affected, in addition to the Russia-Ukraine 

conflict. 
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Doubtful debt provision 

 The doubtful debt provision reflects the estimate of expected losses on trade receivables 

recognised to the financial statements and not covered by any insurance. It is determined on the basis of 

past experience or on the basis, analysis and considerations made in relation to the credit quality and 

economic and market projections. 

Inventory obsolescence provision 

The inventory of raw materials, semi-finished and finished products are valued at the lower of cost and 

market value, applying the average weighted cost criteria in establishing the cost. The valuation of 

inventories includes direct materials and labour costs and indirect costs (variable and fixed). Provisions 

are made for materials, finished products and obsolete or slow moving items, while also taking into 

account their expected future use and realisable value. 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

The Group reviews, at each year-end, if indicators highlight a long-term impairment for all of the non-

financial assets. If there is an impairment loss, the accounting value is aligned to its recoverable amount. 

Goodwill and the other intangible assets with indefinite useful life annually undergo an impairment test. 

The recoverable value of non-current assets is normally based on the value in use, considering the present 

value of expected financial cash flows from continuous use of the asset. The review therefore involves 

also the choice of an adequate discounting rate for the calculation of the present value of expected cash 

flows. Any change in the main estimates and assumptions made when preparing the plan and, therefore, 

the impairment test, could affect value in use and the result that is actually reached in relation to the 

realisable amount of the assets recognised. 

Refer to Note 1 of these Explanatory Notes regarding the sensitivity analyses performed. 

Development costs 

Development costs are capitalised in accordance with the accounting policy outlined in the section below. 

¢ƘŜ ƛƴƛǘƛŀƭ ŎŀǇƛǘŀƭƛǎŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ Ŏƻǎǘǎ ƛƴ ǎǘǊƛŎǘƭȅ ǊŜƭŀǘŜŘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ǇǊƻƧŜŎǘΩǎ ǘŜŎƘƴƛŎŀƭ ŀƴŘ ŜŎƻƴƻƳƛŎ ŦŜŀǎƛōƛƭƛǘȅ 

opinion. The Directors are therefore required to draw up the assumptions relating to the expected future 

cash flows from the assets, the discount rate to be applied and the periods of the expected benefits, 

Further details are reported at Note 1. 
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Deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax assets are recognised in accordance with IAS 12. A discretional valuation is required by the 

Directors to establish the amount of the deferred tax assets which may be recorded. They must estimate 

the probable timeframe and amount of future assessable income, in addition to a planning strategy for 

future taxes. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reported at Note 5. 

Provisions for risks and charges 

The Directors make estimates regarding other risks and charges. In particular, against the various disputes 

involving the Group, the Directors have made estimates and assumptions in determining the level of 

probability of a liability arising within the Group and, where the risk is considered probable, in determining 

the amount of the provision against the risks identified. Further details are reported at Note 15. 

Guarantee provisions 

The Group makes provisions for the expected cost of product guarantees. Management establishes these 

provisions based on historic information concerning the frequency and the average cost of guarantees. 

Share-based payments 

Estimating the fair value of the share-based payments requires the utilisation of the most appropriate 

valuation model, based on the terms and conditions on which these instruments were granted. Also 

required to be identified are the data used in the valuation technique amongst which the assumed 

estimated exercise period of the options, volatility and share return.  

For share-based payments settled by cash, it is necessary to remeasure the liability at the end of each 

reporting period and until the settlement date, recording each fair value change in the income statement.  

This requires a re-examination of the estimates utilised at the end of each reporting period.    

For the share-based payments with employees, the Group utilises the Montecarlo simulation model for 

the plans with employees.  The assumptions used for the estimate of the fair value of the share-based 

payments are shown in Note 37. 

IFRS 16 - Estimation of the marginal lending rate 

In order to determine the implied contract interest rate, the Group uses the marginal interest rate, i.e. 

the interest rate which the lessee should pay for a loan with similar duration and guarantees, in order to 

acquire the leased asset. Where there are no observable data (such as in the case of investees that are 
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not direct counterparties to financial transactions) or when rates must be adjusted to reflect the terms 

and conditions of the lease (for example, when the lease is not in the investee's functional currency), the 

Group estimates the rate to be applied using observable data (such as market interest rates) if available, 

and making specific considerations about the terms and conditions of the investee. 

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AND VALUATION CRITERIA 

Relevant information on the accounting principles and valuation criteria adopted for the preparation of 

the consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2023 are set out below. 

Basis of consolidation principals 

The consolidation scope includes the Parent Company SIT S.p.A., and the companies in which SIT S.p.A., 

holds, directly or indirectly, a majority stake or majority voting rights, or where it has the power to 

determine - also through contracts - the financial and operating policies.  

The Group exercises control when it is exposed to or has the right to variable income streams, based on 

the relationship with the investee, and, at the same time, has the capacity to affect such income streams 

through the exercise of power over the investee. 

Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has: 

Á the power over the investment entity (or holds valid rights which confer it the current capacity to 

control the significant activities of the investment entity); 

Á the exposure or rights to variable returns deriving from involvement with the investment entity; 

Á the capacity to exercise its power on the investment entity to affect its income streams.  

Generally, there is presumption that the majority of the voting rights results in control. In support of this 

presumption and when the Group holds less than the majority of the voting rights (or similar rights), the 

Group shall consider all the facts and significant circumstances to establish whether control of the 

investment entity exists, including: 

Á contractual agreements with other holders of voting rights;  

Á rights deriving from contractual agreements;   

Á voting rights or potential voting rights of the Group. 

The Group reconsiders if it has control of an investee if the facts and circumstances indicate that there 

have been changes in one or more of the three significant elements for the definition of control. The 
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consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control and ceases when the Group loses 

this control.  The assets, liabilities, revenues and costs of the subsidiary acquired or sold during the year 

are included in the consolidated financial statements at the date in which the Group obtains control until 

the date in which the Group no longer exercises control.  

The profit/(loss) and each of the other comprehensive income statement items are allocated to the 

shareholders of the parent company and minority shareholders, even if this implies that the minority 

shareholder investments have a negative balance.  Where necessary appropriate adjustments are made 

to the financial statements of the subsidiaries, in line with the accounting policies of the Group.  All assets 

ŀƴŘ ƭƛŀōƛƭƛǘƛŜǎΣ ǎƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎΩ ŜǉǳƛǘȅΣ ǊŜǾŜƴǳŜǎ ŀƴŘ ŎƻǎǘǎΣ ŀƴŘ ƛƴǘŜǊ-company cash flows relating to 

transactions between entities of the Group are completely eliminated on consolidation.  

Changes in the holdings of subsidiaries which do not result in the loss of control are recognised under 

equity.  

If the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it must eliminate the relative assets (including goodwill), 

liabilities, minority interests and other equity items, while any gain or losses are recorded in the income 

statement.  Any holding maintained must be recorded at fair value. The companies included in the 

consolidation scope are as follows: 

Entity Country City Currency 
Share capital  

(currency units) 
% Share 
Owned 

SIT S.p.A. Italia Padova EUR 96,162,195 100 

Metersit S.r.l. Italia Padova EUR 1,129,681 100 

SIT Controls BV  Olanda Hoogeveen EUR 46,000 100 

SIT Gas Controls Pty Ltd Australia Mulgrave AUD 100,000 100 

SIT Controls USA Inc, USA Charlotte USD 50,000 100 

SIT Controls Deutschland GmbH Germania Arnsberg EUR 51,129 100 

SIT Controls CR, S.r.o. Rep, Ceca Brno CSK 1,500,000 100 

SIT Manufacturing N.A. Sa de CV Messico Monterrey MXN 172,046,704 100 

SIT de Monterrey N.A. SA de CV Messico Monterrey MXN 50,000 100 

SIT Controls Canada Inc. Canada Ontario CAD 16,000 100 

S.C. SIT Romania S.r.l. Romania Brasov EUR 2,165,625 100 

SIT Manufacturing (Suzhou) Co. Ltd Cina Suzhou EUR 2,600,000 100 

SIT Argentina S.r.l. Argentina Santa Fe ARS 90,000 100 

JANZ ς Contagem e Gestão de Fluídos SA Portogallo Lisbona EUR 1,000,000 100 

Plast Alfin S.a.r.l. Tunisia Ben Arous TND 20,000 100 

Sit Controls Tunisia S.u.a.r.l. Tunisia Tunisi TND 200,000 100 

Sit Metering S.r.l. Italia Padova EUR 1,500,000 100 

Metersit UK Ltd Regno Unito Manchester GBP 150,000 100 
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Method of consolidation 

The subsidiaries are consolidated under the line-by-line method, which provides for the full inclusion of 

all of the financial statement line items, without considering the shareholding. 

The foreign companies are consolidated utilising the financial statements prepared in accordance with 

those utilised by the Parent Company and as per common accounting policies. 

The carrying amount of investments is eliminated against the corresponding share of the equity of the 

subsidiaries, allocating to the individual assets and liabilities their present value at the date of the 

acquisition of control. Any positive difference is recorded in the non-ŎǳǊǊŜƴǘ ŀǎǎŜǘ ŀŎŎƻǳƴǘ άDƻƻŘǿƛƭƭέ. 

The share of equity and results attributable to minority interests are recorded separately in the balance 

sheet and income statement respectively. 

In the preparation of the consolidated financial statements all balances and transactions between Group 

companies and unrealised gains and losses on inter-company transactions are eliminated. 

Translation of accounts in foreign currencies: Group Companies 

The financial statements of the Group companies included in the consolidated financial statements are 

presented in the functional currency of the main markets in which they respectively operate. At the 

reporting date, the assets and liabilities of the companies whose functional currency is not the Euro are 

converted into the preparation currency of the Group consolidated financial statements at the exchange 

rate at that date. The income statement accounts are converted at the average exchange rate, as such is 

considered representative of the average of the exchange rates at the dates of the individual transactions. 

¢ƘŜ ŘƛŦŦŜǊŜƴŎŜǎ ŘŜǊƛǾƛƴƎ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ ŀŘƧǳǎǘƳŜƴǘ ƻŦ ƻǇŜƴƛƴƎ ǎƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎΩ Ŝǉǳƛǘȅ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ŜȄŎƘŀƴƎŜ ǊŀǘŜǎ ŀǘ 

the end of the period and the differences deriving from the different methods used for the translation of 

the result are recorded to the comprehensive income statement.  On the sale of a net investment in a 

foreign operation, the items in the statement of comprehensive income relating to this foreign operation 

are recorded in the income statement.  

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition of that foreign operation are recorded 

as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and therefore are recorded in the functional currency of 

the foreign operation and translated at the exchange rate at the reporting date.  
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The table below presents the exchange rates utilised for the conversion of the financial statements in 

currencies other than the Group functional currency (Euro). 

Currency  2023 2022 

   December 31, 2023 Average 2023 December 31, 2022 Average 2022 

Mexican Peso       18.7231          19.1830    20.8560 21.1869 

Argentinean Peso     892.9239        314.1127    188.5033 136.7767 

Romanian Leu        4.9756           4.9467    4.9495 4.9313 

US Dollar        1.1050           1.0813    1.0666 1.0530 

Canadian Dollar        1,4642           1.4595    1.4440 1.3695 

Czech Crown       24.7240          24.0043    24.1160 24.5659 

Australian Dollar        1.6263           1.6288    1.5693 1.5167 

Chinese Yuan        7.8509           7.6600    7.3582 7.0788 

Tunisian Dinar        3.3936           3.3556    3.3221 3.2509 

UK Sterling        0.8691           0.8698    0.8869 0.8528 

 

Translation of accounts in foreign currencies: transactions and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are initially recorded in the functional currency, applying the exchange rate 

at the transaction date.  

Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency at the 

exchange rate at the reporting date.  

Exchange rate differences realised or arising on the translation of monetary items are recorded in the 

income statement, with the exception of monetary items which hedge a net investment in a foreign 

operation. These differences are recorded in the comprehensive income statement until the sale of the 

net investment, and only then is the total amount reclassified to the income statement. The income taxes 

attributable to the exchange differences on the monetary items are also recorded in the comprehensive 

income statement.  

Non-monetary items, measured at historical cost in foreign currency, are translated using the exchange 

rates on the date the transaction was first recorded. 

Valuation at fair value 

The Group measures financial instruments such as derivatives and warrants at their fair value at each 

reporting date.  

According to applicable accounting standards (IAS/IFRS) "a contract that will be settled through a variable 

ƴǳƳōŜǊ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŜƴǘƛǘȅΩǎ ƻǿƴ ǎƘŀǊŜǎΣ ǿƘƻǎŜ ǾŀƭǳŜ ƛǎ Ŝǉǳŀƭ ǘƻ ŀ ŦƛȄŜŘ ŀƳƻǳƴǘ ƻǊ ŀƴ ŀƳƻǳƴǘ ōŀǎŜŘ ƻƴ ŎƘŀƴƎŜǎ 
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in an underlying variable, is a financial asset or a financial liability. When a financial asset or financial 

liability is initially recognised, an entity shall measure it at its Fair Value. The profit (or loss) arising from a 

change in the Fair Value of a financial asset or financial liability that is not part of a hedging relationship 

must be recognised to the income statement". For accounting purposes, therefore, market warrants were 

recognised as financial liabilities at their fair value at the designation date.  

Fair value is the price that would be received for the sale of an asset, or that would be paid to transfer a 

ƭƛŀōƛƭƛǘȅ ƛƴ ŀƴ ŀǊƳΩǎ ƭŜƴƎǘƘ ǘǊŀƴǎŀŎǘƛƻƴ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ ƳŜŀǎǳǊŜƳŜƴǘ ŘŀǘŜ ǳƴŘŜǊ ǘƘŜ ŦƻƭƭƻǿƛƴƎ ŎƻƴŘƛǘƛƻƴǎΥ 

Á there exists a principal market of the asset or liability and it is accessible for the group; 

Á in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 

The fair value of an asset or liability is measured adopting the assumptions which market operators would 

utilise in the determination of the price of the asset or liability, assuming they act to best satisfy their 

economic interests. 

All the assets and liabilities for which the fair value is measured or stated in the financial statements are 

categorised based on the fair value hierarchy, as described below:  

Á Level 1 - listed prices (not adjusted) on active markets for identical assets or liabilities which the 

entity can access at the measurement date; 

Á Level 2 - inputs other than listed prices included in Level 1, directly or indirectly observable for the 

asset or the liability;  

Á Level 3 - measurement techniques for which the input data are not observable for the asset or for 

the liability. 

The fair value measurement is classified entirely in the same fair value hierarchical level in which the 

lowest hierarchical input level utilised for the measurement is classified. 

For the assets and liabilities recognised in the financial statements at fair value on a recurring basis, the 

Group assesses whether there have been transfers between the hierarchy levels, reviewing the 

classification (based on the lowest input level, which is significant for the fair value measurement in its 

entirety) at each reporting date. 

Business combinations and goodwill 

The business combinations, in which the control of a company/entity is acquired, are recorded applying 

the purchase method, whereby the assets and liabilities acquired are initially measured at their market 
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value at the acquisition date. The difference between the acquisition cost and the Group share of equity 

is allocated to specific statement of financial position items to the extent of their present value at that 

date; any residual excess, if positive, is allocated to goodwill and if negative is recognised to the income 

statement. The acquisition cost is based on the fair value, at the purchase date, of assets sold, of liabilities 

incurred and of capital instruments issued, and any other accessory charges.  

DƻƻŘǿƛƭƭ ǊŜǇǊŜǎŜƴǘǎ ǘƘŜ ǎǳǊǇƭǳǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŀŎǉǳƛǎƛǘƛƻƴ Ŏƻǎǘ ŎƻƳǇŀǊŜŘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ǇǳǊŎƘŀǎŜǊΩǎ ǎƘŀǊŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ 

identifiable fair value of the current and potential assets and liabilities of the entity acquired.   

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any loss in value. Subsequent to acquisition, 

goodwill is subject to a recoverability (impairment) analysis conducted annually or at shorter intervals in 

the case of events or changes occurring that could result in possible impairments. Any goodwill at the 

acquisition date is allocated to each cash generating unit (hereafter CGU) expected to benefit from the 

synergies deriving from the combination. Any loss in value is identified by means of valuations based on 

the ability of each CGU to produce cash flows for the purposes of recovering the part of goodwill allocated, 

ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ƳŜǘƘƻŘǎ ŘŜǎŎǊƛōŜŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ άƛƳǇŀƛǊƳŜƴǘǎέ ǎŜŎǘƛƻƴ.  

If, at the end of the period in which the combination takes place, the initial accounting for a business 

combination is incomplete, the provisional amounts of the items whose accounting is incomplete are 

recognised in the financial statements. During the valuation period, the provisional amounts recognised 

at the acquisition date are retroactively adjusted to reflect new information obtained regarding facts and 

circumstances that existed at the acquisition date which, if known, would have affected the valuation of 

the amounts recognised at that date. The valuation period shall not extend for more than one year from 

the date of acquisition. 

If the recoverable value of the cash generating unit is less than the attributed carrying amount, the loss in 

value is recorded. This loss is not restated if the elements that generated it no longer exist. Where the 

goodwill is allocated to a CGU and the Group disposes of a part of the assets of this unit, account must be 

taken of goodwill for the calculation of the disposal gain or loss. 

Click or tap here to enter text. 
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Other intangible assets 

Other intangible assets, acquired separately and held by the Group, are recognised to assets at acquisition 

cost where the cost may be reliably established and it is probable that usage will generate future economic 

benefits. The useful life is valued as indefinite or definite.  

Other intangible assets with indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and a review is carried 

out each year to establish whether circumstances supporting their classification as having indefinite useful 

life exist. In accordance with IAS 36, these assets are subject to impairment tests for any permanent value 

reductions. 

Other intangible assets with definite useful life are recorded at acquisition or production cost, net of the 

relative accumulated amortisation and any impairments established according to the means indicated in 

ǘƘŜ άLƳǇŀƛǊƳŜƴǘǎέ ǎŜŎǘƛƻƴ ōŜƭƻǿ. Amortisation, which begins when the intangible asset is available for 

use, is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life, which is reviewed on an annual 

basis. Any changes, where necessary, are reflected prospectively. The rates used for amortisation (by 

category) are as follows: 

Intangible assets with definite useful life Average rate 

Product development costs  Straight-line over 3 years 

Licenses  Straight-line over 3 years 

SIT brand Straight-line over 20 years 

Janz Brand Straight-line over 10 years 

Heating Technology Straight-line over 12 years 

Metering technology Straight-line over 10 years 

Water metering Straight-line over 7 years 

Customer List Heating Straight-line over 15 years 

Customer List Water metering Straight-line over 15 years 

Order backlog Duration of the contract 

  

 

Research and development costs 

Research costs are recognised profit or loss in the year in which they are incurred. Development costs 

incurred in relation to a specific project are only capitalised when the technical feasibility of completing 

the intangible asset exists to make it available for use or sale, in addition to the ability and intention to 

use or sell the asset to generate future benefits demonstrating the existence of a market for the output 

of the intangible asset or the intangible asset itself or a utility to be used internally and the availability of 

technical, financial and other types of resources suitaōƭŜ ǘƻ ŎƻƳǇƭŜǘŜ ǘƘŜ ƛƴǘŀƴƎƛōƭŜ ŀǎǎŜǘΩǎ ŘŜǾŜƭƻǇƳŜƴǘ 
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and use or sale and the ability to reliably measure the cost attributable to its development. Capitalised 

development costs include only those costs that are directly attributable to development.  

Subsequent to the initial recording, the development costs are valued at cost less amortisation or 

accumulated losses. Any capitalised development costs are amortised in the period in which the expected 

revenue from the project is generated. The carrying amount of the development costs are reviewed 

annually in order to record any impairment, when the asset is still not in use, or with greater frequency 

when there are indicators of a possible impairment. Any impairments identified are recognised to the 

income statement. 

Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant & equipment are recognised at historic acquisition or production cost, including directly 

allocated accessory costs and those necessary for bringing the asset to the condition for which it was 

acquired, and recorded net of the relative accumulated depreciation provisions and any cumulative loss 

in value, If major components of tangible fixed assets have different useful lives, they are accounted for 

separately.  

Financial charges directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of a qualifying asset shall be 

capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. All other financial charges are recorded in the income 

statement when incurred. 

The expenses incurred for the maintenance and repairs of an ordinary and/or cyclical nature are directly 

charged to the income statement when they are incurred. 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis from the moment the asset is available for use according 

to the estimated useful life of the asset; the useful life is reviewed annually and any changes, where 

necessary, are applied prospectively. The depreciation rates applied are as follows: 

 Property, plant & equipment Rate % 

Buildings 3 

Light constructions 10 

General plant 10 

Specific plant  15.5 

Kilns and accessories, production 
machinery 

15 

Various equipment and moulds 25,00 - 40.00 

Motor and transport vehicles 20.00 ς 25.00 

Internal transport and lifting machinery 20 

Furniture and fittings 12 

EDP 20 
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The carrying amount of tangible fixed assets is tested for impairment when events or changes indicate 

that the carrying amount can no longer be recovered based on the current depreciation schedules, if there 

is an indication of this type and in the case where the carrying amount exceeds the realisable value, the 

assets must be written down to their recoverable value,  

The impairments are recognised to the income statement. Such losses are restated when the reasons for 

their write-down no longer exist.  

Upon sale or when there are no expected future economic benefits from the use of an asset, it is 

eliminated from the financial statements and any loss or profit (calculated as the difference between 

ǎŀƭŜΩǎ ǇǊƛŎŜ ŀƴŘ ōƻƻƪ ǾŀƭǳŜύ ƛǎ ŎƘŀǊƎŜŘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ƛƴŎƻƳŜ ǎǘŀtement in the year of its elimination. 

 

Leasing 

Finance lease contracts are capitalized under property, plant and equipment starting from the lease start 

date and measured at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, at the present value of the lease 

payments. A financial debt of the same amount is recognised as liabilities, the value of which is equal to 

the present value of future rents, discounted at the implied lease interest rate or at the marginal financing 

rate. This value is progressively reduced on the basis of the repayment plan of the capital portions 

included in the contractually stipulated rents.  

The lease payments are divided between the principal and the interest portion, so that a constant interest 

rate is applied to the remaining balance of the debt (principal portion). Financial charges are charged to 

the income statement.  

The assets are depreciated over the term of the lease contract. 

Investments  

An associate is a Company in which the Group exercises significant influence. ά{ƛƎƴƛŦƛŎŀƴǘ ƛƴŦƭǳŜƴŎŜέ 

refers to the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of an investee, however 

not exercising control or joint control. 

With the equity method, the investment in an associated company or a joint venture is initially recognised 

at cost.  ¢ƘŜ ŎŀǊǊȅƛƴƎ ŀƳƻǳƴǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘ ƛǎ ƛƴŎǊŜŀǎŜŘ ƻǊ ŘŜŎǊŜŀǎŜŘ ǘƻ ǊŜŎƻƎƴƛǎŜ ǘƘŜ ƎǊƻǳǇΩǎ ǎƘŀǊŜ 
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of the profit or loss after the date of acquisition. The goodwill relating to the associate or joint venture is 

included in the book value of the investment and is not subject to a separate impairment test. 

¢ƘŜ ǇǊƻŦƛǘκόƭƻǎǎύ ǎǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ȅŜŀǊ ǊŜŦƭŜŎǘǎ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ǇƻǊǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƴƎ ǊŜǎǳƭǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ 

associated company or joint venture. Any change in the other components of the statement of 

ŎƻƳǇǊŜƘŜƴǎƛǾŜ ƛƴŎƻƳŜ ǊŜƭŀǘƛƴƎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜǎŜ ƛƴǾŜǎǘŜŜ ŎƻƳǇŀƴƛŜǎ ƛǎ ǇǊŜǎŜƴǘŜŘ ŀǎ ǇŀǊǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ 

statement of comprehensive income.  

In addition, if an associate records a change directly to equity, the Group records its share (where 

applicable) in the statement of changes in equity.  

Unrealised gains and losses deriving from transactions between the Group and associated companies are 

derecognised in proportion to the shareholding in that associate. 

The aggregate share attributable to the Group of the result for the year of associated companies is shown 

in the profit/(loss) statement for the year after the operating result and represents the result net of taxes 

and of the share of the other shareholders of the associate. 

The financial statements of associates and joint ventures are prepared at the same reporting date as the 

Group financial statements. Where necessary, the financial statements are adjusted in line with those 

utilised by the Group. 

The investments in other companies are measured at fair value through equity. In such cases, the amounts 

previously taken to other comprehensive income are not recycled to the income statement upon disposal. 

When the fair value cannot be reliably determined, these investments are measured at cost, adjusted for 

impairment, which is taken to the income statement. If the reasons for the recognition of the impairment 

loss no longer exist, the previously recognised impairment loss shall be reversed. The amount of the 

reversal shall be recognised in the income statement. 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

IAS 36 requires the assessment at each reporting date of impairments to tangible and intangible fixed 

assets amid indicators that such a loss may exist. In assessing whether there are any indicators that an 

asset with definite useful life may be impaired, an entity shall consider internal and external information 

sources. Relating to internal sources, consideration is made of whether there have been significant 

changes in the use of the asset and whether the economic performance of the asset is different than 
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expected. For external sources, consideration is taken of technological or market or regulation 

discontinuation which may reduce the value of the asset.  

Independently of whether there are internal or external reductions in value, intangible assets with 

indefinite useful life and goodwill are subject at least annually to an impairment test, as required by IAS 

36. In both cases of a verification of the carrying amount of intangible assets with definite useful life or of 

the carrying amount of intangible assets with indefinite useful life and goodwill, the Group makes an 

estimate of the recoverable value. 

The impairment of goodwill is determined through a valuation of the recoverable value of the cash 

generating unit (or group of units) to which the goodwill is allocated. 

The recoverable value is the higher between the fair value of an asset or a CGU less costs to sell and its 

value in use and is determined for each asset, except when the asset does not generate cash flows which 

are sufficiently independent from those generated from other assets or groups of assets; in this case the 

recoverable value of the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs is estimated. When the carrying 

amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is higher than its recoverable value, this asset has incurred a 

loss in value and is consequently written down to the recoverable value. In the determination of the value 

in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted at a rate that reflects the market assessment of 

the time value of money and the specific risks of the asset.  

CƻǊ ǘƘŜ ǇǳǊǇƻǎŜǎ ƻŦ ŜǎǘƛƳŀǘƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ǾŀƭǳŜ ƛƴ ǳǎŜΣ ŦǳǘǳǊŜ ǊŜǾŜƴǳŜ ǎǘǊŜŀƳǎ ŀǊŜ ƻōǘŀƛƴŜŘ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ 

business plans, which constitute the best estimate on the forecast economic conditions over the period 

of the plan. The long-term growth rate used to estimate the terminal value of the asset or unit is normally 

lower than the average long-term growth rate for the sector, country or market and, if appropriate, may 

amount to zero or may even be negative. Future cash flows are estimated taking account of current 

conditions: the estimates therefore do not consider the benefits deriving from future restructurings for 

which the Company has not committed or future investments or optimisation of the assets or of the unit. 

Impairment losses incurred by operating assets are recorded in the income statement in the category of 

costs relating to those assets. 

At each reporting date, an evaluation is made of any indicators of a recovery in the loss in value previously 

recorded and, where these indicators exist, an estimate is made of the recoverable value. The value of an 

asset previously written down, except for goodwill, may be restated only if there have been changes in 

the estimates used to determine the recoverable value of the asset after the last recording of a loss in 
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value. In this case, the carrying amount following a restatement shall not exceed the carrying amount that 

would have been determined (net of write-downs or amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment 

loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A restated amount is recorded as income in the income 

statement, except when the asset is recorded as a revalued amount, in which case the restatement is 

treated as an increase of the revaluation. After the recording of the amount restated, the depreciation of 

the asset is adjusted in future years, in order to record the adjusted book value of the asset, net of any 

residual value, on a straight line basis over the useful life of the asset. 

 

Financial assets 

The financial assets are classified as follows: 

Á financial assets at amortised cost; 

Á financial assets at fair value through profit or loss; 

Á financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income. 

The classification depends on the business model within which the Group holds the financial assets and 

the characteristics of the contractual cash flows arising from them. The Group classifies financial assets 

on initial recognition, with subsequent verification at each reporting date. Financial assets are initially 

measured at fair value, plus accessory costs, for assets not measured at fair value. 

Financial assets at amortised cost 

Financial assets that meet both of the following conditions are measured at amortised cost: 

Á the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is the holding of financial assets 

for the collection of the contractual cash flows; 

Á the contractual terms of the financial assets establish, at certain dates, cash flows represented 

entirely by the payment of capital and of interest on the amount of capital to be repaid. 

The amortised cost is calculated as the initial value recorded less the repayment of the capital portion, 

plus or less the accumulated amortisation using the effective interest rate method of any difference 

between the initial value recorded and the amount at maturity. This calculation includes all the 

commissions or points paid between the parties which are an integral part of the effective interest rate, 

transaction costs and other premiums or discounts. For investments measured at amortised cost, the 

gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the investment is eliminated or if there is 

an impairment, in addition to the amortisation process. 
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Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 

Financial assets that satisfy the following conditions are measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income: 

Á the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved both through the 

collection of contractual cash flows and the sale of the financial assets; 

Á the contractual terms of the financial assets establish, at certain dates, cash flows represented 

entirely by the payment of capital and of interest on the amount of capital to be repaid. 

When the financial asset is disposed of, the amounts previously taken to other comprehensive income 

are recycled to the income statement. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

A financial asset that is not measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive 

income is measured at fair value with changes in value taken to profit or loss in the year in which they 

occur. 

Derecognition of financial assets 

A financial asset is eliminated from the financial statements when: 

Á the right to receive the cash flows of the asset terminate; 

Á the Group retains the contractual right to receive the cash flows from the asset, but assumes a 

contractual obligation to pay the cash flows fully and without delay to a third party;  

Á the Group has transferred its right to receive the cash flows from the asset and (i) has transferred 

substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset or (ii) has not 

transferred or retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred 

control. 

Where the Group has transferred all the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from an asset and 

has not transferred or withheld substantially all of the risks and rewards or has not lost control, the asset 

is recorded in the financial statements of the Group up to the amount of its residual holding in the asset. 

wŜǎƛŘǳŀƭ ƛƴǾƻƭǾŜƳŜƴǘ ǘƘŀǘ ǘŀƪŜǎ ǘƘŜ ŦƻǊƳ ƻŦ ŀ ƎǳŀǊŀƴǘŜŜ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ǘǊŀƴǎŦŜǊǊŜŘ ŀǎǎŜǘ ƛǎ ǾŀƭǳŜŘ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ ŀǎǎŜǘΩǎ 

initial book value or the maximum consideration that the Group could be required to pay, whichever is 

less. 
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Inventories 

Raw materials, ancillary and consumables and semi-finished products are measured at the lower of 

acquisition cost, including accessory charges, and the net realisable market value. The cost of inventories 

includes purchase costs and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and 

condition, excluding financial charges.  

The method utilised for the determination of the cost of inventories is the weighted average cost method 

for raw materials and consumables and finished products acquired for resale, and from the cost of 

materials and other direct costs incurred, taking into account the stage of completion of the production 

process, for the products in work-in-progress/semi-finished and finished products from production. 

The net realisable value is represented by the estimated normal sales price less the estimated costs for 

completion and estimated costs to sell. Obsolete and/or slow-moving inventories are written down in 

relation to their presumed utilisation or realisable value. Write-downs are restored in future years should 

the reason for the write-down no longer exist. 

Trade receivables and other current assets 

Receivables under current assets are recorded initially at fair value, identified as the nominal value. Trade 

receivables which mature within the normal commercial terms are not discounted since the effect of 

discounting the related cash flows is deemed immaterial. 

Receivables due beyond one year, non-interest bearing or which mature interest below market rates are 

discounted using market rates. Trade receivables are discounted wherever payment terms are greater 

than the average payment term granted. 

When there is an indication of a reduction in value, the asset is reduced to the value of the discounted 

future cash flows obtainable. Impairments are recognised to the income statement. When, in subsequent 

periods, the reasons for the write-down no longer exist, the value of the assets is restated up to the value 

deriving from the application of the amortised cost. In addition to the assessment discussed in the 

previous paragraph with regard to impairment, the estimated credit losses are complemented by an 

analysis of expected losses. 
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Trade payables and other liabilities 

Trade payables, which mature within the normal commercial terms, are not discounted and are 

recognised at cost (identified by their nominal value). They are not discounted as the effect of the 

discounting of cash flows is insignificant.  

Other liabilities included among current and non-current liabilities are substantially recognised at cost, 

corresponding to the fair value of the liabilities, net of settlement costs which may be associated with the 

issue of the liability. After initial recognition, the financial liabilities shall be measured at amortised cost 

using the original effective interest rate. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include those values which are available on demand at short notice, certain in 

nature and with no payment expenses.  

Financial liabilities 

The Group does not have financial liabilities for trading purposes. All financial liabilities other than 

derivative instruments are initially recorded at the fair value received net of transaction costs 

(commissions or loan charges). 

Financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.  

Derecognition of financial liabilities 

A financial liability is derecognised from the financial statements when the underlying liability is settled, 

cancelled or fulfilled. Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another by the same lender but 

under substantially different conditions, or if the conditions of an existing financial liability are 

substantially changed, such a swap or change is treated as an elimination of the original liability and the 

opening of a new liability, with any differences in accounting values recorded in the income statement. 

Derivative financial instruments 

Derivative financial instruments, as per the company policies approved by the Board of Directors, are 

exclusively used for hedging purposes, in order to reduce the foreign currency or interest rate risk. In 

accordance with IFRS 9, financial derivatives may be accounted for under hedge accounting only when, at 

the beginning of the hedge, the following conditions are met:  

Á the formal allocation of the hedging instrument exists;  
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Á documentation is available demonstrating the hedging and a high degree of efficacy;  

Á such efficacy can be reliably measured;  

Á the hedge is highly effective during the various accounting periods for which it is designated. All 

derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value, in accordance with IFRS 9. 

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at Fair Value.  

When the hedged derivatives cover the risk of a change in the Fair Value of the instruments hedged (Fair 

Value hedge), these are recorded at Fair Value through the income statement; therefore, the hedged 

instruments are adjusted to reflect the changes in Fair Value associated with the risk covered. Where 

hedging derivatives relate to cash flow changes of the hedged instruments (Cash flow hedges), the 

changes to the fair value are recognised as a comprehensive income statement component.  

If the derivative instruments do not qualify as accounting hedges, the changes in the fair values are directly 

recorded to the income statement. 

Treasury shares 

¢ǊŜŀǎǳǊȅ ǎƘŀǊŜǎ ŀŎǉǳƛǊŜŘ ŀǊŜ ǊŜŎƻǊŘŜŘ ŀǘ Ŏƻǎǘ ŀƴŘ ŀǎ ŀ ǊŜŘǳŎǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǎƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎΩ Ŝǉǳƛǘȅ. The purchase, 

sale or cancellation of treasury shares does not give rise to any profit or loss in the income statement.  

The difference between the purchase price and the payment received, in the case of reissue, is recorded 

in the share premium reserve. 

Provisions for risks and charges 

Provisions for risks and charges relate to costs and charges of a defined nature and of certain or probable 

existence whose amount or date of occurrence are uncertain at the reporting date. The provisions for 

risks and charges are recorded when a legal or implicit current obligation exists that derives from a past 

event and a payment of resources is probable to satisfy the obligation and the amount of this payment 

can be reliably estimated.  

Where the expected use of resources extends beyond the subsequent year, the obligation is recognised 

at the present value established through discounting the expected future cash flows at a rate which takes 

into account the cost of money and the risk of the liability. 

For the risks for which the recognition of a liability is considered possible, relative disclosure is made and 

no provision is recorded. 
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Post-employment benefit provision 

Post-employment benefits issued at the time of or subsequent to employment are divided between 

defined contribution plans and defined benefit plans. For the defined contribution plans, the legal or 

implied obligation of an enterprise is limited to the amount of contributions to be paid. For the defined 

benefit plans, the obligation of the entity concerns the granting and assurance of the agreed employee 

plans: consequently, the actuarial and investment risks are borne by the company.  

Until December 31, 2006, the Post-employment benefits for the Italian Group companies were classified 

ŀǎ άŘŜŦƛƴŜŘ ōŜƴŜŦƛǘέ ǘȅǇŜ ǇƭŀƴǎΣ ǿƛǘƘ ƛƴŘŜǇŜƴŘŜƴǘ ŀŎǘǳŀǊƛŜǎ ǳǘƛƭƛǎƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ǳƴƛǘŀǊȅ ǇǊƻƧŜŎǘƛƻƴ ƳŜǘƘƻŘ ŦƻǊ 

valuing the receivable. This calculation involves an estimate of the amount of the benefit to be received 

by an employee at the expected employment conclusion date, utilising demographic assumptions (e.g. 

mortality rates and personnel rotation rates) and financial assumptions (e.g. the discount rate and future 

salary increase rates). This amount is discounted and reproportioned on the basis of the years of services 

matured compared to the total years of service. 

Following the reform introduced through Law No. 296 of December 27, 2006, the Post-employment 

benefit of the Italian Group companies, for the portion matured from January 1, 2007, was substantially 

ŎƻƴǎƛŘŜǊŜŘ ŀǎ ŎƭŀǎǎƛŦƛŀōƭŜ ŀǎ ŀ άŘŜŦƛƴŜŘ ŎƻƴǘǊƛōǳǘƛƻƴ Ǉƭŀƴέ. In particular, these amendments introduced 

the option for the worker to choose the allocation of their maturing Post-employment benefit as follows: 

new Post-employment benefits accruing may, in companies with more than 50 employees, be channelled 

by the worker to pre-chosen pension forms or transferred to the INPS Treasury Fund. 

In relation to the presentation in the income statement of the various cost items relating to the post-

employment benefit it was decided to apply the accounting method permitted by IAS 19 which requires 

the separate recognition in the income statement of the cost items relating to employment services 

(classified under personnel expense) and net financial charges (classified under financial items), with 

recording of the actuarial gains and losses deriving from the measurement each year of the assets and 

liabilities in the comprehensive income statement. The gains and losses deriving from the actuarial 

calculation of the defined benefit plans (Post-employment provision) was entirely recorded to the 

comprehensive income statement. 
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Share-based payments 

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions 

A number of strategic Group employees receive part of their remuneration in the form of share-based 

ǇŀȅƳŜƴǘǎΣ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜǎŜ ŜƳǇƭƻȅŜŜǎ ǘƘŜǊŜŦƻǊŜ ǇǊƻǾƛŘƛƴƎ ǎŜǊǾƛŎŜǎ ƛƴ ŜȄŎƘŀƴƎŜ ŦƻǊ ǎƘŀǊŜǎ όάŎŀǇƛǘŀƭ ƛƴǎǘǊǳƳŜƴǘ 

ǊŜƎǳƭŀǘŜŘ ǘǊŀƴǎŀŎǘƛƻƴǎέύ.  

The cost of the equity-based transactions is determined by the fair value at the assignment date utilising 

an appropriate valuation method, as illustrated in greater detail at Note 37. 

¢Ƙƛǎ ŎƻǎǘΣ ǘƻƎŜǘƘŜǊ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ŎƻǊǊŜǎǇƻƴŘƛƴƎ ƛƴŎǊŜŀǎŜ ƛƴ ǎƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎΩ ŜǉǳƛǘȅΣ ƛǎ ǊŜŎƻǊŘŜŘ ǳƴŘŜǊ ǇŜǊǎƻƴƴŜƭ 

expense over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.  The cumulative 

costs relating to these operations at each balance sheet date until the maturity date are compared to the 

maturity date and to the best estimates available of the number of participating instruments which will 

effectively mature. The cost or revenue recorded in the income statement for the year represents the 

change of the cumulative cost recorded at the beginning and at the end of the year. 

The service or performance conditions are not taken into consideration when the fair value of the plan is 

defined at the assignment date.  Account however is taken of the probability that these conditions will be 

satisfied in calculating the best estimate of the number of equity instruments which will mature.  The 

service conditions are reflected in the fair value at the assignment date.  Any other condition related to 

the plan, which is not a service obligation, is not considered as a maturation condition.  The non-

maturation conditions are reflected in the fair value of the plan and result in the immediate recording of 

the plan cost, unless there are also service or performance conditions.  

No cost is recorded for the rights which do not mature as the performance and/or service conditions are 

not satisfied.  When the rights include a market condition or a non-maturation condition, these are treated 

as if they independently mature from the fact that the market conditions or the other non-maturation 

conditions to which they are subject are complied with or otherwise, provided that all the other 

performance and/or service conditions are satisfied. 

If the conditions of the plan are modified, the minimum cost to be recorded is the fair value at the 

allocation date in the absence of changes to the plan, in the presumption that the original conditions of 

the plan were satisfied.  In addition, a cost will be recorded for all changes which result in an increase in 

the total fair value of the payment plan, or which is in any case favourable for employees; this cost is 

measured with reference to the date of the change. When a plan is cancelled by the entity or by the 
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counterparty, any remaining element of the fair value of the plan is expensed immediately in the income 

statement.  

The effect of the dilution of the options not yet exercised is reflected in the calculation of the diluted 

earnings per share (further details provided at Note 36). 

Revenue recognition 

Core business revenues refer to sales of safety, comfort and high performance systems for gas equipment 

(Heating Division) and of gas meters with remote control, consumption measurement, meter-reading and 

communication features (Metering Division). 

These revenues include a single performance obligation relating to the sale of the product, which does 

not include ancillary services or products that might qualify as separate performance obligations under 

the Standard. 

Sales are recognised at the fair value of the consideration received for the sale of products and services, 

where the following conditions are met: 

Á control over the promised goods or services is transferred; 

Á it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the sale will flow to the enterprise and 

they may be determined reliably; 

Á the costs incurred, or to be incurred, have been reliably measured. 

They are recorded net of returns, discounts, rebates and taxes directly associated with the sale of the 

product or the provision of the service. When defining the amount of the variable consideration that may 

be included in the transaction price, at each reporting date the Group calculates the amount of the 

variable consideration that still cannot be regarded as earned. 

The terms of sales warranties are in line with the law and/or consistent with commercial practice in the 

sector. The Group therefore accounts for warranties in accordance with IAS 37 ς Provisions, Contingent 

Liabilities and Contingent Assets. 

Dividends 

Dividends are recognised when the right of the Group to receive payment arises, which in general 

ŎƻǊǊŜǎǇƻƴŘǎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ƳƻƳŜƴǘ ŀǘ ǿƘƛŎƘ ǘƘŜ {ƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎΩ aŜŜǘƛƴƎ ŀǇǇǊƻǾŜǎ ŘƛǎǘǊƛōǳǘƛƻƴ.  
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Financial income and charges 

This includes all the accounts of a financial nature recorded in the income statement in the period, 

including interest expense matured on financial debt (mainly on bank overdrafts, medium/long-term 

loans), the changes in the fair value of financial liabilities (Performance Shares and Warrants), the currency 

gains and losses, gains and losses from derivative financial instruments (in accordance with the accounting 

criteria previously defined) and the interest expense deriving from the accounting treatment of the 

employee provisions (IAS 19). 

Interest income and charges are recorded in the income statement in the period when they 

incurred/matured.  

Current income taxes 

Income taxes include all the taxes calculated on the assessable income of the Group. They are recognised 

to the income statement, except where they relate to items charged or credited directly to equity, in 

which case the tax effect is also recognised directly in equity. 

Tax receivables and payables for the year are valued at the amount expected to be paid to / received from 

the tax authorities, The tax rates and regulations used to calculate such amounts are those in force at the 

reporting date. 

Deferred taxes 

Deferred tax assets/liabilities are calculated on all temporary differences between the values recorded in 

the financial statements and the corresponding values recognised for tax purposes. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recorded on all temporary assessable differences, with the following 

exceptions:  

Á when the deferred tax liabilities derive from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or 

liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, has 

no effects on the result in the financial statements or on the fiscal result; 

Á the reversal of the temporary differences, related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and 

joint ventures, can be controlled and it is probable that such will not occur in the foreseeable 

future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised on all temporary deductible differences, credits and unused fiscal 

losses carried forward, to the extent of the probable existence of adequate future tax profits, that can 
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justify the use of the temporary deductible differences, credits and fiscal loses carried forward, with the 

following exceptions: 

Á when the deferred tax assets related to the temporary deductible differences derives from the 

initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, 

at the time of the transaction, has no effects on the result in the financial statements or on the 

fiscal result; 

Á in the case of temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint 

ventures, the deferred tax assets are only recognised to the probable extent that the temporary 

differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and there are sufficient assessable amounts to 

utilise such temporary differences. 

Deferred tax assets are recorded when their recovery is considered probable, based on expected 

availability of future taxable income for recovery.  The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed 

at each reporting date and reduced to the extent it is unlikely that sufficient tax profits will be generated 

in the future for the utilisation of all or part of the asset. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reviewed 

at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent of the probability that the taxable income is 

sufficient to permit such deferred tax assets to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated on the basis of the tax rates expected to be applied in the 

year in which the assets are realised or the liabilities are paid, considering the rates in force and those 

already issued or substantially issued as of the reporting date of the financial statements.  

Deferred taxes concerning items recognised outside of the income statement are also recognised outside 

of the income statement and therefore to equity or to the comprehensive income statement, in line with 

the item to which they refer. 

The Group offsets deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities if, and only if, there is a legal right to 

offset current tax assets and current tax liabilities and if deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income 

taxes due to the same tax authority by the same taxpayer or other taxpayers who intend to settle the 

current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously, 

with reference to each future period in which the assets and liabilities for deferred taxes are expected to 

be settled or recovered. 
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Earnings per share  

The basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit or loss attributable to ordinary equity 

holders of the Parent Company (the numerator) by the average weighted number of ordinary shares in 

circulation (the denominator) during the year. Ordinary shares that will be issued upon the conversion of 

a mandatorily convertible instrument are included in the calculation of basic earnings per share from the 

date the contract is entered into. Contingently issuable shares are treated as outstanding and are included 

in the calculation of basic earnings per share only from the date on which all necessary conditions have 

been satisfied (i.e. the events have occurred). Shares whose issue is subject only to the lapsing of time are 

not contingently issuable shares, as the lapsing of time is a certainty.  

Diluted earnings per share 

5ƛƭǳǘŜŘ ŜŀǊƴƛƴƎǎ ǇŜǊ ǎƘŀǊŜ ŀǊŜ ŎŀƭŎǳƭŀǘŜŘ ōȅ ŘƛǾƛŘƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƴŜǘ ǇǊƻŦƛǘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ ƴǳƳōŜǊ ƻŦ ǎƘŀǊŜǎ ƻŦ 

the parent company at the financial ǎǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘǎΩ ŘŀǘŜ ƻŦ ŀǇǇǊƻǾŀƭ. To calculate the diluted earnings per 

share, shares are modified by including all beneficiaries of rights which potentially have a dilutive effect 

in the accounting period. 

 

 

Grants 

Grants from public bodies are recorded at fair value when there is a reasonable certainty that the 

conditions required to obtain them will be satisfied and they will be received.  

Grants received against specific assets or development activities whose value is recorded under fixed 

assets are recognised as a direct reduction of the fixed assets and credited to the Income Statement in 

relation to the residual depreciation period to which the asset refers. Operating grants are fully recognised 

to the income statement at the moment in which they satisfy the conditions for their recognition. 
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COMMENTS ON THE MAIN ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED BALANCE 
SHEET 

Non-current assets  

Note 1: Goodwill and Other intangible assets 

(Euro,000)  
Balance at 
Dec. 31, 22 

Increases Disposals Write-downs Amortisation 
Other 

movements 
Translation 
differences 

 
Balance 
at Dec. 
31, 23 

 Goodwill  87,946 -  -  (17,000) - -  -  70,946 

 Development costs    4  331   -  -  (180)  573  -  727 

 Patent rights  9,588  409  (9)  -  (3,215)  143  -  6,924 
 Concessions, licences 
and trademarks  

 18,465  5  -  -  (1,668)  5  357  17,163 

 Other intangible 
assets  

 25,606   227  -   -  (4,021)  105  (0)  21,917 

 Intangible assets in 
progress and advances  

 1,614  3,258  -   -  -  (826)  3   4,050 

 Total other intangible 
assets 

 55,276  4,230  (9)  -  (9,084)  -  360  50,781 

 Total Goodwill and 
Other intangible 
assets 

 143,222  4,230  (9)  (17,000)  (9,084)   -  360   121,727  

 

GOODWILL 

At December 31, 2023, goodwill amounted to Euro 70,946 thousand. 

The total includes:  

Á Euro 78,138 thousand recognised following the acquisition of the Group company SIT La Precisa 

S.p.A. on May 2, 2014. As per IFRS 3 Business combinations, on acquisition the assets and liabilities 

of the Group were measured at fair value at the acquisition date. The excess between the 

consideration of the transaction (Euro 201,553 thousand) and the fair value of the assets and 

liabilities acquired was allocated (where possible) to identifiable assets.  

Á Euro 8,617 thousand recognised following the acquisition of the company JANZ ς Contagem e 

Gestão de Fluídos, SA completed on December 29, 2020. The business combination was 

accounted for in accordance with IFRS 3. 
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Á Euro 1,191 thousand recognised following the acquisition of the company Plast Alfin S.a.r.l. on 

July 17, 2020. The transaction will enable the Group to achieve cost savings by producing certain 

plastic components internally.  

Á Euro 17,000 thousand of write-downs as a result of impairment test on the Heating & Ventilation 

CGU carried out at June 30, 2023 during the preparation of the half-year financial report. As a 

result of the impairment test on the consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2023, 

no further losses were recognized; please refer to the dedicated section for further details.  

As a result of the above indicated write-down. Goodwill totalling Euro 70,946 thousand at June 30, 2023 

was allocated to the Heating & Ventilation CGU for Euro 45,122 thousand, the Smart Gas Metering CGU 

for Euro 17,207 thousand, and the Water Metering CGU for Euro 8,617 thousand. 

 

DEVELOPMENT COSTS 

As of December 31, 2023, development costs amounted to Euro 727 thousand. 

The item mainly consists of the capitalization of internal personnel costs by the company Metersit S.r.l., 

external consultancy and prototypes attributable to the Vision project in place with one of the company's 

main customers and concerning the design and supply of electronic gas meters with dual communication 

channels with additional functions. 

In 2023 the costs for this project amounted to Euro 311 thousand, while Euro 573 thousand were part of 

fixed assets under construction in the previous year. In 2023, the first revenues relating to the project 

were realized, so that the amortization of Euro 177 thousand was carried out. 

 

PATENTS AND INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS 

The account includes the non-patented technical/production and technological know-how identified 

within the Business Combination of May 2014, for an original amount of Euro 25,322 thousand. This 

corresponds to the allocation of the excess of the price paid over the consolidated net equity carrying 

ŀƳƻǳƴǘǎΣ ōŀǎŜŘ ƻƴ ŀƴ ƛƴŘŜǇŜƴŘŜƴǘ ŜȄǇŜǊǘΩǎ ƻǇƛƴƛƻƴ. At December 31, 2023, the residual value is Euro 

3,524 thousand relating to the Heating & Ventilation sector and Euro 240 thousand relating to the Smart 

Gas Metering sector. 
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The amount also includes the effects of the allocation of the higher price paid for the acquisition of Janz, 

then allocated to Know How, for an original value of Euro 3,352 thousand. At December 31, 2023, the 

residual value amounts to Euro 1,915 thousand, amortised over 7 years. 

The account in addition includes software licenses and new industrial trademark registration costs or 

those for the registration in new countries of existing industrial trademarks.  

Changes in the financial year are mainly related to amortisation; the increases refer to the filing of new 

patents and implementation of new software. 

CONCESSIONS, LICENSES AND TRADEMARKS 

¢ƘŜ ŀƳƻǳƴǘ ƻŦ 9ǳǊƻ мтΣмсо ǘƘƻǳǎŀƴŘ ƛǎ Ƴŀƛƴƭȅ ŀǘǘǊƛōǳǘŀōƭŜ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ǾŀƭǳŜ ƻŦ Ϧ{L¢Ϧ ŀƴŘ άaŜǘŜǊǎƛǘϦ ōǊŀƴŘǎ 

identified for an original total amount of Euro 23,995 thousand as part of the merger of the company SIT 

La Precisa S.p.A. on May 2, 2014; these values were calculated with the support of an independent 

ŜȄǇŜǊǘǎΩ Ǿŀƭǳŀǘƛƻƴ ǊŜǇƻǊǘ. At December 31, 2023, the residual value is Euro 10,433 thousand relating to 

the Heating & Ventilation sector and Euro 1,964 thousand relating to the Smart Gas Metering sector. 

The amount also includes the effects of the allocation of the higher price paid for the acquisition of Janz, 

then allocated to the Brand, for an original value of Euro 2,038 thousand. At December 31, 2023, the 

residual value amounts to Euro 1,427 thousand, amortised over 10 years. 

Changes in the financial year are mainly related to amortisation. 

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

This account, amounting to Euro 21,917 thousand, includes the residual value of the customer relationship 

identified, with reference to the Heating & Ventilation sector, as part of the acquisition of SIT La Precisa 

S.p.A. on May 2, 2014, whose Fair Value was originally determined at Euro 42,690 thousand; this value 

ǿŀǎ ŎŀƭŎǳƭŀǘŜŘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ōŀǎƛǎ ƻŦ ƛƴŘŜǇŜƴŘŜƴǘ ŜȄǇŜǊǘǎΩ Ǿŀƭǳŀǘƛƻƴ ǊŜǇƻǊǘ. ¢ƘŜ ŎǳǎǘƻƳŜǊ ǊŜƭŀǘƛƻƴǎƘƛǇΩǎ ǊŜǎƛŘǳŀƭ 

value at December 31, 2023 amounted to Euro 15,179 thousand. 

The item also includes the effects of the allocation of the higher price paid for the acquisition of Janz, then 

allocated to Customer Relationship, for an original value of Euro 7,206 thousand and to the Order Backlog 

for an original value of Euro 1,013 thousand. The expected useful life was set at 15 years and 4 years, 

respectively, with non-linear amortisation in proportion to the contract billing period. At December 31, 

2023, the residual value is Euro 5,765 thousand and Euro 260 thousand respectively. This account in 
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addition includes costs incurred for the installation of the SAP operating system, in addition to those for 

the acquisition of the Piteco Evolution centralised treasury operating package. 

INTANGIBLE ASSETS IN PROGRESS 

Increases include development costs, which were capitalised during the year in relation to three new 

projects in the Smart Gas Metering segment for Euro 737 thousand and four new Heating & Ventilation 

projects for Euro 1,849 thousand.  

IMPAIRMENT TEST 
The goodwill arising from the business combination, considered as an indefinite life intangible asset, is 

not subject to amortisation but to an impairment test at least annually to identify any losses in value.  

Throughout 2023, the Heating market saw a significant slowdown in demand as a result of the absence of 

the sector incentives in place in 2022, in addition to the effects of inflation and the high interest rates on 

household spending capacity. This short-term dynamic is considered against the general backdrop of the 

energy transition toward electric heating appliances (e.g. heat pumps) in place of combustion appliances 

(gas boilers), which is a medium/long-term sector trend being monitored by the Company, both as an 

active participant in the public debate and in its relations with its technical and commercial partners.  The 

Company in fact has at the same time taken into consideration the possible development of demand for 

its products and solutions and is investing in redefining its portfolio.  

It should be noted that, during the preparation of periodic half-year report as at June 30, 2023, the 

5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎ ŎƻƴǎƛŘŜǊŜŘ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ ŀōǊǳǇǘ ƳŀǊƪŜǘ ǎƭƻǿŘƻǿƴ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ǊŜƭŀǘŜŘ ƛƳǇŀŎǘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ŜŎƻƴƻƳƛŎ 

performance, in a financial context conditioned by a high level of working capital (excess  of inventory in 

the entire supply chain), constituted a so-called trigger event such as to make it necessary to carry put the 

impairment test on net invested capital as at June 30, 2023 of the two CGUs most affected by the 

phenomena mentioned: Heating & Ventilation and Smart Gas Metering. 

The impairment test revealed the need to adjust the carrying amount of the goodwill of the Heating & 

Ventilation CGU to its recoverable amount by recording an impairment loss of Euro 17 million.  

As at December 31, 2023, goodwill therefore amounted to Euro 70,946 thousand and was allocated to 

the Heating & Ventilation CGU for Euro 45,122 thousand, to the Smart Gas Metering CGU for Euro 17,207 

thousand and to the Water Metering CGU for Euro 8,617 thousand. 
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During the preparation of the annual financial report as at December 31, 2023, the Directors subjected 

the aforementioned goodwill to impairment tests, the tests were submitted for approval by the Board of 

Directors on April 24, 2024 following an analysis by the Control, Risks & Sustainability Committee on April 

22, 2024.  

The cash flows supporting the impairment test are based on the 2024-2027 business plan drawn up by 

Management and approved by the Board of Directors on February 29, 2024, appropriately adjusted to 

take into account the requirements of IAS 36. This plan represents an update of the business plan 

approved on September 15,  2023. 

The PAM 2024-2027 business and financial plan presents the revised Group guidelines within the changed 

environment, which takes account of the expected domestic gas heating market contraction as a result of 

the ongoing technological transition. These guidelines are mainly based on the introduction and 

development of new products in growth sectors, such as heat pumps, controlled mechanical ventilation, 

and range hood ventilation, which leverage existing Group technologies and markets that require specific 

investments for product development. Similarly, growth of product segments and markets where 

combustion shall remain prevalent is expected (commercial applications, both natural gas and hydrogen). 

Finally, the plan reflects the expected recovery of the US market, currently contracting in view of general 

economic conditions in the gas fireplace segment, and as a result of the damage to image caused by the 

above water heating segment dispute. 

Metering development guidelines, both for Smart Gas Metering and Water Metering, are similarly defined 

and based on the significant investments that the sector utilities are scheduling and deploying for the 

digitalisation and modernisation of distribution networks. 

The updated plan incorporates the main risk elements highlighted by a leading strategic consulting firm, 

which analysed the underlying strategic rationales and the main risk profiles inherent in the development 

of revenues.  

In particular, the methodology adopted by the independent consultant involved was based on the 

definition of a Market risk and an Execution Risk, Market risk has broken down the main drivers underlying 

demand, including the risks associated with the so-called "Climate change", the impact of which has been 

analysed both for the main geographies of interest and for product segments. In addition, in the area of 

Market risk, was identified the impact related to the evolution of sector regulations ς in the EU and in the 

main countries of interest to the Group ς closely linked to the Climate Change risk.  
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The plan has been subject to an Independent Business Review ("IBR") as part of negotiations with the 

credit institutions referred to in the " Going Concern" section of these explanatory notes; this activity did 

not reveal any elements of unreasonableness regarding the main assumptions underlying the evolution 

of the revenues envisaged in the plan. In addition, in order to carry out the impairment test, the Company 

availed itself of the support of a leading independent accounting and auditing firm, which analysed the 

methodology used and the calculations carried out, issuing a favourable opinion on the results that 

emerged. 

The Company's intent, both with reference to the IBR carried out on the plan and to the external support 

in the preparation of the impairment test, was to avail itself, where possible, of the support of 

independent third parties in the verification of the estimates made and the methodologies applied. The 

Directors, however, point out that the plan in question is based on a set of assumptions that also include 

assumptions relating to future events that are not necessarily likely to occur in the time and manner 

envisaged. 

The parameters used to carry out the impairment tests on the Group's GCUs are shown below. 

Heating & Ventilation CGU 

The growth rate (g) is assumed to be 2.1%. 

¢ƘŜ IŜŀǘƛƴƎ /D¦Ωǎ ²!// ǿŀǎ ŜǎǘƛƳŀǘŜŘ ōȅ ŀǎǎǳƳƛƴƎ: 

Á Risk free rate: calculated as a weighted average, based on a half-year period, of the specific risk 

free rates of the individual countries in which SIT operates, using the CGU's projected budgeted 

revenues for the year 2024 in the relevant country as a weighting; 

Á Market equity risk premium: assumed to be 5.50% based on the latest findings of the independent 

consulting firm Kroll and the latest broker reports studies; 

Á Beta unlevered: calculated as the average value of a panel of listed companies deemed 

comparable to the CGU's business; 

Á Additional risk premium: in line with the impairment test carried out in the 2023 half-year report, 

it was deemed appropriate to include execution risk, confirming 1.5% as an additional premium; 

Á Reference rate for calculating the cost of debt: assumed to be equal to the average, on a half-year 

basis, of the Euribor interbank rate with a 10-year maturity; 
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Á Estimated spread: calculated based on the average value of market credit spreads of the panel of 

comparable companies used to estimate the Beta; 

Á Financial structure: calculated based on the average value of the financial structures of the panel 

of comparable companies used to estimate the Beta. 

The resulting discount rate (WACC) of 10.60% reflects at the reporting date estimates of the market 

valuation and the cost of money and takes account of the specific and sector risk. 

At the end of the Impairment process, the estimated recoverable value for the CGU, equal to Euro 210.4 

million, is sufficient to guarantee Headroom with respect to the book values recorded in the financial 

statements as at 31.12.2023 (Euro 200.7 million) for Euro 9.7 million. 

Considering the assumptions described above, as of the preparation date of the Financial Statements, the 

recoverable value of the net invested capital of the Heating & Ventilation CGU is higher than the net 

carrying amounts and therefore there are no indications that goodwill or other intangible assets may have 

suffered further impairment losses. 

The results were subject to sensitivity analysis, in order to establish how the result of the valuation process 

may change based on the key assumptions such as the discount rate applied to the cash flows and the 

growth rate. The following table summarises this sensitivity: 

 

   WACC   

                      

10  

10.87% 10.62% 10.37% 

 2.36% 8.6 15.0 21.9 

g rate  2.11% 3.6 9.7 16.2 

 1.86% (1.1) 4.7 10.9 

 

The break-even WACC, i.e. the discount rate for which the headroom is reduced to zero, is 11.0%. 

It should also be noted that the percentage reduction in expected cash flows for each year of the plan, 

and in the terminal value, which, taking into account the other parameters used to carry out the test, 

would bring the Headroom to 0 is equal to 4.6%. 

Smart Gas Metering CGU 

The growth rate (g) is assumed to be 2%. 

¢ƘŜ {ƳŀǊǘ Dŀǎ aŜǘŜǊƛƴƎ /D¦Ωǎ ²!// ǿŀǎ ŜǎǘƛƳŀǘŜŘ ōȅ ŀǎǎǳƳƛƴƎΥ 
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- Risk free rate: calculated as a weighted average, based on a half-year period, of the specific risk free 

rates of the individual countries in which SIT operates, using the CGU's projected budgeted revenues for 

the year 2024 in the relevant country as a weighting; 

- Market equity risk premium: assumed to be 5.50% based on the latest findings of the independent 

consulting firm Kroll and the latest broker reports studies; 

- Beta unlevered: calculated as the average value of a panel of listed companies deemed comparable 

to the CGU's business; 

- Additional risk premium: equal to 2.5%, consistent with previous Impairment exercises; 

- Reference rate for calculating the cost of debt: assumed to be equal to the average, on a half-year 

basis, of the Euribor interbank rate with a 10-year maturity; 

- Estimated spread: calculated based on the average value of market credit spreads of the panel of 

comparable companies used to estimate the Beta; 

- Financial structure: calculated based on the average value of the financial structures of the panel 

of comparable companies used to estimate the Beta. 

 

The resulting discount rate (WACC) of 11.5% reflects at the reporting date estimates of the market 

valuation and the cost of money and takes account of the specific and sector risk.  

As a result of the impairment process, the estimated recoverable value of Euro 50.7 million for the CGU 

is sufficient to ensure Headroom compared to the carrying amounts recorded in the financial statements 

at 31.12.2023 (Euro 45.1 million) for Euro 5.6 million. 

Considering the assumptions described, at the date of preparation of the Financial Statements, the 

recoverable amount of the net invested capital of the Smart Gas Metering CGU is higher than the net 

carrying amounts and therefore there are no indications that goodwill or other intangible assets may have 

suffered impairment losses. 

A sensitivity table is also showing the trend of the Headroom between the Recoverable Amount and the 

book value of the CIN as a function of the WACC and the g-rate. 

   

WACC  

 
                       

6  

11.72% 11.47% 11.22% 
 2.25% 5.3 6.8 8.3 
g rate  2.00% 4.2 5.6 7.0 
 1.75% 3.1 4.4 5.8 
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The break-even WACC, i.e. the discount rate for which the headroom is reduced to zero, is 12.6%. 

It should also be noted that the percentage reduction in cash flows expected for each year of the plan, 

and in the terminal value, which, taking into account the other parameters used to carry out the test, 

would bring the Headroom to 0 is equal to 11.0%. 

Water Metering CGU  

The growth rate (g) is assumed to be 1.8%. 

¢ƘŜ ²ŀǘŜǊ aŜǘŜǊƛƴƎ /D¦Ωǎ ²!// ǿŀǎ ŜǎǘƛƳŀǘŜŘ ōȅ ŀǎǎǳƳƛƴƎ: 

- Risk free rate: calculated as a weighted average, based on a half-year period, of the specific risk free 

rates of the individual countries in which SIT operates, using the CGU's projected budgeted revenues for 

the year 2024 in the relevant country as a weighting; 

- Market equity risk premium: assumed to be 5.50% based on the latest findings of the independent 

consulting firm Kroll and the latest broker reports studies; 

- Beta unlevered: calculated as the average value of a panel of listed companies deemed comparable 

to the CGU's business; 

- Additional risk premium: equal to 1.5%, consistent with previous Impairment exercises; 

- Reference rate for calculating the cost of debt: assumed to be equal to the average, on a half-year 

basis, of the Euribor interbank rate with a 10-year maturity; 

- Estimated spread: calculated based on the average value of market credit spreads of the panel of 

comparable companies used to estimate the Beta; 

- Financial structure: calculated based on the average value of the financial structures of the panel 

of comparable companies used to estimate the Beta. 

The resulting discount rate (WACC) is 10.5% and reflects market valuation estimates, the cost of money 

and takes into account specific risk and industry at the reference date.  

At the end of the impairment process, the estimated recoverable value for CGU, equal to Euro 36.0 million, 

is sufficient to guarantee Headroom with respect to the book values recorded in the financial statements 

as at 31.12.2023 (Euro 30.5 million) for Euro 5.5 million. 

Considering the assumptions described, at the date of preparation of the Financial Statements, the 

recoverable amount of the net invested capital of the Water Metering CGU is higher than the net carrying 

amounts and therefore there are no indications that goodwill or other intangible assets may have suffered 

impairment losses. 
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A sensitivity table is also showing the trend of the Headroom between the Recoverable Amount and the 

book value of the CIN as a function of the WACC and the g-rate. 

 

   WACC   

                       

6  

10.75% 10.50% 10.25% 

 2.09% 5.0 6.0 6.9 

g rate  1.84% 4.6 5.5 6.4 

 1.59% 4.2 5.1 6.0 
 

The break-even WACC, i.e. the discount rate for which the headroom is reduced to zero, is 12.4%. 

It should also be noted that the percentage reduction in expected cash flows for each year of the plan, 

and in the terminal value, which, taking into account the other parameters used to carry out the test, 

would bring the Headroom to 0 is equal to 15.3%. 

 

Note 2: Property, plant and equipment 

Changes in property, plant and equipment for the year 2023 are summarised in the table below: 

(Euro,000)          

  

Historical 
cost at 

Dec. 31, 
22 

 Accum. 
Deprec. at 
Dec. 31, 22 

Balance at 
Dec. 31, 22 

 Of which 
άwƛƎƘǘ-of-
ǳǎŜέ LCw{ 

16 

Historical 
cost at Dec. 

31, 23 

 Accum. 
Deprec. at 

Dec. 31, 
23 

 Balance at 
Dec. 31, 23 

 Of which 
άwƛƎƘǘ-of-
ǳǎŜέ LCw{ 

16 

Land & buildings 57,233 (27,960) 29,273  9,731  56,070  (29,855) 26,215  8,127  
Property, plant and 
equipment 

154,370 (123,070) 31,299  -  160,159  (131,705) 28,453  -  

Industrial & commercial 
equipment  

107,675 (96,989) 10,686  1,253  110,679  (99,829) 10,850  1,323  

Other assets  14,961 (9,925) 5,036  3,557  15,377  (10,516) 4,860  3,393  
Assets in progress and 
advances  

29,823 - 29,823  -  34,891  -  34,891  -  

Total property, plant and 
equipment 

364,062 (257,944) 106,118  14,541  377,176  (271,906) 105,270  12,843  

 

The following tables outline the changes in the historic cost and accumulated depreciation in 2023 by 

category. 
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HISTORICAL COST 

(Euro,000)           

  
 Historical cost 
at Dec. 31, 22 

 Of which 
άwƛƎƘǘ-of-
ǳǎŜέ LCw{ мс 

 Increases   Disposals  
 Other 

movements   
 Translation 
differences 

 Historical 
cost at 

Dec. 31, 23  

 Of 
which 
άwƛƎƘǘ-
of-ǳǎŜέ 
IFRS 16 

Land & buildings 57,233  14,194  606  (1,070) 157  389  56,070  13,290  

Property, plant and 
equipment 

154,370  -    3,781  (1,108) 2,000  1,115  160,159  -    

 Industrial & commercial 
equipment 

107,675  2,912  3,599  (3,980) 3,192  194  110,679  2,691  

Other assets 14,961  7,238  1,381  (1,217) 170  82  15,377  7,172  

Tangible Assets in 
progress and advances 

29,823  -    10,549  -    (5,518) 38  34,891  -    

 Total Property, plant and 
equipment   

364,062  24,343  19,916  (7,375) -    1,818  377,176  23,152  

 

Acquisitions refer principally to plant, machinery and moulds for the development and manufacturing of 

new products, in addition to refurbishment and efficiency and production technology improvements. The 

increases also include commitments for IFRS 16 relating to contracts concluding in the period and 

renewed in the year. For further information, reference should be made to Note 35. 

The increases in assets in progress include costs that are being incurred by the Parent Company for the 

ǊŜŦǳǊōƛǎƘƳŜƴǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƭŀōǎ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ ƘŜŀŘǉǳŀǊǘŜǊǎ ƛƴ ±ƛŀƭŜ ŘŜƭƭΩLƴŘǳǎǘǊƛŀ омκооΣ tŀŘǳŀ όLǘŀƭȅύ. 

The decreases in the year are due to disposals and sales of property, plant and equipment, largely already 

depreciated. Other movements include investments which at December 31, 2022 were in progress and 

which in 2023 became fixed assets to be depreciated. 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION 

(Euro,000)          

  
Provision at 
Dec. 31, 22 

Of which 
άwƛƎƘǘ-of-
ǳǎŜέ LCw{ 

16 

  
      Deprec. 

 Disposals   
 Translation 
differences  

 Balance at 
Dec. 31, 23 

Of which 
άwƛƎƘǘ-of-
ǳǎŜέ LCw{ 

16 

 Acc, Depr, Land & buildings  (27,960) (4,463) (2,602) 997  (291) (29,855) (5,163) 

 Acc, Depr, Property, plant and 
equipment  

(123,070) -    (8,886) 1,108  (857) (131,705) -    

 Acc, Depr, Industrial & 
commercial equipment  

(96,989) (1,659) (6,415) 3,757  (182) (99,829) (1,367) 

 Acc, Depr, Other assets  (9,925) (3,681) (1,665) 1,150  (77) (10,516) (3,779) 
 Tangible Assets in progress and 
advances  

-    -    -    -    -    -    -    

 Total accumulated depreciation 
Property, plant and equipment   

(257,944) (9,803) (19,568) 7,012  (1,406) (271,906) (10,309) 

 

Property, plant and equipment were depreciated at December 31, 2023 at the following rates:  
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Rate 

Land & buildings 53.25% 
Plant & machinery 82.23% 
Industrial and commercial equipment 90.20% 
Other assets 68.39% 
Leasing 44.53% 

 

WRITE-DOWNS 

The account at December 31, 2023 amounts to 1,244 thousand Euro, of which 1,002 thousand Euro relates 

to the partial write-down of the building of the Parent Company's current headquarters in view of the 

planned move to the new headquarters under construction and 242 thousand Euro to the partial write-

down of the Right of use relating to the lease of the production plant of the subsidiary Sit Controls B.V. as 

a consequence of the ongoing corporate reorganization process. For further information, please refer to 

the Directors' Report.  

Note 3: Equity investments  

The following table reports the movements in 2023 in the investments account. 

 

(Euro,000)       

Equity investments 
Balance at 

31/12/2022 
Increases in the 

period 
Decreases in 

the period 
Other changes 

Balance at 
31/12/2023 

Company 
     

Immobiliare Golf Montecchia       28   -   -   -        28  

Fondazione ABO in liquidation          6   -   -   -           6  

Italmed Llc.  378   -   -   -     378  

Cyrus Intersoft Inc. 366   -   -   -     366  

Infracom S.p.A. 521   -   -   -   521  

Immobiliare Polesana (ex IMER)                    1   -   -   -       1  

Upsens srl   300   -   -   -        300  

Hybitat srl        -    2  -   -           2  

Aquametric Solutions SA           -    25  -   -     25  

Conthidra S. L.     280   -   -   -       280  

Other minor          1   -   -   -       1  

Doubtful debt provision Fondazione 
ABO in liq. write-down prov 

          (6)  -   -   -        (6) 

Italmed Llc. write-down prov.  (378)  -   -   -  (378) 

Cyrus Intersoft Inc. write-down prov. (366)  -   -   -  (366) 

Infracom S.p.A. write-down prov.  (502)  -   -   -         (502) 

Total equity investments    630              27                      -                   -        657    

 

In December 2023, the subsidiary Metersit S.r.l. subscribed 49.996% of the share capital of the company 

Aquametric Solutions SA, based in Lisbon and having as its object the design, production and sale of 
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advanced water meters for domestic use. The incorporation of the company was completed on January 

15, 2024.  

The increase of Euro 2 thousand refers to the subscription of 20% of the share capital of Hybitat S.r.l. 

established on July 7, 2023. 

 

Note 4: Current and non-current financial assets 

The breakdown of financial assets at December 31, 2023 is as follows:  

(Euro,000) 31-dic-23 31-dic-22 

Guarantee deposits                           335                            325  

Restricted deposit account - long term                   1,000                        1,500  

Long-term participatory financial instruments                 150                              -    

Long-term derivative financial instruments                   1,049                         3,361  

Non-current financial assets                      2,533                          5,186  

 Short-term deposits                       4,250                       3,450  

 Restricted deposit account - short term                       498                        500  

 Short-term derivative financial instruments                    1,883                       2,319  

Other current financial assets                       6,630                        6,269  

The main accounts are commented upon below. 

RESTRICTED DEPOSIT ACCOUNT (SHORT AND MEDIUM TERM) 

In 2020, the Parent Company SIT S.p.A., paid Euro 3,000 thousand on behalf of the subsidiary Sit Metering 

S.r.l. as a guarantee, as part of the acquisition of the company JANZ Contagem e Gestão de Fluídos SA. At 

December 31, 2022, the amount of Euro 2,000 thousand, recognised under current and non-current 

financial assets, was paid in as a restricted deposit for the maximum duration of 5 years. It should be 

noted that, in early 2023, the short-term portion of the restricted deposit account was also released in 

accordance with the contract. 

PARTICIPATORY FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The item, equal to Euro 150 thousand, refers to the equity financial instruments issued by Hybitat S.r.l. 

and subscribed by the Company. Following the establishment of Hybitat S.r.l., the shareholders SIT S.p.A., 

and eNovia S.p.A. have committed to ensure that in the first 36 months from the date of establishment, 

the Board of Directors will offer up to 80,000 participatory financial instruments (SFP) for subscription to 

shareholders (in equal measure) at a price of 100 euro each. These financial instruments give shareholders 

an option right to subscribe to a capital increase with the aim of implementing the business plan and 

achieving the related milestones. 
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As of December 31, SIT had subscribed 1,500 SFP for a total value of Euro 150 thousand. It should be noted 

that SIT has committed (as well as its shareholder eNovia S.p.A.) to subscribe at least 29,000 SFP within 

36 months from the date of incorporation (of which 12,000 SFP within 18 months and 17,000 SFP within 

the following 18 months). 

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (SHORT AND MEDIUM TO LONG TERM)  

The value of derivative financial instruments as of December 31, 2023 amounted to a total of Euro 2,932 

thousand and includes: 

Á 1,883 thousand euros relating to the current portion of IRS contracts on existing loans, of which 

1,543 thousand euros relating to the 2021 SFA loan, 136 thousand euros relating to the Unicredit 

loan and 204 thousand euros to the current portion of the IRS contract on the loan entered into 

with Cassa Depositi e Prestiti S.p.A..  

Á 1,049 thousand euros relating to the non-current portion of IRS contracts on existing loans, of 

which 961 thousand euros relating to the 2021 SFA loan, 22 thousand euros relating to the 

Unicredit loan and 66 thousand euros to the current portion of the IRS contract on the loan 

entered into with Cassa Depositi e Prestiti S.p.A.. 

SHORT-TERM DEPOSITS 

The amount relates entirely to the payment of a security deposit to a supplier to guarantee supplies of 

electronic components having particularly long lead times and whose delivery has been particularly 

unpredictable over the past 12 months. This deposit constitutes the commitment of SIT S.p.A., (for Euro 

3,100 thousand) and Metersit S.r.l. (for Euro 1,150 thousand) to maintain orders to support the supplier's 

business in the current context of electronic component shortage.  

Note n. 5: Deferred tax assets  

Details of the temporary differences and the consequent deferred tax assets as at December 31, 2023 and 

December 31, 2022 are provided below, based on the breakdown by nature of the temporary differences: 

(Euro,000)   Changes IRES   Changes IRAP   IRES tax effect   IRAP tax effect  

 Employee provisions                     7,479                     4,525                     1,811                        176  

 Other risk and charges provisions   3,121                     1,944                        820                           76  

 Costs deductible in future years                     2,268                            -                          680                            -    

 Write-down of inventories                     4,046                     2,788                     1,046                        109  

 Deprec. suspended on revaluations                        171                        171                           41                             7  

 Tax losses                   43,165                            -                     11,018                            -    

 Non-deductible interest                     1,228                            -                          295                            -    

Write-down of tangible fixed asset                    1,002                     1,002                        241                           39  
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 Other & overseas                     2,055                           49                        571                             2  

 Inter-company transactions                     6,740                     6,740                     1,618                        263  

 Unrealised foreign exchange losses                        259                            -                             62                            -    

 Total                    71,533                   17,220                   18,202                        672  

 

Balance as of December 31, 2022 

(Euro,000)   Changes IRES   Changes IRAP   IRES tax effect   IRAP tax effect  

 Employee provisions  5,115  4,294  1,276  167  

 Other risk and charges provisions   1,721  1,719  413  67  

 Costs deductible in future years  6,815  -  2,044  -  

 Employee benefits  (42) -  (10) -  

 Write-down of inventories  2,443  2,099  607  82  

 Deprec. suspended on revaluations  171  171  41  7  

 Tax losses  15,630  -  3,751  -  

 Non-deductible interest  -  -  -  -  

 Other & overseas  1,680  49  479  2  

 Inter-company transactions  5,294  5,294  1,271  206  

 Cash Flow Hedge Reserve  -  -  -  -  

 Unrealised foreign exchange losses  368  -  88  -  

 Total   39,195  13,628  9,961  531  

 

The tax effect on IFRS16 leases is equal to 1,121 thousand euros of deferred assets and 1,026 thousand 

euros of deferred tax liabilities. Deferred tax assets were recognised on the basis of the directors' 

assessment that there is a probability that the Group's entities will be able to generate taxable income in 

future years sufficient for their recoverability over a time horizon of approximately 6 years. 

 

Current assets 

Note 6: Inventories  

Inventories, presented in the financial statements net of the obsolescence provision, are comprised as 

follows: 

(Euro,000) December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 

 Raw materials, ancillary and consumables  49,700    52,549  

 Work-in-progress and semi-finished goods  18,235  17,204  

 Finished products and goods  15,362  20,938  

 Advances to suppliers  17  661  

Inventories 83,315  91,352  
 

The movements in the inventory obsolescence provision were as follows:  
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(Euro,000) December 31, 2023 

  Obsolescence provision 31/12/2022  3,744 

  Utilisation in the period   (662) 

  Provision for the period   2,170 

  Exch, diff.   23 

  Obsolescence provision 31/12/2023  5,274  

 

The provision reflects the reduced value of inventories due to obsolescence, slow movements or as a result 

of market values below acquisition or production cost.  

Note 7: Trade receivables 

Trade receivables and the relative doubtful debt provisions are summarised below. 

 

(Euro,000) December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 

 Trade receivables 63,126  65,440  

Receivables from companies of the Group 20 - 

 Trade receivables from holding company 1,053  609  

Trade receivables from companies subject to control of holding company -  18  

Current trade receivables 64,200  66,067  

 Doubtful debt provision (741) (2,267) 

Trade receivables 63,459  63,800  

 

TRADE RECEIVABLES 

They refer to the direct commercial relationships that the Group has with customers, net of non-recourse 

receivables assignment transactions of Euro 4,676 thousand carried out by the Group and referring to 

transactions carried out by the Parent Company with its customers and Euro 1,288 thousand to customers 

of the Romanian subsidiary.  

The amount is stated net of the doubtful debt provision which expresses reasonably expected losses both 

on the basis of prior non-collection and amounts overdue.  

 

RECEIVABLES FROM COMPANIES OF THE GROUP 

This item refers to receivables from Conthidra S.L., a company consolidated with equity method. 

DOUBTFUL DEBT PROVISION 

The doubtful debt provision amounts to Euro 741 thousand, with the movements in 2023 reported in the 

following table: 
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(Euro,000)  December 31, 2023 

  Doubtful debt provision 31/12/2022 (2,267) 

    Utilisation in the period   1,812 

  Provision for the period   (285) 

  Exchage Rate effect - 

  Doubtful debt provision 31/12/2023 (741) 

 

The Group did not receive guarantees on receivables, the table below presents the exposure to the 

credit risk on trade receivables:  

(Euro,000)       

 Trade receivables   Current  
 <30 
days  

 30-60 
days  

 > 61 
days  

 Total  

 December 31, 2023      

Trade receivables  54,325 4,942 2,028 1,832 63,126 

 December 31, 2022      

Trade receivables  55,323 4,982 2,144 2,991 65,440 

 

 

Note 8: Other current assets 

The account is broken down as follows: 

(Euro,000)  December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 

 Tax receivables    8,945                 6,407  

 Advances          1,022                1,476  

 Prepayments and accrued income              1,325                1,228  

 Other receivables         1,296               1,194  

 Income tax receivables          1,519               2,204  

 Employee receivables                   1                     1  

 Social security institution receivables            156                     87  

 Other current assets     14,264                12,597  

 

TAX RECEIVABLES 

The breakdown is as follows: 

(Euro,000)  December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 

  VAT receivables                        3,936                        4,165  

  Group VAT receivables                           2,193                           469  

  Withholding taxes                        2,817                        1,773  

 Total tax receivables                        8,945                        6,407  
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VAT RECEIVABLES 
The VAT balance includes Euro 1,905 thousand relating to the subsidiary SIT Manufacturing N.A.S.A. de 

C.V. which, in force of the regulatory changes introduced by the local government in 2020, excluded the 

possibility of offsetting the VAT credit balance with the current tax liability. The subsidiary applied to the 

State for reimbursement and obtained partial compensation. The balance also includes 1,840 thousand 

euros, relating to the subsidiary JANZ. 

 

GROUP VAT RECEIVABLES  
In tax year 2020, SIT Technologies S.p.A., SIT S.p.A., SIT Immobiliare S.p.A. and Metersit S.r.l. took part in 

the Group VAT settlement procedure governed by Article 73, final paragraph, of Presidential Decree 

633/1972, as approved by their respective governing bodies in 2019. SIT Metering srl in 2022 also joined 

the Group VAT procedure. The amount of Euro 2,193 thousand concerns the net receivable of the 

companies SIT S.p.A., and Metersit S.r.l. from SIT Technologies S.p.A., respectively of Euro 680 thousand 

and Euro 1,513 thousand. 

WITHHOLDING TAX RECEIVABLES 
Withholding tax receivables of Euro 2,817 thousand relate to overseas withholding taxes on royalties 

invoiced by the Parent Company to productive subsidiaries against the use of technical-productive and 

non-patented know-how, in addition to those of the SIT trademark, all held by the Parent Company. 

Following the agreement reached in 2021 with the Italian Revenue Agency on the calculation of the 

economic contribution of intangible assets (the so-called optional Patent Box regime), during the year the 

Parent Company submitted supplementary returns for the tax periods covered by rulings, making use of 

the option to calibrate the use of losses carried forward and the ACE deduction, which resulted in a 

significant recovery of receivables for withholding taxes incurred abroad. 

PREPAYMENTS AND ACCRUED INCOME 
At December 31, 2023, accruals and prepayments were mainly related to prepayments on fees, rental and 

insurance premiums, as well as fees for maintenance and repair materials. 

 

OTHER TAX CREDITS 

At December 31, 2023, this item consists primarily of: 
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Á Euro 1,147 thousand relating to the tax credit accrued for research, development and 

technological innovation activities (Budget Law 2020 No. 160/2019), of which Euro 718 thousand 

pertaining to the Parent Company and Euro 429 thousand pertaining to the subsidiary Metersit 

S.r.l.; 

Á Euro 96 thousand relating to tax credit accrued for expenses incurred as investment in new capital 

goods (Law No. 160/2019 and Law No. 178/2020), of which Euro 90 thousand pertaining to the 

Parent Company SIT S.p.A., and Euro 6 thousand pertaining to the subsidiary Metersit S.r.l.; 

Á Euro 223 thousand relating to the tax credit on new capital goods 4.0 (Law no. 160/2019 and Law 

no. 178/2020) held by the parent company SIT S.p.A.. 

 

Note 9: Tax receivables  

The account concerns income tax receivables, as follows: 

(Euro,000) December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 

 IRES receivables       1,537              563  

 IRAP receivables          678                   671  

 Receivable from holding company for tax consolidation          592           829  

 Current tax receivables        946            217  

Tax receivables  3,752            2,280  

 

The amount of Euro 592 thousand refers to the IRES transferred to the parent company SIT Technologies 

S.p.A. by the subsidiaries SIT S.p.A., Metersit s.r.l. and SIT Metering s.r.l.  as part of the national 

consolidation process, as provided for in Article 43-ter of Presidential Decree 602/1973.  

 

Note 10: Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents are presented below:  

(Euro,000) December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 

 Cash in hand and similar             21              18  

 Bank and postal deposits      8,680       23,517  

Cash and cash equivalents 8,700  23,535  

 

Cash and cash equivalents relate to current accounts and cash in hand at the reporting date. The changes 

are reported in the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement, to which reference should be made. 
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Consolidated Shareholders' Equity 

¢ƘŜ ŎƘŀƴƎŜǎ ŀǊŜ ǊŜǇƻǊǘŜŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ǎǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘ ƻŦ ŎƘŀƴƎŜǎ ƛƴ ŎƻƴǎƻƭƛŘŀǘŜŘ ǎƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎΩ ŜǉǳƛǘȅΣ ǘƻ ǿƘƛŎƘ 

reference should be made. The following comments relate to the principal accounts and changes. 

 

Note 11: Share capital 

The share capital, subscribed and paid-in, amounted at December 31, 2023 to Euro 96,162 thousand, 

comprising 25,110,209 shares without express nominal value. The classes of shares issued by the company 

are reported below. 

 

Shares  No.  shares % of share capital  Listing 

 Ordinary Shares               25,110,209 100.0%  Euronext  

        

It should be noted that the Company, on July 13, 2017, executed the merger between SIT S.p.A., and 

Industrial Stars of Italy 2 S.p.A. by providing a divisible share capital increase for a maximum total amount 

of Euro 153,438, to be implemented through the issue of 1,534,380 SIT ordinary shares reserved for the 

exercise of the subscription right due to SIT Warrant holders, July 2022 was the deadline for exercising 

the SIT warrants and the related increase in share capital. 

Note 12: Reserves 

The composition of Reserves is as follows: 

(Euro,000)  December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 

  Share premium reserve   10,360  10,360 

  Capital payments reserve   16,615  16,615 

  Total capital reserves   26,975  26,975 

  Legal reserve   19,232  19,232  

  Treasury shares reserve   (6,733) (6,733) 

  Cash flow hedge reserve   2,217  4,219  

  Actuarial reserve   (225) (214) 

  Extraordinary reserve   24,726  1,721  

  Translation reserve   (2,315) (4,328) 

  LTI reserve    2,073  1,053  

  Retained earnings/(accumulated losses)   4,401  16,196  

  Total profit reserves   43,376  31,146  

  Total reserves   70,351  58,121  

 

SHARE PREMIUM RESERVE  

The share premium reserve, amounting to Euro 10,360 thousand, did not change during the year. 
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CAPITAL PAYMENT RESERVE 

The shareholders' capital payment reserve, amounting to Euro 16,615 thousand, did not change during 

the year. 

LEGAL RESERVE  

The legal reserve of Euro 19,232 thousand did not change during the year. 

TREASURY SHARES RESERVE   

The treasury shares reserve amount to Euro 6,733 thousand and did not change during the year. This 

repurchase is for the purpose of the new share-based compensation plans for executives and employees 

of the Company and/or its subsidiaries, as approved by the Shareholders' Meeting of April 29, 2021. 

 

LONG TERM INCENTIVE PLAN RESERVE 

At December 31, 2023, the long-term incentive plan (L.T.I.) reserve included the value of the share-based 

payments in favour of employees and key executives, settled with capital securities.   

On April 29, 2021, the Shareholders' Meeting approved 3 new incentive plans (Performance Shares Plan, 

Restricted Shares Plan, Advisory Board Stock Compensation Plan), one of which provides for three 

allocation cycles in 2021, 2022 and 2023. At December 31, 2023, the item includes the fair value of the 3 

new plans and the relative allocations in the year for Euro 2,073 thousand. For further details, reference 

should be made to Note 37. 

CASH FLOW HEDGE RESERVE 

The cash flow hedge reserve at December 31, 2022 is recorded as a positive value of Euro 4,219 thousand, 

net of the Euro 1,350 thousand tax effect. 

This reserve derives from the Fair Value valuation of the hedging contracts against the new loan that the 

company finalised on August 6, 2021 with a banking syndicate, for Euro 90 million with a duration of 5 

years. 

The Reserve at December 31, 2023 had a positive value of Euro 2,917 thousand, net of the tax effect of 

Euro 700 thousand. 
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ACTUARIAL RESERVE 

At December 31, 2023, the actuarial reserve was negative for Euro 225 thousand and derives from the 

effects of discounting post-employment benefits. 

EXTRAORDINARY RESERVE  

The extraordinary reserve as of December 31, 2022 amounted to Euro 1,721 thousand; during the year it 

increased by Euro 23,005 thousand as a result of the allocation of the previous year's profit of Euro 11,213 

thousand and the allocation of retained earnings (losses) of Euro 11,792 thousand.  

RETAINED EARNINGS (ACCUMULATED LOSSES)  

At December 31, 2023, the account is positive for Euro 4,401 thousand compared to Euro 16,196 thousand 

at December 31, 2022. 

The difference is negative for Euro 11,795 thousand euros, of which Euro 11,792 thousand are allocated 

to extraordinary reserves and Euro 3 thousand are related to other movements. 

Non-current liabilities 

Note n. 13: Medium/long-term loans and borrowings 

The breakdown of the account at December 31, 2023 is illustrated below:  

(Euro,000) 31-dic-23 31-dic-22 

 Non-current loans 58,326 78,250 

 Non-current loans - ammortized cost (144) (282) 

Medium/long-term loans and borrowings 58,182 77,968 

 

As of December 31, 2023, non-current loans represent the value of the non-current financial debts signed 

by the Company with financial institutions. 

During the 2023 financial year, due to the persistence of the negative economic situation in the Heating 

& Ventilation business, it became apparent that the Company was unable to meet certain commitments 

to repay loans scheduled for the end of the year and financial covenants. Against this prospect, the 

Company promptly entered into the necessary discussions with its lenders to reach an agreement on 

these commitments, signing an extension and standstill agreement on December 29, 2023. 

This agreement extends to April 30, 2024 the repayment of the principal portions maturing on December 

31, 2023, providing instead for the regular payment of interest. The Agreement also entails the waiver by 
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the lenders to assert certain rights and precautionary actions due to them, as a result of the extension in 

question and the failure, to comply with the contractual financial parameters as of December 31, 2023. 

The agreement commits the Company to certain periodic disclosure obligations relating to cash forecasts 

and the evolution of short-term debt, as well as prohibiting new financial debt beyond that existing at the 

date of signature and limiting short-term financial debt within a certain threshold.  

The Company has also undertaken to provide lenders with an update of the business plan to be submitted 

to an independent business review by February 28, 2024, documents that have supported the further 

discussions that have begun in the meantime with the banking sector for the renegotiation of the financial 

profile of the debt and the consequent revision of the financial parameters as the parameters provided 

for by the current contracts are not compatible with the outlook short- and medium-term income and 

financial performance of the Group, The terms of the renegotiation completed on April 22 and 23, 2024 

are set out in the " Going Concern" section of these explanatory notes. 

The financing operations included in the extension and standstill agreement, the non-current portions of 

which are shown in the table above, also as a result of the agreement itself, are as follows: 

1. for Euro 45,000 thousand to the 2021 Senior Financial Agreement (SFA 2021) that the Company 

signed on August 6, 2021 with a pool of banks, the main characteristics of which are: 

¶ original amount of Euro 90,000 thousand, with a maturity of 5 years maturing on June 30, 

2026; repayment according to an amortization schedule in predetermined semi-annual 

installments starting from June 30, 2022; 

¶ interest rate indexed to the 6-month Euribor, plus a margin determined on the basis of a 

grid defined by the performance of the so-called Leverage ratio ς an indicator consisting 

of the ratio between net financial position and EBITDA. During 2023, the average net 

interest income was 1.81%; the margin is also determined on the basis of a sustainability 

rating ("ESG") issued by the international agency EcoVadis; 

¶ The financial liability is measured at amortised cost. 

The loan agreement provides for the option of early repayment without penalties and the absence 

of collateral, As usual in similar transactions, it provides for a series of commitments by the 

Company such as the prohibition, except within the limits provided therein, to take on further 

debt and provide the related guarantees (negative pledge) as well as limits on the distribution of 

dividends and asset sales or business disposals. Financial covenants are envisaged, to be 
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calculated at the level of the consolidated financial statements on a half-yearly basis: (i) the ratio 

between net financial position and EBITDA and (ii) the ratio between EBITDA and net financial 

expenses, all of which are to be calculated according to the definitions set out in the contract 

itself. The limit values of these covenants for the year ended December 31, 2023 are 3.00x and 

5.0x, respectively, values that have not been complied with due to the economic and financial 

performance of the year but are subject to waivers pursuant to the extension and standstill 

agreement described above. 

The nominal residual amount as of December 31, 2023 amounts to a total of 67,500 thousand 

euros, of which 45,000 thousand euros for the non-current portion and 22,500 thousand euros 

for the current portion. The amount remaining at amortised cost as of December 31, 2023 

amounts to a total of 67,217 thousand euros, of which the non-current portion amounts to 44,856 

thousand euros and the current portion amounts to 22,361 thousand euros. 

1. 7,500 thousand euros to the loan signed on March 11, 2022 with Cassa Depositi e Prestiti S.p.A., 

the main characteristics of which are: 

¶ original amount of Euro 15,000 thousand, due on 31/12/2026, repayment according to an 

amortization schedule in predetermined semi-annual installments starting from June 30, 

2023; 

¶ interest rate indexed to 6-month Euribor, plus a margin of 1.24%. 

Financial covenants are envisaged, to be calculated at the level of the consolidated financial 

statements on a half-yearly basis: (i) the ratio between net financial position and EBITDA and (ii) 

the ratio between net financial position and shareholders' equity, all of which are to be calculated 

according to the definitions set out in the contract itself. The limit values of these covenants for 

the year ended December 31, 2023 are 3.00x and 1.5x, respectively. The ratio of net financial 

position to EBITDA, due to the economic and financial performance of the year, was not respected 

but subject to waiver pursuant to the extension and standstill agreement described above.  

2. Euro 5,000 thousand to the loan signed on May 31, 2022 with Unicredit S.p.A., the main 

characteristics of which are: 

¶ original amount of Euro 10,000 thousand, due on May 31, 2025, repayment according to an 

amortization schedule of 6 semi-annual installments, the first 5 of Euro 1,000 thousand 

starting from November 30, 2022, the last of Euro 5,000 thousand on May 31, 2025; 
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¶ interest rate indexed to the 6-month Euribor, plus a margin determined on the basis of a grid 

defined by the ratio of net financial position to EBITDA. During 2023, the average net interest 

income was 1.30%; 

Financial covenants are envisaged, to be calculated at the level of the consolidated financial 

statements on an annual basis: (i) the ratio between net financial position and EBITDA and (ii) the 

ratio between EBITDA and net financial expense, all of which are to be calculated according to the 

definitions set out in the contract itself. The limit values of these covenants for the year ended 

December 31, 2023 are 3.00x and 5.0x, respectively. Also for this financing, the values of the 

covenants have not been complied with but subject to waiver pursuant to the extension and 

standstill agreement described above.  

The following financing transactions, the non-current portions of which are shown in the table above, 

were not included in the extension and standstill agreement, while the payment of repayment instalments 

and financial charges continued as normal: 

мΦ 9ǳǊƻ спр ǘƘƻǳǎŀƴŘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ƭƻŀƴ ǎƛƎƴŜŘ ƻƴ CŜōǊǳŀǊȅ оΣ нлно ǿƛǘƘ .ŀƴŎŀ .t9w {ΦǇΦ!ΦΣ ǘƘŜ Ƴŀƛƴ 

ŎƘŀǊŀŎǘŜǊƛǎǝŎǎ ƻŦ ǿƘƛŎƘ ŀǊŜΥ 

¶ ƻǊƛƎƛƴŀƭ ŀƳƻǳƴǘ ƻŦ 9ǳǊƻ рΣллл ǘƘƻǳǎŀƴŘΣ ŘǳŜ ƻƴ CŜōǊǳŀǊȅ оΣ нлнрΣ ǊŜǇŀȅƳŜƴǘ ŀŎŎƻǊŘƛƴƎ ǘƻ 

ŀƴ ŀƳƻǊǝȊŀǝƻƴ ǎŎƘŜŘǳƭŜ ƻŦ у Ŏƻƴǎǘŀƴǘ ǉǳŀǊǘŜǊƭȅ ƛƴǎǘŀƭƭƳŜƴǘǎΣ ǎǘŀǊǝƴƎ ŦǊƻƳ aŀȅ оΣ нлноΤ 

¶ ƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘ ǊŀǘŜ ƛƴŘŜȄŜŘ ǘƻ оπƳƻƴǘƘ 9ǳǊƛōƻǊΣ Ǉƭǳǎ ŀ ƳŀǊƎƛƴ ƻŦ мΦнр҈Τ 

¶ ¢ƘŜǊŜ ŀǊŜ ƴƻ ŬƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ŎƻǾŜƴŀƴǘǎΦ 

нΦ 9ǳǊƻ мум ǘƘƻǳǎŀƴŘ ǘƻ ŀ ŎǊŜŘƛǘ ŦŀŎƛƭƛǘȅ ŎŀƭƭŜŘ ϦwŜǾƻƭǾƛƴƎ /ǊŜŘƛǘ CŀŎƛƭƛǘȅϦ ƎǊŀƴǘŜŘ ƻƴ {ŜǇǘŜƳōŜǊ нтΣ 

нлно ōȅ .ŀƴŎŀ aƻƴǘŜ ŘŜƛ tŀǎŎƘƛ Řƛ {ƛŜƴŀ {ΦǇΦ!Φ ǘƻ ǎǳǇǇƻǊǘ ǎǇŜŎƛŬŎ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘ ƛƴƛǝŀǝǾŜǎΣ ǘƘŜ 

Ƴŀƛƴ ŦŜŀǘǳǊŜǎ ƻŦ ǿƘƛŎƘ ŀǊŜΥ 

¶ ŀƳƻǳƴǘ ǘƘŀǘ Ŏŀƴ ōŜ ǳǎŜŘ ǳǇ ǘƻ 9ǳǊƻ пΣллл ǘƘƻǳǎŀƴŘ ƛƴ ƻƴŜ ƻǊ ƳƻǊŜ ƛƴǎǘŀƭƳŜƴǘǎΣ ǿƛǘƘ 

ŀǾŀƛƭŀōƛƭƛǘȅ ǘƘŀǘ Ŏŀƴ ōŜ ǊŜƛƴǎǘŀǘŜŘ ǿƛǘƘ ǎǳōǎŜǉǳŜƴǘ ǊŜǇŀȅƳŜƴǘǎΤ ǘƘŜ Ŭƴŀƭ ǊŜŦǳƴŘ Ƴǳǎǘ ōŜ 

ƳŀŘŜ ōȅ ǘƘŜ ŘŜŀŘƭƛƴŜ ƻŦ hŎǘƻōŜǊ мΣ нлнрΤ 

¶ ƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘ ǊŀǘŜ ƛƴŘŜȄŜŘ ǘƻ сπƳƻƴǘƘ 9ǳǊƛōƻǊΣ Ǉƭǳǎ ŀ ƳŀǊƎƛƴ ƻŦ мΦлл҈Τ ǘƘŜǊŜ ƛǎ ŀ ŎƻƳƳƛǎǎƛƻƴ ƻƴ 

ǘƘŜ ŀƎǊŜŜƳŜƴǘ ƻŦ лΦнр҈ ǉǳŀǊǘŜǊƭȅΤ 

¶ ¢ƘŜǊŜ ŀǊŜ ƴƻ ŬƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ŎƻǾŜƴŀƴǘǎΦ  

Note 14: Other non-current financial liabilities and derivative financial instruments 

A breakdown of this item at December 31, 2023 is provided below: 
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(Euro,000) December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 

Other non-current financial liabilities                         1,297                  1,986  

 Bond loan ς non-current portion                     39,605               39,520  

 Derivates financial instruments (non-current portion)                         -                       -    

Non-current financial lease payables - IFRS 16              10,532         12,047  

Other non-current financial liabilities and derivative financial 
instruments 

            51,434         53,553  

 

OTHER NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

The amount at December 31, 2023 includes Euro 1,275 thousand relating to the payable for the 

acquisition of the investment in JANZ - Contagem e Gestão de Fluídos, SA, which was finalised on 

December 29, 2020. 

The item also includes Euro 22 thousand (of which Euro 15 thousand relating to SIT S.p.A., and Euro 7 

thousand to the subsidiary Metersit S.r.l.) related to loans granted by Sace-Simest, under the Decree Law 

of March 17, 2020 converted by the Law of April 24, 2020 No. 27, to be used for participation at fairs and 

exhibitions overseas and for personnel training. No guarantees are provided on these loans. 

BOND LOAN - NON-CURRENT PORTION 

The account refers to the bond loan signed by Pricoa in May 2021. The payable was valued according to 

the amortised cost method over the duration of the contract, equal to 10 years, with a 6-year grace period, 

The fixed half-ȅŜŀǊƭȅ ŎƻǳǇƻƴ ƛǎ ƛƴŘŜȄŜŘ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ ŦƛŦǘƘ ȅŜŀǊ ǘƻ ŀ ǎǳǎǘŀƛƴŀōƛƭƛǘȅ ǊŀǘƛƴƎ όά9{Dέύ ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜŘ ōȅ 

the international agency EcoVadis.  

The contract provides the option for SIT S.p.A., to request Pricoa over the next three years to subscribe to 

additional bonds, up to a total amount of USD 100 million (or Euro equivalent). 

The bond loan includes contractual clauses, so-called financial covenants, to be calculated at the level of 

the consolidated financial statements on a half-yearly basis. Failure to comply with these covenants would 

trigger the acceleration clause in respect of the Company. 

The financial covenants in this contract are (i) ratio between net financial position and EBITDA, (ii) ratio 

between EBITDA and net financial charges and (iii) an established debt/own funds ratio.  

In view of the reduction in sales during the year and the consequent evolution of the Group's economic 

and financial dynamics, the prospective impossibility of complying with the contractual covenants of the 

transaction in question led the Company to sign, on December 29, 2023, also with the subscribers of the 
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bond loan, an agreement to derogate and redefine the aforementioned financial parameters, which as of 

December 31, 2023 had been complied with. 

As part of the agreement, the Company has undertaken to provide by February 28, 2024 an update of the 

business plan to be submitted for independent business review, documents that supported the 

aforementioned discussions with the banking sector for the renegotiation of the financial profile of the 

debt referred to in Note 13, and the revision of the financial parameters in line with the updated short- 

and medium-term income and financial outlook for the Group. 

 

NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL LEASE PAYABLES - IFRS 16  

The amount concerns the non-current financial payable for future charges from the existing lease 

contracts, recognised in application of IFRS 16.    

Note 15: Provisions for risks and charges 

The changes to the account were as follows:  

      

(Euro,000) Dec. 31, 2022 Provisions   Utilisations   Release Dec. 31, 2023 

 Agents indemnity provision  154  -  - - 154  

 Other risks provision  12,447  3,427  (6,701) (225) 8,948  

 Product warranty provision 1,243  309  (142) - 1,410  

 Total provisions for risks and 
charges 

13,844  3,737  (6,843) (225) 10,513  

AGENTS INDEMNITY PROVISION 

The account exclusively includes the potential liability for any indemnities due to agents in the event of 

end of service or for the termination of the contract not attributable to the agent, as established by Article 

1751 of Civil Code and the Collective Economic Agreements. 

OTHER RISKS PROVISION 

Below is a breakdown of the main items that make up the fund: 

Á Euro 2,255 thousand for the reorganization of the Dutch company Sit Controls B.V. aimed at 

the sale of the production business unit to the Parent Company SIT S.p.A., which will be 

completed during the 2024 financial year. The cost relates to the costs that the group will 

have to bear mainly for the exit of employees belonging to the production area, as well as the 

costs of training and outplacement agreed locally with the trade unions; 
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Á Euro 2,479 thousand refers to the subsidiary Metersit S.r.l. and represents the best estimate 

of the disposal costs in the years to come of the batteries inserted in the meters sold up to 

the balance sheet date. The provision for the year, amounting to 281 thousand euros, takes 

into account the discounting effect of cash flows, using a pre-tax discount rate. In the same 

period, the fund decreased due to the use of Euro 18 thousand. 

Á Euro 735 thousand referred to the subsidiary Metersit S.r.l for the coverage of specific claims 

and risks relating to the reasonable estimate of potential penalties (Euro 42 thousand) 

accrued on the basis of contractual provisions due to delays in the supply of products to the 

company's main customers. The provision is increased by a provision of 154 thousand euros 

and a release of 109 thousand euros, the latter amount relating to a provision for which the 

period covered by the replacement under warranty has elapsed.  During the year, the 

provision made for the previous year for a legal dispute was partially used for 4 thousand 

euros, while the remaining unused 86 thousand euros was released as there were no 

conditions that justified its maintenance. 

Á 9ǳǊƻ стм ǘƘƻǳǎŀƴŘ ǘƻ ƘŜŘƎŜ ǘƘŜ Ǌƛǎƪǎ ƻǾŜǊ ƻƴƎƻƛƴƎ ŘƛǎǇǳǘŜǎ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ tŀǊŜƴǘ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ 

customers, whose risk of loss is highly probable. The decrease during the year, amounting to 

57 thousand euros, relates to specific complaints granted to customers for 47 thousand euros, 

as well as a release of the provision, equal to 10 thousand euros, for the loss of obligations to 

customers for potential indemnities provided for in the contract; 

Á Euro 1,133 thousand relating to the costs of the reclamation of a plot of land owned by the 

Company. During the year, 152 thousand euros were used for costs incurred for remediation 

activities and, at the same time, 434 thousand euros were set aside; 

Á Euro 1,149 thousand referring to an out-of-court settlement signed in early 2023 with a 

customer against the alleged defectiveness of a certain number of valves supplied by the 

Mexican subsidiary and installed on products sold on the American market. The original 

amount, equal to 7,462 thousand euros, was used during the first months of 2023 for a total 

of 6,405 thousand euros against the payment of the agreed compensation, as well as the 

payment of ancillary legal costs. The open amount refers to the portion of the provision 

recorded as a guarantee for any new disputes that may be made by end customers by January 

2025, as provided for in the agreements signed with the counterparty. 
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PRODUCT WARRANTY PROVISION 

The product warranty provision reflects a reasonable estimate of the charges which the Group may incur 

to comply with contractual guarantees on products sold until the reporting date. The provision mainly 

includes:  

Á Euro 250 thousand represents the estimated future charges relating to the subsidiary Janz on 

meters sold up to the date of the financial statements. The value of the fund is in line with the 

previous year; 

Á Euro 965 thousand relating to the best estimate of replacement costs of meters sold by the 

subsidiary Metersit S.r.l. up to the date of the financial statements, covered by warranty. The 

provision for the year amounted to Euro 167 thousand. 

Á Euro 140 thousand relating to products sold by the Parent Company, calculated on the basis of 

the assessment and analysis of returns. The value of the provision is in line with the previous year. 

 

Note 16: Post-employment benefit provision 

The movements in the account in the periods to December 31, 2023 and to December 31, 2022 were as 

follows: 

(Euro,000)  December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 

  Net liabilities for employee benefits                          4,628                                 4,649  

  Liabilities for retention or other                              468                                      444  

Net liabilities for employee defined benefits                         5,096                                 5,093  

 

The movements in post-employment benefits were as follows: 

 
(Euro,000)  December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 

 Post-em. ben. at beginning of year                          4,649                                 5,337  

 Payments in the year                            (291)                                   (252) 

 Current service cost                                 97                                         97  

 Interest cost                              158                                         50  

 Actuarial gains                                 14                                    (582) 

 Post-em. ben. at end of year  4,628 4,649 

 

The economic/demographic assumptions utilised for the measurement for IAS/IFRS of post-employment 

benefits were as follows: 
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Defined benefit plans Dec 31, 23 Dec 31, 22 

Annual discount rate 3.00% 3.63% 

Annual inflation rate 2.00% 2.30% 

Annual increase in post-employment benefit 3.00% 3.23% 

Annual increase in salaries 1 1 

Death 
The RG48 mortality tables published by the General State 

Controller 

Disability INPS tables by age and gender 

Retirement 100% on satisfying AGO requirements 

 

The annual frequency of advance payments and company turnover were taken from the historical 

experience of the company and from the frequencies of the experience of the actuarial consultant on a 

significant number of similar businesses. 

 

Note 17: Deferred tax liabilities 

A breakdown of temporary differences and the consequent deferred tax liabilities at December 31, 2022 

and at December 31, 2021 is reported below, based on the type of temporary differences, applying 

respectively a tax rate of 24% for IRES and 3.9% for IRAP. 

 

Balance at December 31, 2023 

(Euro,000)   Changes IRES   Changes IRAP   IRES tax effect   IRAP tax effect  

 Tax on business combinations                  39,535                   31,340                     9,488                     1,222  

 Accelerated depreciation                        375                            -                             90                            -    

 Finance Leases                        837                        837                        201                           33  

 Unrealised for, exchange gains/losses                           91                            -                             22                            -    

 Other                     1,135                            -                          342                            -    

 Derivative financial instruments                    2,904                            -                          697                            -    

 Total                  44,876                   32,176                   10,840                     1,255  

 

Balance at December 31, 2022 

(Euro,000)   Changes IRES   Changes IRAP  
 IRES tax 

effect  
 IRAP tax 

effect  

 Tax on business combinations            47,065             37,616             11,296               1,467  

 Accelerated depreciation                   376                      -                       90                      -  

 Finance Leases                   881                   881                   211                     34  

 Unrealised for. exchange gains/losses                   635                      -                     152                      -  

 Other               1,411                      -                     424                      -  

 Derivative financial instruments              5,543                      -                 1,330                      -  

 Total            55,910             38,496             13,504               1,501  
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Current liabilities 

Note 18: Short-term loans and borrowings  

The breakdown is as follows: 

(Euro,000) Dec 31, 23 Dec 31, 22 

 Utilisation short-term lines                     14,909                     2,934  

Current portion of loans                    35,842                20,580  

 Current financial charges                             58                   37  

Short-term loans and borrowings               50,809             23,551  

 

CURRENT PORTION OF LOANS 

This item includes the current portion of the 2021 Senior Financial Agreement loan for Euro 22,361 

thousand, the current portion of the Unicredit loan for Euro 2,000 thousand and of Cassa Depositi e 

Prestiti loan for Euro 5,625 thousand. 

These loans are represented in accordance with the extension and standstill agreements signed on 

December 29, 2023 and described in more detail in Note 13. 

According to the original contractual provisions, the table represents the current portion of the loan to 

Banca BPER S.p.A. for Euro 2,522 thousand, as described in more detail in Note 13. 

Finally, this item also includes the residual portion of Euro 3,333 thousand of the loan signed on June 16, 

2023 with Banca Monte dei Paschi di Siena S.p.A., the main characteristics of which are: 

¶ original amount of Euro 5,000 thousand, due on June 30, 2024, repayment according to an 

amortization schedule of 9 predetermined monthly installments, starting from October 31, 

2023;  

¶ interest rate indexed to 1-month Euribor, plus a margin of 0.80%. 

 

CURRENT FINANCIAL CHARGES 

This item represents accrued interest at December 31, 2023 on the 2021 Senior Financial Agreement loan 

for Euro 2 thousand, on the Unicredit loan for Euro 30 thousand, on the Banca BPER loan for Euro 26 

thousand. 
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Note 19: Other current financial liabilities and derivative financial instruments 

A breakdown follows: 

(Euro,000) December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 

Bond loan - current portion                            69                       34  

Other current financial payables                       2,849                     799  

Dividend payables -                       2 

Factoring payables                      2,681             718  

Derivative financial instruments - current portion                           20         823  

Current financial lease payables - IFRS 16                    2,977         2,859  

Other current financial liabilities and derivative financial instruments                       8,596            5,235  

 

BOND LOAN - CURRENT PORTION 

The account includes Euro 151 thousand concerning the payable for interest charges on the bond loan, 

net of the amortised cost effect (Euro 82 thousand). 

 

OTHER CURRENT FINANCIAL PAYABLES 

The amount, equal to Euro 2,849 thousand, includes: 

Á Euro 500 thousand relating to the short-term portion of the security deposit paid as part of the 

acquisition of the equity investment in JANZ - Contagem e Gestão de Fluídos, SA, as well as the 

short-term portion of the earn-outs contracted during the same transaction, amounting to Euro 

276 thousand; 

Á Euro 2,049 thousand relating to the security deposit relating to the sale of land owned by the 

Mexican subsidiary, paid in 2023 and finalized in the first months of 2024; 

Á Euro 45 thousand relating to the current portion of the Sace-Simest loans, as described in more 

detail in Note 14, amounting to Euro 45 thousand (of which Euro 30 thousand for SIT and Euro 15 

thousand for the subsidiary Metersit S.r.l.). 

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CURRENT PORTION  

In 2023 the Company entered into currency hedging contracts that do not meet the hedging requirements 

established by IFRS 9 for the application of hedge accounting. The features and the Fair Value of the 

current portion of these derivatives are summarised below: 
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(Euro,000)       

Transaction type 
Curre
ncy 

Currency 
amount 

Currency 
value 

average 
spot 

exchange 
rate 

average 
forward 

exchange 
rate 

Maturity date / Fair value at the date 

            <3m  >3m; <6m  >6m; <9m 

forward sales CNY  15,000,00 
0 

EUR  7,9510   7,8770              (13) 

forward sales GBP  500,000  EUR  0,8685   0,8715  (2)    

forward sales  USD  3,500,000  EUR  1,1054   1,1097     (5)    

Total                 (7)           -            (13) 

 

The currency contracts at December 31, 2022 were as follows: 

(Euro,000)       

Transaction type Currency 
Currency 
amount 

Currency 
value 

average 
spot 

exchange 
rate 

average 
forward 

exchange 
rate 

Maturity date / Fair value at the date 

            <3m >3m; <6m >6m; <9m 

forward 
purchases 

CNY   8,900,000  EUR   7,4327   7,4326          (5)    

Total                (5)        -          -    

 

In 2022, the Company undertook hedging contracts against gas and electricity prices. These contracts also 

do not meet the hedging requirements established by IFRS 9 for the application of hedge accounting. The 

main characteristics of these financial instruments are summarised below: 

 

(Euro,000)       

Transaction type   
Beginning 

date 
Maturity  

Fixed price 
EUR/MWh 

Quantity MWh  Fair value  

Dec 31, 22 Dec 31, 22 

Commodity swap Natural Gas-PSV 01/01/2023  31/12/2023  142,50  4,800  (299)  

Commodity swap Electricity-PUN 01/01/2023  31/12/2023  321,50  5,040  (519)  

Total           (818)  

 

As required by IAS 7, the necessary disclosure is provided to permit the reader of the financial statements 

to assess the changes to liabilities deriving from financial liabilities, where such relates to cash flows or non-

monetary changes. These include: 
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(Euro,000) Dec 31, 22 Drawdown 
Acquisiti

ons 

Reimbursem
ents/settlem

ents 

Reclassifi
cation 

Fair 
Value 

Change
s 

Change 
in 

amorti
sed 
cost 

Dec 31, 
23 

Bank payables - non-current portion of 
loans 

78,250  
             

5,181  
  (25,105)   58,326  

Bank payables - non-current portion 
amortised cost 

           (282)        138      (144) 

Total bank payables - non-current 
portion loans  

                    
77,968  

                                         
5,181  

   -    (24,967) -    -    58,182  

Shareholder loans - non-current portion 
of loans  

 -          -    

Shareholder loan - amortised cost -          -    

Bond loan - non-current portion 40,000        40,000  

Bond loan - amortised cost. non-current 
portion 

(480)    85    (395) 

Derivative financial instruments - non-
current portion  

-          -    

IFRS16 12,047  1,145    (2,660)   10,532  

Payables to other lenders 1,986    (7) (682)   1,297  

Total other non-current financial 
liabilities and derivative financial 
instruments 

53,553       1,145  -    (7) (3,257) -     -    51,434  

Total non-current financial liabilities 131,521         6,326  -    (7) (28,224) -    -    109,616  

Bank payables - current portion of loans  20,750  5,000   (14,874) 25,105    35,981  

Bank payables - current portion amortised 
cost  

(170)   169  (138)   (139) 

Current account and accrued interest 
expense 

2,971  14,967    (2,971)       14,967  

Total bank payables - current portion of 
loans  

23,551  19,967  -    (17,676) 24,967  -    -    50,809  

Shareholder loan - current portion of 
loans  

-          -    

Bond loan - current portion -          -    

Bond loan - amortised cost current 
portion 

(82)   85  (85)   (82) 

Bond loan - accrued interest expense 116  151   (116)    151  

Derivative financial instruments - current 
portion  

823    (823)  20   20  

Factoring payables 718  2,681   (718)    2,681  

IFRS16 2,859  640   (3,182) 2,660    2,977  

Payables to other lenders 800  2,028   (663) 684    2,849  

Total other current financial liabilities 
and derivative financial instruments 

5,234  5,500  -    (5,417) 3,259  20  -    8,596  

Total current financial liabilities 28,785  25,467    (23,093) 28,226  20  -    59,405  

In relation to the hierarchical positioning of the fair value of the derivative instruments in place (IRS, 

currencies and commodities) those described above are classified as level 2. There were no transfers 

between Level 1 and Level 2 during the year. 
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CURRENT FINANCIAL PAYABLES PER IFRS16  

The amount concerns the current financial payable for future charges from the existing lease contracts, 

recognised in application of IFRS 16.  For further information, reference should be made to Note 35. 

Note 20: Trade payables  

At December 31, 2023, trade payables were broken down as follows: 

(Euro,000) Dec 31, 23 Dec 31, 22 

 Trade payables         66,915          81,400  

 Trade payables to holding company -                  -                  

Trade payables              66,915               81,400  

 

The table below summarises the financial liabilities maturity of the Group on the basis of the contractual 

payments not discounted. 

 

(Euro,000)  
     

 Trade payables   Current   <30 days   30-60 days   > 61 days   Total  

 December 31, 2023      

Trade payables 49,462 9,656 5,452 2,345 66,915 

December 31, 2022      

Trade payables 65,243 11,006 4,105 1,045 81,400 

 

SUPPLIER PAYABLES  

These include payables in foreign currency and are therefore stated in the financial statements and in the 

above table net of the relative unrealised exchange differences, which correspond to exchange gains of Euro 

201 thousand. 

Note 21: Other current liabilities 

A breakdown follows: 

(Euro,000) Dec 31, 23 Dec 31, 22 

 Other payables 3,165  2,362  

 Customer advances 776  1,848  

 Current remuneration payables 2,134  2,295  

 Deferred remuneration payables 5,224  4,593  

 Payables to social security institutions 3,298  3,311  

 Result bonuses 1,225  2,591  

 Accrued expenses 1,922  1,861  

 Substitute tax payables  2,523  3,389  

 VAT payables 501  864  

Other current liabilities 20,768  23,113  
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OTHER PAYABLES  

These principally includes the employee portions (canteen contribution, trade union contributions etc,) for 

subsequent payment to various entities and institutes. 

CURRENT REMUNERATION PAYABLES  

Current remuneration payables principally include employee payables for December 2023 salaries, paid in 

January 2024. 

DEFERRED REMUNERATION PAYABLES  

Deferred remuneration refers to holidays and leave matured but not taken, including the relative 

contributions.  

RESULT BONUSES   

The account relates to the estimate of 2023 bonuses, to be paid in 2024. 

SUBSTITUTE TAX PAYABLES   

The account concerns payables for tax withholdings on salaries and wages and payables for withholdings 

overseas on royalties invoiced by the Parent Company to productive subsidiaries against the use of 

technical-productive and non-patented know-how, in addition to those of the SIT trademark, all held by 

the Parent Company.  

 

Note 22: Tax payables 

The amount of Euro 1,001 thousand mainly concerns the payable for direct income taxes of the foreign 

subsidiaries. 
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COMMENTS ON THE MAIN ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 
OF INCOME  

Note 23: Revenue from sales and services  

Revenue from sales and services breaks down as follows: 

(Euro,000) 2023 2022 

Revenues from product sales                          325,410      392,284  

 Revenues from services                                  851   1,021  

Revenues from sales and services                         326,261     393,305  

 

Group Revenues from product sales by segment and region are broken down as follows: 

(Euro,000) 2023 2022 

Heating & Ventilation 236,501 319,773 

Smart Gas Metering 60,298 48,856 

Water Metering 29,462 24,676 

Total revenues from sales and services                         326,261    393,305 

 

Group revenues by region were as follows: 

(Euro,000) 2023 2022 

Italy 97,346 99,452 

Foreign EU 151,359 169,396 

Foreign Non-EU 77,557 124,457 

Total revenues from sales and services 326,261 393,305 

 

Note 24: Raw materials, ancillaries, consumables and goods 

The breakdown of the account in 2023 and 2022 was as follows:  

(Euro,000) 2023 2022 

 Purchases of ancillary materials 3,122  10,241  
 Purchases of raw materials, semi-finished & packaging 140,505  184,151  
 Finished products purchases 16,690  30,813  
 Purchases of consumable materials 34  55  
 Purchases of goods 234  89  
 Maintenance and repair materials 2,206  2,737  
 Other purchases 2,459  3,520  
 Duties on purchases 1,961  1,968  

Raw materials, ancillaries, consumables and goods 167,211  233,573  

Changes in inventories of raw materials, ancillaries, consumables and goods 3,624  (14,885) 
Change in inventories of finished & semi-finished products and goods  4,954  (5,000) 
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Change in inventories 8,578  (19,886) 

Total cost of raw materials, ancillaries, consumables and goods 175,789  213,687  

 

Raw materials, ancillaries, consumables and goods, including changes in inventories, amounted to Euro 

175,789 thousand, accounting for 53.9% of revenues, decreasing on 2022 (54.3%) due to the contraction 

in turnover during the year. 

 

Note 25: Services 

The composition of the account is as follows: 

(Euro,000) 2023 2022 

Rent, hire and leases 499  512  
Outsourcing 7,744  10,103  
Transport 7,142  12,010  
Commissions 154  387  
Legal, administrative and other 7,061  7,112  
Insurance 1,048  1,055  
Management services 631  622  
Maintenance & repair expenses 4,619  4,710  
Utilities 7,423  5,139  
Personnel expense 2,015  2,409  
Cleaning and security 1,484  1,502  
Advertising, marketing, and sponsorship 663  734  
Directors, statutory & independent auditor fees  2,368  2,337  
Travel and accommodation 1,065  1,030  
Bank charges & commissions 833  608  
Other services 1,415  1,714  
Listing charges 306  315  

Royalties passive 55  -  

Service costs 46,525  52,301  

 

TRANSPORT 

The cost of transport, amounting to Euro 7,142 thousand in 2023, decreased of Euro 4,868 thousand  

compared to the same period of the previous year and this has a twofold effect: on the one hand, for the 

management of the supply chain, aimed at optimizing and containing the volume of goods and 

components in stock, thus also obtaining a reduction in the costs of transport purchases. On the other 

hand, due to the lower turnover compared to the previous year, with the consequent reduction in the 

transport on sale.   

OUTSOURCING  

The cost of external processing amounted to Euro 7,744 thousand, also a sharp decrease compared to the 

previous year, recording a drop of Euro 2,359 thousand or -23.3%. 
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UTILITIES 

The only significant increase in service costs is for utility costs as a result of increases in tariffs compared 

to the previous year. In fact, utilities recorded a cost for the year 2023 of Euro 7,423 thousand compared 

to Euro 5,139 thousand in the previous year. 

Note 27: Personnel expense 

Personnel expenses are shown below: 

(Euro,000)   

Personnel expense 2023 2022 

Wages and salaries 54,584  54,974  

Social security charges 13,505  13,458  

Temporary personnel 6,023  7,288  

Post-employment benefits 2,959  2,837  

Other costs 3,645  1,625  

Personnel expense  80,716  80,182  

 

The average number of personnel in 2022 and 2021 was as follows:  

Employees 2023 2022 

 Executives  42 40 

 White-collar 713 600 

 Blue-collar 1,386 1,801 

 Temporary 220 276 

 Total employees 2,361 2,717 

 

WAGES AND SALARIES 

In 2023, the cost of wages and salaries amounted to Euro 54,584 thousand, with a decrease of Euro 390 

thousand compared to the previous year. The change is mainly attributable to the combined effect of the 

following phenomena:  

¶ lower provision for MBO (Management by Objectives) in line with the achievement of the Group's 

strategic objectives; 

¶ capitalization of R&D (Research and Development) personnel costs for hours worked on 

development projects included in intangible assets in progress of Note 1; 

¶ tabular increase in minimum wages for the adjustment of employment contracts to inflation; 

¶ personnel costs for the redefinition of the organizational structure with the aim of retraining the 

base skills inside the company. 
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TEMPORARY PERSONNEL 

The change in the cost of temporary work was 1,265 thousand euros, down compared to the same period 

of the previous year in order to ensure greater flexibility in production activities.  

OTHER COSTS 

Other Costs for 2023 amounted to Euro 3,645 thousand, with an increase of Euro 2,020 thousand if 

compared to the previous year. The change is mainly due to the allocation of the costs of the Dutch 

company's reorganization to other risk provisions. For further details, please refer to Note no. 15. 

Note 27: Depreciation, amortisation and write-downs 

The breakdown is as follows: 

Depreciation, amortisation and write-downs 2023  2022  

Amortisation of intangible assets 9,084  8,659  

  
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 16,350  15,865  

 
Depreciation of operating leases - IFRS 16 3,218  3,129  

Total amortisation & depreciation 28,652  27,653  

   
Write-down of goodwill  17,000  

 

- 

Write-down of property, plant and equipment 1,244  

 

- 

Total write-downs of fixed assets 18,244 

 

- 

   

Write-down of current receivables 194  

 

118 

Total write-downs 194  

 

118 

Depreciation, amortisation and write-downs 47,090  

 

27,771  

  

For further details on depreciation, amortisation and write-downs, reference should be made to the notes 

1 and 2 on tangible and intangible assets. 

 

Note n. 28: Provisions 

The voice is composed as follows: 

(Euro,000) 2023 2022 

Provision for disputes 1,128  8,949  
Others 112  34  
Uses/releases provisions  (224) (261) 

Provisions for risks 1,015  8,722  

 

As of December 31, 2023, provisions amounted to Euro 1,015 thousand, net of uses and releases of Euro 

224 thousand. The main movements of the exercise refer to: 
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Á Euro 281 thousand of provisions for future charges which the subsidiary Metersit S.r.l. may incur 

for the dismantling of the batteries inserted in meters; 

Á Euro 167 thousand of accruals to the product warranty provision due to application of an updated 

percentage based on an assessment and analysis of returns for defects, entirely relating to the 

subsidiary Metersit S.r.l.; 

Á Euro 434 thousand of provisions for the costs of the reclamation of a plot of land owned by the 

Company, recorded in the Parent Company; 

The decrease includes Euro 86 of releases from provision for risks and charges due to lower obligations to 

clients for potential contractual compensation in the subsidiary Metersit S.r.l.. The decreases include Euro 

109 thousand attributable to Metersit S.r.l. in relation to expiration of the warranty replacement period. 

Note 29: Other charges (income)  

The account is broken down as follows: 

(Euro,000)     

Other charges (income) 2023 2022 

Misc. recoveries 335  467  
Prior year income 411  202  
Gains on fixed assets 133  305  
Grants 757  969  
Other revenues 8  50  
Other income 1,644 1,993 
Misc. taxes & non-deductible costs 507  415  
Losses on fixed assets 77  33  
Associations 285  267  
Prior year charges 113  137  
Impairment on receivables -  68  
IMU Property tax 209  193  
Misc. reimbursements 124  190  
Other charges 674  775  
Other charges 1,989  2,078  

Other charges (income) 345  85  

 

CONTRIBUTION 

The item refers to tax credits accrued during the year, mainly referring to tax credits for research and 

development and technological innovation activities (Budget Law 2020 no. 160/2019 and art.1, c.45, law 

no. 234/2021), tax credits for energy and gas (Budget Law December 29, 2022 no. 197 and Decree Law 

March, 30 2023, n.34) and tax credit for new capital goods 4.0 (Law 160/2019 and Law n.178/2020).   
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Note 30: Financial income 

At December 31, 2023, Financial income amount to Euro 942 thousand and are composed as follows: 

 

(Euro,000) 2023 2022 

Interest income on bank accounts 75 48 
Other interest income 26 31 

Profits on derivative financial instruments 842 436 

Adjustment to fair value of financial liabilities - 8,748 

Financial income 942 9,263 

PROFITS ON DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

As of December 31, 2023, the amount equal to Euro 842 thousand relates to the mark to market of the 

ŘŜǊƛǾŀǘƛǾŜ ŎƻƴǘǊŀŎǘǎ ƻƴ ŦƻǊŜƛƎƴ ŎǳǊǊŜƴŎƛŜǎΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ Řƻ ƴƻǘ ŎƻƳǇƭȅ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŦƻǊƳŀƭ ƘŜŘƎƛƴƎ ǇƻƭƛŎȅ. 

Note 31: Financial charges 

Financial charges consist of: 

(Euro,000) 2023 2022 

Financial charges on hedging contract differences -  335  

Interest charges to holding company -  -  

Interest and other bank charges 3,852  1,743  

Interest charges to third parties 688  385  

Interest on bond loans 1,137  956  

Other financial charges 1,532  -  

Fair value of derivative financial instruments 144  850  

Financial charges for operating leases - IFRS 16 474  491  

Financial charges 7,827  4,760  

INTEREST AND OTHER BANK CHARGES  

The amount of Euro 3,852 thousand concerns interest on outstanding loans and other financial payables.   

INTEREST ON BOND LOANS 

The amount of Euro 1,137 thousand entirely concerns the interest charges accruing in the period on the 

bond loan. CƻǊ ŦǳǊǘƘŜǊ ƛƴŦƻǊƳŀǘƛƻƴΣ ǊŜŦŜǊŜƴŎŜ ǎƘƻǳƭŘ ōŜ ƳŀŘŜ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ wŜǇƻǊǘ ŀƴŘ ǘƻ bƻǘŜ мп. 

OTHER FINANCIAL CHARGES 

At December 31, 2023, the item totalled Euro 1,532 thousand and concerns the differential recognised in 

the period for gas and energy tariff hedging contracts.  

FAIR VALUE OF DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

At December 31, 2023, the item amounted to Euro 144 thousand, Euro 111 thousand of which refers to 

the fair value of outstanding derivatives on currencies and Euro 33 thousand to energy derivatives 
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outstanding; in both cases, derivatives are not treated as hedging instruments. The same item at 

December 31, 2022 amounted to Euro 850 thousand, Euro 818 thousand of which referred to the fair 

value of outstanding derivatives on electricity and gas, which were not treated as hedging instruments.  

IFRS 16 FINANCIAL CHARGES 

These are financial charges due to the discounting of liabilities relating to rights of use of assets on 

operating lease, as defined in IFRS 16. For further information, reference should be made to Note 35. 

 

Note 32: Net exchange gains (losses) 

At December 31, 2023, net foreign exchange gains amounted to Euro 804 thousand and are composed as 

follows: 

(Euro,000) 2023 2022 

Realised exchange gains 5,866 7,201 

Realised exchange losses (5,633) (8,611) 

Unrealised exchange gains 1,502 1,461 

Unrealised exchange losses (931) (1,377) 

Net exchange gains and losses 804 (1,326) 

 

Unrealised exchange gains refer to the positive differences on the conversion of the receivables and 

payables in foreign currencies at the period-end exchange rates.  Unrealised exchange losses refer to the 

negative differences on the conversion of the receivables and payables in foreign currencies at the period-

end exchange rates. 

Net exchange gains and losses in 2023 amounted to a profit of Euro 804 thousand compared to a loss of 

Euro 1,326 thousand in the previous year due to the unfavourable trend in the exchange of invoicing to 

the Group's functional currency. 

Note 33: Income taxes 

The breakdown of Income taxes in 2023 and 2022 was as follows:  

(Euro,000) 2023 2022 Delta 

Current income taxes              2,309               5,044              (2,734) 

Deferred tax charges            (2,323)            (3,484)                1,161  

Deferred tax income             (8,019)                  796              (8,815) 

Income from tax consolidation               (129)               (452)                   323  

Taxes from previous year                     -                       23                    (23) 

Other                  250                   428                  (178) 

Income taxes            (7,912)              2,355            (10,266) 
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Compared to the comparative period, the tax item was affected by the negative taxable income achieved 

by some Group companies and this was mainly reflected in the significant change in deferred tax income. 

Deferred tax assets were recognised on the basis of the Directors' assessment that there is a possibility 

that the Group entities will be able to realise taxable income in future years sufficient for them to be 

recoverable. 

The IRES and IRAP rates applied by the Company on estimated assessable income in the year are 

respectively 24% and 3.9%, for current taxes and for the calculation of deferred taxes. 

 

Reconciliation of theoretical and actual tax rates    
Pre-tax profit 31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

   
Adjustments for items not subject to taxation   (31,300)   13,567   

Theoretical IRES in Italy 24.0%   7,512   (3,256)   

Tax effect non-deductible costs (4,589)   (2,877)   

 Tax effect on higher deductible costs  3,425   1,036   

 Tax effect on non-assessable income                                -    2,043   

 Adjustments for prior period taxes  194   258   

 Tax Receivables 5                      -    

 Other  649   75   

 Difference the tax rate on foreign entities  609   861   

 IRAP (77)   (594)   

 Prior year IRAP:                               -    (51)   

 IRAP deferred tax charge  100   100   

 IRAP deferred tax income  84   51   

 Tax at effective rate  7,912   (2,355)   

 Effective tax rate   25,28% 17.35% 

 

Note 34: Leasing contracts  

The tables below summarise the effects on the Group financial statements at December 31, 2023 

ŎƻƴŎŜǊƴƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ Ǿŀƭǳŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ άwƛƎƘǘ-of-ǳǎŜέ όάwh¦έύ ƻŦ ŀǎǎŜǘǎ ŦǊƻƳ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƴƎ ƭŜŀǎŜ ŎƻƴǘǊŀŎǘǎΣ ŀǎ 

required by IFRS 16 ς Leases. For the indication of the balance sheet accounts which include these assets, 

reference should be made to Note 2. 

Economic effects from assets consisting of the right-of-use (ROU) on the income statement for the period: 
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(Euro,000)   

 Economic effect from ROU assets   Dec 31, 23 

 Operating lease contract charges    3,492 

 Contracts classified as short-term leases   8 

 Contracts classified as low-value assets  17 

 Total costs for services   3,517 

  
 Land & buildings  (1,534) 

 Industrial & commercial equipment  (550) 

 Other tangible assets  (1,134) 

 Total depreciation  (3,218) 

 
   

 Income from sub-leasing contracts  - 

 Sales and leaseback transaction   - 

 Total other charges/(income)  - 

  
 Interest charges on financial liabilities   (474) 

 Total financial charges  (474) 

 

Effects on the balance sheet from right-of-use assets:  

(Euro,000)  31/12/2023 

 Net investments accounted as ROU as at 1.1.2023 14,534 

 Increases in the year 1,785 

 Asset write-downs (242) 

 Depreciation and amortisation of the year (3,218) 

 Exch. diff. (50) 

 Net investments accounted as ROU as at 31.12.2023  12,809 

  
 Payable for financial liabilities from ROU assets at 1.1.2023 14,905 

 Commitments in the year  1,785 

 Early settlements in the year  - 

 Cash outflows     (3,112) 

 Exch. diff.  (70) 

 Gross value of liabilities from ROU assets at 31.12.2023  13,509 

  
 Obligations for short-term lease contracts  - 

 Obligations for low-value asset contracts  24 

 Total obligations for lease contracts with recognition to costs of payments due 24 

 

Effects on future cash flows from right-of-use assets:  
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(Euro,000)  31/12/2023 

 Within the year  2,977 

 Between 1 and 5 years  7,585 

 Over 5 years  2,947 

 Total liabilities deriving from operating lease contracts  13,509 

 

Note 35: Earnings per share 

The basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit (loss) attributable to the ordinary 

shareholders of the Parent Company by the average weighted number of ordinary shares outstanding 

during the year. 

The diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit (loss) attributable to the ordinary 

shareholders of the Parent Company by the average weighted number of ordinary shares outstanding 

during the year and the potential shares deriving from the exercise of all convertible bonds.  

Information is shown below for the calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share: 

(Euro,000) 

Profit (loss) attributed to the ordinary shareholders of the 
Parent Company 

31-dic-23 31-dic-22 

Profit (loss) attributed to the ordinary shareholders of the 
Parent Company 

(23,388) 11,213 

Dilution effect deriving from potential ordinary shares - (8,748) 

Total profit/(loss) attributed to the ordinary shareholders of 
the Parent Company 

(23,388) 2,465 

    

 Earnings per share 31-dic-23 31-dic-22 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares, excluding treasury shares, 
to calculate basic earnings per share 

24,327,666  24,327,666  

Dilution effects for Warrants -  -  

Dilution effects for Performance Shares -  -  

Weighted average number of ordinary shares due to dilution effect  24,327,666 24,327,666 

 Basic earnings per share   (0.9614)  0.4609  

 Diluted earnings per share   (0.9614) 0.1013  

 

Note 36: Share-based payments 

At December 31, 2023, the company holds 800,409 treasury shares in order to service the long-term 

incentive plan for employees and/or collaborators of the company and/or subsidiary companies, in order 

to incentivise achievement of the medium-term plan, as further described in Note 12. 

At the date of this financial statements, a stock-option plan was in place which provides for payments to 

identified parties, based on the value of the share price and the expected prospective results.  The table 

below shows the economic effects deriving from these instruments:  
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Costs deriving from share-based payment transactions 2023 2022 

Costs from equity-settled share-based payment transactions 1,020  857  

Costs from cash-settled share-based payment transactions -  -  

Total costs deriving from share-based payment transactions 1,020  857  

 

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 

On April 29, 2021, the {ƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎΩ aŜŜǘƛƴƎ ŀǇǇǊƻǾŜŘ о ƴŜǿ ƛƴŎŜƴǘƛǾŜ ǇƭŀƴǎΣ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ŦƻƭƭƻǿƛƴƎ 

characteristics: 

Á 2021-2025 Performance Shares Plan: provides for the identification and nomination by the Board 

of Directors of executives and employees of the company and/or of the subsidiaries, with the 

objective of: 

o better aligning the interests of management and the creation of shareholder value with a 

view to medium to long-term sustainability; 

o strengthening the motivation of management to pursue objectives that are not only 

profitable/business-related but that also create value for shareholders; 

o ensuring a high level of attraction and retention of key personnel, offering remuneration 

packages in line with market practice.  

The Plan has a multi-year duration and is divided into 3 cycles ("rolling"), each of three years. 

Á 2021-2023 Restricted Shares Plan: provides for the identification and nomination by the Board of 

5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎ ƻŦ у ŜȄŜŎǳǘƛǾŜǎΣ ŦǊƻƳ ŀƳƻƴƎ ǘƘƻǎŜ ǿƘƻ Ǉƭŀȅ ŀ ƪŜȅ ǊƻƭŜ ƛƴ ŀŎƘƛŜǾƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ {L¢ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ 

objectives. Through the adoption of the plan, the Company seeks to ensure a high level of 

retention of key personnel, offering remuneration packages in line with market practice, taking 

into account in particular the combined incentive effect of the performance shares plan of which 

the Beneficiaries are also recipient. 

Á 2021-2024 Advisory Board Share Remuneration Plan: to incentivise the Advisory Board to 

undertake its consultative functions effectively through an incentive system linked to the 

achievement of performance objectives over an extended period.  The Plan in addition furthers 

the creation of shareholder value with a view to medium to long-term sustainability. 
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On July 26, 2021, the Board of Directors identified the beneficiaries of the first Performance Shares Plan, 

the Restricted Shares Plan and the 2021-2024 Advisory Board, respectively, The Boards of Directors of July 

8, 2022 and November 9, 2023 identified the beneficiaries of the second and third Performance Shares 

Plan, respectively.  

The following tables show the number and valuation of options during the year, for each plan: 

 

  2023 

 2021-2025 Performance Shares Plan 
No. options 

Weighted average 
price 1st Cycle 

Outstanding at January 1 153,047             7,26    

Assigned during the year -  -  

Cancelled during the year (21,105)   7,26    

Exercised during the year -  -  

Change in the year -       7,26    

Expired during the year -  -  

Outstanding at December 31 131,942 7,26 

Exercisable at December 31 -                                   -      

 

 

  2023 

2021-2026 Performance Shares Plan 
No. options 

Weighted average 
price 2nd Cycle 

Outstanding at January 1 156,215               4,41    

Assigned during the year  -   -  
Cancelled during the year (10,990)          4,41    

Exercised during the year  -   -  
Change in the year  -   -  

Expired during the year  -   -  

Outstanding at December 31 145,225              8,82    

Exercisable at December 31 -          -      

 

  2023 

2023-2027 Performance Shares Plan 
No. options 

Weighted average 
price 3rd Cycle 

Outstanding at January 1 -                           -    

Assigned during the year 169,594                           1,71    

Cancelled during the year       -                     -      

Exercised during the year  -   -  
Change in the year  -   -  

Expired during the year  -   -  
Outstanding at December 31 169,594       1,71    

Exercisable at December 31 -                                   -      
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  2023 

 2021-2023 Restricted Shares Plan No. options 
Weighted average 

price 

Outstanding at January 1 70,433 7,26 

Assigned during the year - - 

Cancelled during the year (2,997) 7,26 

Exercised during the year - - 

Change in the year - 7,26 

Expired during the year - - 

Outstanding at December 31 67,436 7,26 

Exercisable at December 31          -        -      

 

 

 2023 

 2021 - 2024 Advisory Board Plan No. options 
Weighted average 

price 

Outstanding at January 1 30,000 9,65 

Assigned during the year - - 

Cancelled during the year - - 

Exercised during the year - - 

Expired during the year - - 

Outstanding at December 31 30,000 9,65 

Exercisable at December 31                              -                                   -      

 

The fair value of the options assigned is measured at the assignment date utilising the Monte-Carlo 

simulation model, taking into account the terms and conditions on which the options were granted.  The 

model simulates the total return per share, taking into account historical dividends and expected 

dividends, the volatility of the price of the shares of the Group and of its competitors in order to forecast 

the yield of the shares.  

The following table lists the information with which the model used for the three current plans has been 

powered: 

 2021-2025 Performance Shares Plan 
Assumptions for the measurement of the plan fair value  
1st Cycle 

2021 

 Weighted fair value at the measurement date  7.26  

 Dividend yield (%)   3.91  

 Interest free risk rate (%)  (0.74) 

 Expected useful life of the options (in years)   2.6  

 

 2021-2023 Restricted Shares Plan  
Assumptions for the measurement of the plan fair value 

2021 

 Weighted fair value at the measurement date   7.26  

 Dividend yield (%)  3.91 

 Interest free risk rate (%)  (0.74) 

 Expected useful life of the options (in years)  2.6 
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2021 - 2024 Advisory Board Plan  
Assumptions for the measurement of the plan fair value 

2021 

 Weighted fair value at the measurement date  9.65  

 Dividend yield (%)  3.91  

 Expected volatility (%)   31%  

 Interest free risk rate (%)  (0.74) 

 Expected useful life of the options (in years)  2.6  

 Model adopted    Monte - Carlo  

Correlation with index 33% 

 

  2022-2025 Performance Shares Plan 
Assumptions for the measurement of the plan fair value  
2nd Cycle 

2022 

 Weighted fair value at the measurement date  4.41  

 Dividend yield (%)  5.00  

 Interest free risk rate (%)  (2.45) 

 Expected useful life of the options (in years)   2.6  

 

 

2023-2026 Performance Shares Plan 

2023 Assumptions for the measurement of the plan fair value  

3rd Cycle 

 Weighted fair value at the measurement date            1.71    
 Dividend yield (%)  0.00 

 Interest free risk rate (%)  (3.10) 

 Expected useful life of the options (in years)    2.42    

 

The expected volatility reflects the assumptions that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends 

which may not coincide with the actual outcome. 

The expected useful life of the options is based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of 

possible exercise profiles. 
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OTHER INFORMATION 

Disclosures by operating segment 

Income Statement 

2023 

(Euro,000) 
Heating & 

Ventilation 
Metering Eliminations Consolidated 

 Revenue from sales and services  240,156  89,927  (3,823) 326,261  
 Operating costs  272,020) (83,281) 3,823  (351,479) 
 EBIT  (31,864) 6,645  (0) (25,219) 

 

2022 

(Euro,000) Heating & 
Ventilation 

Metering Eliminations Consolidated 

 Revenue from sales and services  322,351  73,728     (2,774) 393,305  

 Operating costs  (311,998) (73,524)            2,774  (382,748) 

 EBIT  10,353            204                   0  10,557  

 

Balance Sheet 

2023 

(Euro,000) 
Heating & 

Ventilation 
Metering 

Eliminations Consolidated 

  Assets   323,010  114,040  (8,649) 428,401  
  Liabilities   222,443  71,070  (8,236) 285,277  
  {ƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎΩ 9ǉǳƛǘȅ   100,567  42,971  (413) 143,124  

 

2022 

(Euro,000) Heating & 
Ventilation 

Metering Eliminations Consolidated 

  Assets   400,254  101,258  (36,046) 465,466  

  Liabilities   272,490  63,418  (35,937) 299,971  

  {ƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎΩ 9ǉǳƛǘȅ   127,764  37,840  (108) 165,495  

 

Related party transactions 

SIT has prepared procedures for related party transactions in accordance with Article 4 of the CONSOB 

Regulation concerning related party transactions.  This Regulation was adopted by Consob with Resolution 

No. 17221 of March 12, 2010, as subsequently amended and updated and, most recently, with Consob 
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Resolution No. 21623 and 21624 of December 10, 2020. The Procedures for Transactions with Related 

tŀǊǘƛŜǎ ǿŀǎ ǇǳōƭƛǎƘŜŘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ǿŜōǎƛǘŜ ǿǿǿ.sitcorporate.it (Corporate Governance, 

Governance Documents section).  wŜŦŜǊŜƴŎŜ ǎƘƻǳƭŘ ōŜ ƳŀŘŜ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ wŜǇƻǊǘ ŦƻǊ ŦǳǊǘƘŜǊ 

information.  

Transactions with the parent company and other related parties 

In addition to the intra-group transactions, SIT's main transactions involved the parent company, 

Technologies SAPA di F.D.S. S.S. and other related parties, such as SIT Technologies S.p.A., its subsidiary 

SIT Immobiliare S.p.A. and Hybitat S.r.l., a company over which SIT S.p.A., exercises considerable influence 

due to its commitment to subscribe to participatory financial instruments up to a maximum of Euro 2,900 

thousand within the first 36 months of the establishment of the society itself. As of December 31, SIT had 

subscribed 1,500 SFPs for a total value of Euro 150 thousand. 

At the balance sheet date, the balances of transactions with the parent company and other related parties 

are shown in the following table: 

 

Dec 31, 23 Revenues Costs  
Financial 

income 
Financial 
charges 

Financial 
receivables 

Financial 
payables 

Other 
receivables 

Other 
payables 

Technologies SAPA di F.D.S. 
S.S. 

24 - - - - - 18 - 

Holding company 24 - - - - - 18 - 

SIT Immobiliare S.p.A. 18  - - - - - 17  - 

SIT Technologies S.p.A. 24  2 - 15 - - 1,033 - 

Hybitat S.r.l. 37    150  39  

Transactions with other 
related parties 

79  2    - 15    150    -    1,089  -    

 

The following table shows the transactions with related parties in the previous year and reflects the 

chain of control in place as of December 31, 2022: 

 

Dec 31, 22 Revenues Costs  
Financial 

income 
Financial 
charges 

Financial 
receivables 

Financial 
payables 

Other 
receivables 

Other 
payables 

Technologies SAPA di F.D.S. 
S.S. 

- - - - - - - - 

Holding company  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -  

SIT Immobiliare S.p.A. 17  - - - - - 17  - 

SIT Technologies S.p.A. 24  - 5,915  - - - 1,694 - 

Transactions with other 
related parties 

42  -    5,915  -    -    -    1,711  -    
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SIT's operating revenues from Technologies SAPA F.D.S. S.S. , SIT Immobiliare S.p.A., SIT Technologies 

S.p.A. and Hybitat S.r.l. refer to consultancy and assistance in the financial, administrative, tax and 

management control sectors provided by the Company under the service contract. 

It should be noted that SIT, SIT Immobiliare S.p.A., SIT Technologies S.p.A. and Metersit S.r.l. have adhered 

for the three-year period 2022 ς 2024 to the National Tax Consolidation procedure, an institution 

governed by Legislative Decree No. 344 of December 12, 2003 and in particular by Articles 117 to 129 of 

the T.U.I.R., with SIT Technologies S.p.A. as consolidator and the other companies as consolidated,  as per 

the resolution of the respective administrative bodies. During the 2020 financial year, the subsidiary SIT 

Metering s.r.l. adhered to the National Tax Consolidation procedure for the three-year period 2023 ς 2025 

and in the 2021 financial year the parent company Technologies SAPA of F.D.S. S.S. also adhered to the 

three-year period 2021 ς 2023, both as consolidated companies. 

Finally, we would like to point out that since the 2020 fiscal year, SIT Technologies S.p.A., as parent 

company, SIT S.p.A., SIT Immobiliare S.p.A. and Metersit S.r.l., as subsidiaries, have adhered to the Group 

VAT settlement procedure, provided for by art, 73 last paragraph of Presidential Decree 633/1972 as 

resolved by the respective administrative bodies in 2019. During the 2021 financial year, the subsidiary 

SIT Metering s.r.l. also adhered to the group VAT procedure, while the parent company Technologies SAPA 

of F.D.S. S.S. adhered to the 2023 financial year. 

As of December 31, 2023, the Company's credit balance with SIT Technologies S.p.A. amounted to Euro 

679 thousand. 

Information on remuneration of Directors, Statutory Auditors and Independent 
Auditors 

 

The remuneration of the administrative and control bodies and the independent auditors for the activities 

carried out by the Group during the year is as follows: 

 (Euro,000) 2023 2022 

Director fees 942 914 

Statutory auditor fees 166 166 

Total 1,109 1,080 

 

The Group paid the independent auditors and its network a fee of Euro 540 thousand, divided as follows: 
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(Euro,000) 2023 2022 

Fees received by Deloitte & Touche S.p.A. for audit services   385   305 
Fees received by other Deloitte network companies for audit services for the overseas 
investees 

 128     158    

Fees received by the Deloitte network for audit services  513 463 

 

(Euro,000) 2023 2022 

Fees received by Deloitte & Touche S.p.A. for verification services for the issue of a 
statement 

27 25 

Fees received by other Deloitte network companies for verification services for the 
issue of a statement - - 

Fees received by Deloitte network companies for verification services for the issue 
of a statement 

27 25 

 

Off-balance sheet transactions 

SIT S.p.A., has undertaken with its clients, suppliers, workers and sector associations and other 

commercial and financial partners a number of contractual agreements which establish various types of 

reciprocal commitments of differing durations, whose effects are recognised to the balance sheet to the 

extent of their compliance with the accounting standards applied, particularly with regards with the 

accruals principle, while future effects are obviously not recorded to the balance sheet where complying 

with that established by the accounting standards. 

The above-ǎǘŀǘŜŘ ŀƎǊŜŜƳŜƴǘǎ Ƴŀȅ ŜƴǘƛǊŜƭȅ ōŜ ŎƭŀǎǎƛŦƛŜŘ ŀǎ ǇŀǊǘ ƻŦ άƴƻǊƳŀƭ ƛƴŘǳǎǘǊƛŀƭΣ ŎƻƳƳŜǊŎƛŀƭ ŀƴŘ 

ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǘǊŀƴǎŀŎǘƛƻƴǎέΣ ŎƻƴǎƛŘŜǊƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ǎƛȊŜ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ƻǊƎŀƴƛǎŀǘƛƻƴŀƭ ŎƻƳǇƭŜȄƛǘȅ ƻŦ SIT S.p.A.. For example 

purposes and not to be considered exhaustive, we cite: long-term framework contracts with clients and 

suppliers, agreements with clients for the joint development of new products, consignment stock 

contracts both for purchases and sales, agency and distribution contracts and outsourcing agreements for 

assembly, storage, logistical management and other services.  

 

Financial risk management and financial instruments recognised at Fair Value  

The Group is exposed to the following types of financial risks:  

Á Market risk: (i) currency risk deriving from operations and transactions in currencies other than the 

functional currency of the companies and of the Group; (ii) interest rate risk deriving from fluctuations 

utilised by the Group in its production processes; 

Á Credit risk, concerning commercial transactions with its customers; 

Á Liquidity risk, related to the availability of financial resources and access to the credit market; 
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The SIT Group has implemented company foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk 

management policies approved by the Board of Directors. 

The scope of these policies is to govern, within a shared framework, the management approach, the 

objectives, the roles, the responsibilities and the operating limits of the financial risk management 

activities.  

In line with the policies set out, the Group has centralised in the parent company SIT S.p.A., the 

management of the financial risks of the subsidiaries, coordinating the Group processes, operating 

mechanisms and the relative organisational procedures. 

Financial instruments recognised at Fair Value 

IFRS 13 defines the following three hierarchical fair value levels to which reference should be made for 

the measurement of financial instruments recorded in the balance sheet:  

Á [ŜǾŜƭ мΥ ƭƛǎǘŜŘ ǇǊƛŎŜǎ ƻƴ ŀŎǘƛǾŜ ƳŀǊƪŜǘǎ ŦƻǊ ƛŘŜƴǘƛŎŀƭ ŀǎǎŜǘǎ ƻǊ ƭƛŀōƛƭƛǘƛŜǎΤ 

Á [ŜǾŜƭ нΥ ǘŜŎƘƴƛŎŀƭ Ǿŀƭǳŀǘƛƻƴǎ όōŀǎŜŘ ƻƴ ŘƛǊŜŎǘ ŀƴŘ ƛƴŘƛǊŜŎǘ ƻōǎŜǊǾŀōƭŜ ƳŀǊƪŜǘ Řŀǘŀύ 

Á [ŜǾŜƭ оΥ ǘŜŎƘƴƛŎŀƭ Ǿŀƭǳŀǘƛƻƴǎ όƴƻǘ ōŀǎŜŘ ƻƴ ƻōǎŜǊǾŀōƭŜ ƳŀǊƪŜǘ Řŀǘŀύ 

With regards to the financial instruments recognised to the financial statements at Fair Value at December 

31, 2023, the following table outlines the type of instrument, its value at the reporting date and the fair 

value hierarchy utilised: 

Transaction type Value at Valuation Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

  Dec 31, 23 criterion       

Interest Rate Swap 2,931   Fair Value   2,931   

Forex Forward  (20)  Fair Value   (20)  

Commodity Swap -     Fair Value   -     

 

During the 2023 financial year, there were no transfers between the three fair value levels indicated in 

IFRS 13. 

A similar table is shown for the financial instruments recorded at fair value as at December 31, 2022: 

(Euro,000)      

Transaction type Value at Valuation Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

  Dec 31, 22 criterion       

Interest Rate Swap                      5,556   Fair Value   5,556   

Forex Forward                          119   Fair Value   119   

Commodity Swap                        (818)  Fair Value   (818)  
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For further details on the risks identified, please refer to the Directors' Report. 

Market and competition law - Law No. 124 of August 4, 2017, paragraph 125 

In accordance with the disclosure obligation as per paragraph 125 of Article 1 of Law 124/2017, replaced 

by Article 35 of Leg. Decree 34/2019, the grants and subventions received by the parent company SIT 

S.p.A. and by the subsidiary Metersit S.r.l. from the public sector are presented below. 

Agency 
Grants received 

Title 
in accordance with  

Law 124/2017 Sec. 125 

Fondimpresa - Roma  41,643 Reimbursement of the fee to be paid by the 

fund of the plan Fondimpresa, with code 

352141 
Fondirigenti - Roma 6,000 

Reimbursement of the fee to be paid by the 

training plan marked by the FDIR code 

33027 

4.Manager - Roma 3,000 Contribution provided for by Article 9, 

paragraph of the CCNL for executives 

Agenzia delle Dogane Stato Italiano 8,512 Legislative Decree 504/95 art.21 paragraph 

13 Total 59,155   

 

Events subsequent to the end of the financial year 

With reference to events occurring after the end of the year, reference should be made to the section 

άSignificant events occurring after the end of the yearέ. 

**********  

Padua, April 24, 2024 
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Declaration on the Consolidated Financial Statements pursuant to Article 81-ter of Consob 

Regulation No. 11971 of May 14, 1999 and subsequent amendments and supplements 

 

¢ƘŜ ǳƴŘŜǊǎƛƎƴŜŘ CŜŘŜǊƛŎƻ ŘŜΩ {ǘŜŦŀƴƛΣ /ƘŀƛǊƳŀƴ ŀƴŘ /ƘƛŜŦ 9ȄŜŎǳǘƛǾŜ hŦŦƛŎŜǊΣ ŀƴŘ tŀǳƭ CƻƎƻƭƛƴΣ 9ȄŜŎǳǘƛǾŜ hŦŦƛŎŜǊ ŦƻǊ CƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ 

Reporting, of Sit S.p.A., declare, and also in consideration of Article 154-bis, paragraphs 3 and 4 of Legislative Decree No. 58 of 

February 24, 1998: 

Á The adequacy considering the company`s characteristics and 

Á The application of the administrative and accounting procedures for the compilation of the consolidated financial 

statements for the period January - December 2023. 

In addition, we declare that the consolidated financial statements: 

Á corresponds to the underlying accounting documents and records; 

Á were prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards adopted by the European Union through 

Regulation (EC) No. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and the Council of July 19, 2002 and also in accordance with 

Article 9 of Legislative Decree 38/2005 and provide a true and fair representation of the balance sheet, financial position 

and results of the company and of the consolidated companies; 

Á ǘƘŜ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ wŜǇƻǊǘ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜǎ ŀ ǊŜƭƛŀōƭŜ ŀƴŀƭȅǎƛǎ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ǇŜǊŦƻǊƳŀƴŎŜ ŀƴŘ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƴƎ ǊŜǎǳƭǘΣ ŀǎ ǿŜƭƭ ŀǎ ǘƘŜ ǎƛǘǳŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ 

the issuer and of the companies included in the consolidation, together with a description of the principal risks and 

uncertainties to which they are exposed. 

The English version of the consolidated financial statements of SIT Group constitute a non-official version with regard to the 

provisions of the Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815. 

 

 

Padua, April, 24 2024 

 

The Chief Executive Officer    The Executive Officer for Financial Reporting 

     CŜŘŜǊƛŎƻ ŘŜΩ {ǘŜŦŀƴƛ       Paul Fogolin 
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